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Pembroke, Ontario / Pembroke (Ontario)
--- Upon commencing on Monday, May 30, 2022
at 9:00 a.m. / L'audience débute le lundi
30 mai 2022 à 9 h 00

Opening Remarks

THE PRESIDENT:

Good morning and welcome

to the public hearing of the Canadian Nuclear Safety
Commission on the application by the Canadian Nuclear
Laboratories (CNL) to amend its Chalk River Laboratories
site licence to authorize the construction of a near
surface disposal facility.
Mon nom est Rumina Velshi.

Je suis la

présidente de la Commission canadienne de sûreté nucléaire.
I would like to begin by recognizing that
participants in this hearing are located in many different
parts of the country.
I would like to acknowledge that the
proposed NSDF Project, located on the Chalk River
Laboratories site in Deep River, is within the traditional
unceded territory of the Algonquin Anishinabeg peoples.
I will pause for a few seconds in silence
so that each of us can acknowledge the Treaty and/or
traditional territory for our respective locations.

Please
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take this time to provide your gratitude and acknowledgment
for the land.
--- Pause
LA PRÉSIDENTE : Je vous souhaite la
bienvenue, and welcome to all those joining us in person or
remotely.
The Commission welcomes the opportunity to
hold our public hearing and be present in the community for
the next five days to engage with the participants present
in this room or participating remotely on the important
application before us.
Thank you very much to all those who have
made our presence here possible.
Under my authority to do so in section 22
of the Nuclear Safety and Control Act, I have established a
three-member Panel of the Commission to conduct the hearing
to consider the licence amendment application.
I will preside over the hearing, and I
have with me on the Panel, to my immediate left, Dr. Marcel
Lacroix and Ms. Indra Maharaj; to my extreme right,
Ms. Lisa Thiele, Senior General Counsel to the Commission,
and Mr. Denis Saumure, Commission Registrar.
I will begin, as always, with a Safety
Moment and today's topic is Power Outage Safety.
Following the severe thunderstorm that hit
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Ontario and Quebec over the May long weekend, you may have
lost power or most likely know someone who did.

Though

most power outages are resolved quickly, they can sometimes
last for days or weeks.
To ensure that you and your family are
prepared for a potential power outage, ensure that you have
the following items available in your home:

bottled water;

non-perishable food items; flashlights; battery-powered
radio; extra batteries; a backup generator, particularly if
you live in the country; a working carbon monoxide detector
with battery backup.
During a power outage the following safety
measures should also be taken:
- Do not use barbeques or portable
generators indoors or in the garage as they can release
deadly carbon monoxide into your home;
- Do not open your freezer or fridge
unless it is absolutely necessary.

A full freezer can keep

food frozen for up to 36 hours if the door remains closed;
- Never leave a candle unattended;
- Check in on your family and neighbours
to determine if they need assistance.
Being prepared, cautious and neighbourly
can ensure that you and those close to you remain safe
during a power outage.
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With that, I will turn the floor to
Mr. Saumure for a few opening remarks.
Denis...?
MR. SAUMURE:

Thank you, President Velshi.

Bonjour, Mesdames et Messieurs.

Welcome

to the public hearing of the Commission.
During the hearing we have simultaneous
interpretation.

La version française est au poste 2, and

the English version is on channel 1.

Headsets are

available at the back of the room.
Please keep the pace of your speech
relatively slow so that the interpreters have a chance to
keep up.
L'audience est enregistrée et transcrite
textuellement.

Les transcriptions se font dans l'une ou

l'autre des langues officielles, compte tenu de la langue
utilisée par le participant à l'audience publique.

Les

transcriptions seront disponibles sur le site Web de la
Commission dans les prochaines semaines.
To make the transcripts as meaningful as
possible, we would ask everyone to identify themselves
before speaking.
I would also like to note that this
proceeding is being video webcast live and that the
proceeding is archived on our website after the closure of
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the hearing.
Ms. Velshi will preside over the
proceedings and will be coordinating the question period.
For the participants joining on Zoom, to avoid having two
people talking at the same time, please use the "Raise
Hand" function if you wish to provide an answer or add a
comment.
As a courtesy to others in the room,
please silence your cell phones and other electronic
devices.
Please note that there are three emergency
exits located to the left and one on the right.

Bathrooms

are located in the hallway near the back entrance of the
hall.
As mentioned by President Velshi, we
welcome the opportunity to hold this public hearing in
person.

Notwithstanding, the health and safety of all

participants and of our staff remains our priority.

In

accordance with the federal public health and safety
guidance we urge participants to practise physical
distancing where feasible and appropriate and wash your
hands frequently.

We have masks available at the back of

the hearing room for those who prefer to wear one.
Thank you for your cooperation.
This is Part 2 of the public hearing.
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Part 1 was held on February 22, 2022.
As part of this proceeding, the Commission
has received a number of requests to suspend or adjourn the
hearing.

Decisions of the Commission are available on the

CNSC Website.
In the decisions the Commission reiterated
that the public hearing forum is the most appropriate forum
for participants to present evidence and for the Commission
to consider and assess it in a fair and transparent manner.
The Commission welcomes the opportunity to hear from all
participants.
The public was invited to participate
either by oral presentation or written submission at the
Part 2 hearing.

April 11, 2022 was the deadline set for

filing by Intervenors.

The Commission received 165

requests for intervention.
The CNSC made funding available through
its Participant Funding Program in two phases, one in May
2016 and the second one in March 2019.

A Funding Review

Committee, independent of the CNSC, reviewed the funding
applications received and made recommendations on the
allocation of funds.

Based on the recommendations from the

FRC, the CNSC awarded funding to nine applicants for the
first phase and to 11 applicants for the second phase.
Additional participant funding was also awarded to
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Indigenous Nations and communities.
More information on the Participant
Funding Program can be found in the Notice of Public
Hearing issued on October 28, 2021, and on the CNSC
Website.
Representatives from other provincial and
federal governmental departments are joining us in person
or remotely and will be available for questions after the
presentations.
For this hearing, submissions were
grouped, to the extent possible, by topic in an effort to
proceed in the most effective and efficient manner.

The

focus of today's presentations is Environmental Assessment
and Environmental Protection.

We will first hear the

presentations by CNL and CNSC staff, followed by the
intervenors as listed on the agenda.
All the documents presented this week are
available electronically on the CNSC Website.
For this hearing, the Commission has
revised its procedural guidance, as indicated in the
Revised Notice of Public Hearing including Procedural
Guidance for Questions and Written Final Submissions.
Registered intervenors will have the opportunity to ask
questions in two ways:
- as part of the oral presentation; or
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- in writing by submitting your question
to the Registry staff at the back of the room or by sending
an email to the interventions@cnsc-ccsn.gc.ca account.
The President will determine whether, how
and the most appropriate time for questions to be
addressed.

Questions may be limited or excluded if they

fall outside the scope of the hearing, are repetitive or
have already been addressed to the Commission's
satisfaction.
Intervenors who have registered for oral
presentations have the opportunity to submit written final
submissions following Part 2 of the public hearing.

The

provision of written final submissions is optional.

New

information may not be presented in final submissions and
submissions are limited to a maximum of 5,000 words for
registered intervenors and 30,000 words for CNL.
For further information on the public
Commission hearing process for this proceeding, you can ask
our Tribunal Officers in the back of the room or refer to
the Notice that was published.
The break for lunch will be at noon and
the dinner break at approximately 5:30.

There will be

health breaks in the morning and in the afternoon.
The key Registry contact persons are
Ms. Julie Bouchard and Ms. Johanne Villeneuve, seated at
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the back of this room.
President Velshi...?
THE PRESIDENT:

Thank you.

As we begin Part 2 of the hearing to
consider CNL's application, I want to be clear about the
matter before the Commission and the scope of our mandate.
The Commission has before it an
environmental assessment under the Canadian Environmental
Assessment Act, 2012, and an application for a licence
amendment to construct a Near Surface Disposal Facility at
the Chalk River Laboratories site.
The application necessitates three
decisions or determination on the part of the Commission.
First one:

An EA determination under the

Canadian Environmental Assessment Act, 2012, whether the
NSDF Project is likely to cause significant adverse
environmental effects.
Number two:

A licensing decision under

the Nuclear Safety and Control Act, which stipulates that
the Commission's mandate is to regulate the use, possession
and storage of all nuclear substances in Canada to protect
the health and safety of Canadians, as well as our
environment.
And three:
consult.

A determination on the duty to
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It is important to remind the participants
to focus their interventions on elements that are within
the scope of the application and the mandate of the
Commission.
The Commission will assess the information
before it in order to make a decision on the environmental
assessment and a licensing decision on whether to authorize
activities for the proposed construction of the NSDF.
The Commission expects participants making
oral submissions to focus on the matter that is before the
Commission in this hearing.
With that, we will begin with our first
presentation, which will be from CNL, as outlined in
Commission Member Document (or CMD) 22-H7.1B, 7.1C and
7.1D.
I will turn the floor to Mr. Joe McBrearty
for this presentation.
Mr. McBrearty, over to you, please.

CMD 22-H7.1B/22-H7.1C/22-H7.1D
Oral presentation by the
Canadian Nuclear Laboratories

MR. McBREARTY:

Good morning, President

Velshi and Members of the Commission.
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For the record, my name is Joe McBrearty
and I am the President and Chief Executive Officer of
Canadian Nuclear Laboratories.
Before we proceed, I would like to
acknowledge that our operations in Chalk River occur on the
unceded and unsurrendered traditional territories of the
Algonquin people.

At CNL we recognize the unique history,

spiritual beliefs, cultural practices and languages of
Indigenous people in Canada and we appreciate the
responsibility that they have as stewards of the
environment.
I also want to reaffirm CNL's commitment
to being an active participant in Canada's journey towards
healing and reconciliation.

As we discussed at the

February hearing, our relationship with Indigenous nations
is much more important than any single project.

One of the

key lessons I have learned through this process is just how
important these relationships are for everyone involved and
what they mean for the protection of the environment that
we all care so much about.
Our entire team is much richer in wisdom
and experience as a result of these interactions and
despite what is an unfortunate history we have the
opportunity to form new and lasting bonds that have meaning
to all involved.
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CNL's projects could have stoked fear and
misunderstanding.

Yet, that is not what I have witnessed

during my time here in Canada.

Instead, I experienced the

sharing of knowledge, the tearing down of institutional
stereotypes and a sincere willingness to work together.
That has been accomplished through discussions, ceremonies
and learning.
Personally, I have learned from the
interactions that I have participated in and I want to
thank all the Indigenous communities who have taught us so
much in such a short period of time.
I would like to thank you for the
opportunity to be here today to discuss our proposal to
construct a Near Surface Disposal Facility at the Chalk
River Laboratories site.

Back in February at the first

part of this hearing we had the opportunity to present the
details of our proposal and answer questions directly from
the Commission.
This week we welcome the opportunity to
hear interventions directly from Indigenous communities and
members of the public on our proposal to amend the current
Chalk River Laboratories site licence, which would allow
CNL to proceed with construction of the NSDF.
Here with me today are:
- Mr. Phil Boyle, the Chief Nuclear
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Officer and Licence Holder at CNL;
- Ms. Sandra Faught, CNL's Manager of
Environmental Remediation Management Licensing Support;
- Ms. Meggan Vickerd, CNL's General
Manager of Waste Services; and
- Mr. Pat Quinn, CNL's Director of
Corporate Communications.
We are also supported by a team of CNL
representatives and subject matter experts who are
available to answer any questions that you may have.
Receiving input from stakeholders has been
a critically important aspect of the regulatory process for
the NSDF since we began public engagement on our proposal
in 2015.

Today's hearing is a culmination of this

regulatory process, providing the public and Indigenous
people with another opportunity to engage and to express
their views.

I think we should all be proud to participate

in a process that provides an open forum for public
discussion and evaluation.
The NSDF proposal has been shaped by the
feedback we have received from the community, including
significant changes to the scope of the project since its
inception.

Overall, I hope the Commissioners will

appreciate how much work has gone into the environmental
assessment and engagement over the past six years.
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With CNSC approval we have continued to
conduct this project under CEAA, 2012, which is authorized
under the Impact Assessment Act.

However, as we will

discuss during this hearing, CNL's public engagement went
well above and beyond CEAA, 2012, along with many other
areas.
I believe that CNL must clarify the
concerns that have been raised in some interventions that
may be factually inaccurate and provide context around our
many activities which we believe meet the requirements to
be granted a licence for this facility.
We understand that some members of the
public still have concerns with the proposed project, but I
will unequivocally state that I am fully confident in CNL's
ability under the oversight of AECL and the CNSC to safely
execute this critical project, protect the environment and
follow up on all of the commitments that have been made to
the public and Indigenous communities as part of this
process.
This week CNL's priority is to listen
carefully to the intervenors and to respond to any
questions that the Commissioners may have.

With that goal

in mind, our presentation will provide you a very high
level summary of the NSDF with more detailed focus on
topics of public concern that have been raised in the
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interventions.
Turning to the project, a recurring
concern that we have heard is the concept of permanent
disposal.

I think everyone at this hearing would benefit

from some clarity on this, because disposal does not mean
abandonment in this case.
The NSDF is being proposed to provide a
permanent, safe and secure containment of low-level
radioactive waste, most of which has and will continue to
be generated at the Chalk River Laboratories as a result of
many decades of scientific research for the benefit of
Canadians.

Today this waste is stored according to best

practices and regulations, but that storage is not a
permanent solution.
We strongly believe it is our
responsibility to deal with this legacy waste issue now,
rather than leaving it to our children or our grandchildren
to deal with.

We have the right technology and have

provided a strong case for the safe disposal of solid
low-level -- and I emphasize low-level -- radioactive
waste, conforming to Canadian and international standards
to protect our environment.
Beginning on the left photo of this slide
you can see a rendering of the NSDF, which was designed as
a purpose-built facility to accommodate the hazardous
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lifetime of the low-level waste inventory for over 500
years.
As shown in the second image, the NSDF
will feature an engineered containment mound built with
multiple layers to fully encase up to 1 million cubic
metres of solid waste, effectively isolating the material
from the environment.
CNL recognizes the long timescales
associated with radioactive waste and the NSDF design is
intentionally conservative to address any uncertainties
that might arise through these long timeframes.

Our

multi-barrier system will isolate the waste inventory for
as long as it is hazardous and the entire facility relies
on safeguards that protect against disruptive events.
Low-level waste represents the lowest risk
category from our radiological hazard perspective.

We have

developed a strict waste acceptance criteria to ensure that
all waste received for disposal is in compliance with the
licensing basis for the facility.

This means we are able

to tightly control, to track and to account for all the
waste emplaced in the NSDF.
Most importantly, CNL will have
institutional controls in place for at least 300 years or
as long as regulatory agencies deem necessary.

What this

means is that we will be monitoring this facility for as
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long as it takes, restricting access to the land and if any
unexpected issues should arise we will immediately address
them.

There is no intention to abandon or to walk away

from our responsibility for this material.
It is also important to recognize that
AECL, the federal Crown corporation, is responsible for the
assets and liabilities on federal nuclear sites.

While CNL

holds the site licence, AECL is the enduring federal entity
that will ensure proper controls remain in place for the
lifetime of the project.

So let me say this once again,

the site will not be abandoned after decommissioning.
This work will be guided by CNL's many
decades of experience in waste management and
decommissioning and supported by the science and technology
expertise at the Chalk River Laboratories.

Overall, the

radiological inventory proposed for the NSDF, combined with
the facility design, will ensure that doses to the public
and risk to the environment remain below regulatory limits.
At CNL we are committed to ongoing
dialogue with the public about our activities.

We believe

that transparency is necessary to build public confidence.
We take that responsibility very, very seriously and made
it a priority to participate in many engagement activities
with the public during each stage of the NSDF environmental
assessment process.
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Beginning in 2015, CNL initiated a variety
of communications to ensure that our stakeholders had
accurate, up-to-date information about our proposal to
construct and operate the NSDF.
Formal engagement on the project began in
2016.

Beginning with localized engagement, outreach would

expand geographically based on growing interest in the
project.
By 2020 this outreach included Ottawa and
the surrounding areas.
Due to the COVID-19 pandemic in 2020 we
were forced to adapt to public health restrictions by
providing online platforms for virtual meetings, workshops,
webinars, project updates and open houses.

Overall, these

virtual engagements have been very well attended.

In some

cases we even experienced an increase in participation
compared to in-person engagements in the previous years.
Through these initiatives, CNL has
identified and incorporated public feedback into our
project plans and reflected them in the Environmental
Impact Statement, including clarification on how the NSDF
is protective of the Ottawa River.
For example, the original NSDF waste
inventory included limited amounts of intermediate-level
waste.

However, we have committed to limit the inventory

19

to solid low-level radioactive waste only.

This decision

was made in direct response to comments received from the
public.
All of these efforts and details are
captured in the Supplemental Commission Member Document
which CNL has submitted to the Commission.
Overall, CNL remains committed to
maintaining open channels of communication and continuing
public engagement about the project as part of our ongoing
Public Information Program.
CNL also maintains a commitment to
developing strong relations with First Nations, Métis and
other Indigenous communities and organizations by providing
meaningful opportunities for dialogue and participation.
CNL initiated this outreach by asking
these Indigenous communities if and how they wanted to be
engaged.

With that guidance, CNL has worked hard to

maintain an ongoing dialogue that is oriented toward the
needs of each community.
We have also provided capacity funding to
help interested communities participate in our engagement
activities and initiatives.
Since that work began, I am very proud to
say that CNL and AECL have both signed Memorandums of
Understanding with the Métis Nation of Ontario, the
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Algonquins of Ontario and the Algonquins of Pikwakanagan
First Nation, and have also signed a Letter of Intent with
the Kebaowek First Nation that established a commitment to
work together.

These agreements will guide dialogue on

matters of mutual interest and work towards establishing
longer-term relationship agreements.
In addition, CNL has committed to
providing funding through contribution agreements to
support participation in the NSDF environmental assessment
process.
CNL continues to work with Indigenous
communities to make progress on the commitments identified
during the environmental assessment process, as we do and
with the stress that these growing relationships are not
only important to the project we are discussing today but
also to the future of the Chalk River Laboratories campus
and to CNL in general.
Similar to our public engagement program,
these activities are also captured in a supplemental CMD
that was submitted to the CNSC, known as the Indigenous
Engagement Report.
Overall, we are committed to ongoing
engagement with Indigenous peoples in a manner that is
agreeable to the specific community, not just through the
hearing process but through the entire lifecycle of the
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project.
People are understandably interested in
and in some cases concerned about the NSDF.
that.

We understand

This is a major environmental remediation project

that addresses historic low-level waste situated near local
communities.
During our ongoing engagement about the
NSDF Project , a number of key areas of concern were
identified by Indigenous communities and members of the
public.

This slide lists the topics of concern that were

raised most often and were included in the written
interventions that have been submitted to the CNSC.
To understand and to address these
concerns, CNL has engaged with Indigenous communities and
members of the public through a variety of ongoing
activities and initiatives.

Throughout that process we

have listened to the input, questions and concerns about
the NSDF proposal from these stakeholders and have worked
hard to ensure that the public has clarity on these issues
every step of the way.
I also want to make sure that everyone is
aware that CNL has submitted supplemental information to
the Commission concerning these issues, which provides more
detailed information on how CNL has addressed these
concerns as part of the public engagement process.
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Additionally, during the proceedings this
week, CNL staff will deliver a number of brief
presentations which specifically discuss these topics of
concern.
Finally, I want to conclude my remarks by
discussing some positive support that we have received for
the NSDF through our own initiatives but also through
actions taken within local communities.
This year, CNL commissioned an independent
public survey of local residents within the Renfrew and
Pontiac counties to gauge public attitude towards CNL and
our program of work.

The survey was also conducted in

2018, which allowed CNL to measure the effectiveness of our
Public Information Program.
Among the key findings, a clear majority
of respondents stated that they are confident that CNL can
safely construct and operate the NSDF and that the staff at
the Chalk River Laboratories have followed the necessary
regulatory review processes in developing the proposal.
These results demonstrate broad awareness and confidence in
CNL and the safety of NSDF Project.
Public support was further demonstrated
recently when the Mayor of Deep River Sue D'Eon initiated a
parliamentary petition in support of the NSDF Project and I
am pleased to say that that petition has already garnered
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almost 1,000 signatures.
On behalf of the entire NSDF team and the
rest of CNL, I want to thank those people who have shown
trust in us.

We really do appreciate it because this

project is very personal for our staff as well.

We live in

one of the most beautiful areas of this country and we do
not take that for granted.

We also share the public's

concerns about the Ottawa River.

We live and work beside

the river, we drink the water and we swim in it.

That is

why we are working so hard to address this waste issue now
in a safe and a responsible way, instead of leaving it for
future generations.
So the bottom line:

This facility will

provide passive, safe isolation of low-level waste and will
reduce risk to our workforce, the public and Indigenous
communities and the environment.

We believe this is the

right solution at the right time.
I would like to thank you for the
opportunity to speak to the Commission today, President
Velshi and Commissioners.
I will now turn the presentation over to
my colleague Ms. Sandra Faught, the CNL Manager of
Licensing Support.

Thank you.

Actually, I think we are going to turn it
over to the CNSC, so I apologize for that.
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THE PRESIDENT:

Okay.

Well, thank you for

that.
And let's turn it over to the CNSC staff
for their presentation, as outlined in CMDs 22-H7.B and
7.C.
Ms. Murthy, you may proceed.

CMD 22-H7.B/22-H7.C
Oral presentation by CNSC staff

MS. MURTHY:

Thank you.

Good morning, President Velshi and Members
of the Commission.

My name is Kavita Murthy and I am the

Director General of the Directorate of Nuclear Cycle and
Facilities Regulation.
CNSC staff's presentation today will
provide supplemental information to that which was
presented at the Part 1 hearing for Canadian Nuclear
Laboratories' (or CNL) application to amend its operating
licence for the Chalk River Laboratories site to allow for
the construction of the Near Surface Disposal Facility (or
the NSDF).
With me today are a number of CNSC
specialists and others to answer any questions that the
Commission may have.
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The proposed NSDF is a Class 1B nuclear
facility to dispose of low-level radioactive waste at the
CRL site.

CNSC staff determined that the construction of

the proposed NSDF cannot take place until it is authorized
by the Commission.
CNSC staff also determined that an
environmental assessment for the NSDF Project
required.

was

This environmental assessment was carried out by

CNSC staff in accordance with Canadian Environmental
Assessment Act CEAA, 2012, as this was the applicable Act
at the time of the receipt of the initial NSDF submission
in 2016.
A detailed description of the NSDF and
CNSC staff's regulatory review, including the EA Report,
can be found in CNSC staff's CMD 22-H7.
This presentation outlines CNSC staff's
responses to key themes of comments received on CNL's
licensing application for the proposed NSDF.

The

information outlined in this presentation is provided in
greater detail in CNSC staff's Supplemental CMD 22-H7.B.
This slide shows where we are in the
regulatory review process for the proposed NSDF Project.
CNSC staff's recommendations on the
project were presented to the Commission during Part 1 of
the public hearing held on February 22, 2022.
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Today's proceedings are Part 2 of the NSDF
public hearing, outlined in bold on this slide, in which
intervenors have an opportunity to make their views and
concerns about the proposed NSDF heard by the Commission.
Indigenous consultation and engagement
activities with Indigenous nations and communities have
been carried out throughout the regulatory review process.
With respect to this application, the
Commission will need to make a decision under CEAA, 2012.
If a positive EA decision is made by the Commission, a
subsequent licensing decision under the Nuclear Safety and
Control Act, and with respect to the CNSC's duty to consult
obligations, a determination on whether the honour of the
Crown has been upheld as per section 35 of the Constitution
Act, 1982.
One hundred and sixty-five interventions
for this hearing were received from Indigenous nations and
communities, civil society organizations, the public and
nuclear industry.

CNSC staff have carefully considered

each intervention and identified key topics from the
interventions.

We have organized the topics under the

themes which are aligned with the agenda for this hearing
as set by the CNSC Registrar.
CNSC staff's Supplemental CMD, 22-H7.B,
addresses each of the themes which are shown on this slide.
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We were directed by the Commission during
Part 1 of the hearing to address concerns raised by
intervenors related to inconsistency with international
standards.

CNSC staff's Supplemental CMD provides a table

that addresses this request and demonstrates that the
proposed NSDF Project meets the guidelines and applicable
international standards.
Today's theme is Environmental Assessment
and Environmental Protection.
I will pass the presentation to Dr. Nana
Kwamena, Director of the Environmental Assessment Division.
DR. KWAMENA:
Dr. Nana Kwamena.

For the record, my name is

I am the Director of the Environmental

Assessment Division.
Environmental reviews are central to
CNSC's mandate for protecting people and the environment.
As previously indicated, the proposed NSDF Project is
undergoing an environmental assessment under the Canadian
Environmental Assessment Act, 2012.
An environmental assessment is a planning
tool which considers the potential environmental effects
over the lifecycle of a proposed project.

CNSC staff

conducted a comprehensive and rigorous technical assessment
of the potential environmental effects of the proposed NSDF
Project.
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CNL's Environmental Impact Statement was
assessed against relevant legislation, CNSC's generic
guidelines and applicable regulatory documents.
To support CNSC staff's assessment, staff
sought expert advice from other federal and provincial
departments and agencies.

They are also available to

respond to questions from the Commission during these
proceedings.
After reviewing the interventions, CNSC
staff identified the three key topics outlined on this
slide within the theme of Environmental Assessment and
Environmental Protection.

We will speak to each of these

topics in the following slides.
Many intervenors raised issues regarding
the incomplete assessment of alternative means to carrying
out the proposed project.

In addition, concerns were

raised about the assessment of alternative sites and
locations for the NSDF Project.
CNSC staff assessed CNL's alternative
means assessment against the requirement of the Canadian
Environmental Assessment Act, 2012, as well as other
guidance and determined that CNL adequately assessed
alternative means of carrying out the project.
The location of a proposed nuclear project
is determined by the applicant.

CNSC staff assessed CNL's
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proposed location of the NSDF against applicable standards
and CNSC staff are satisfied that the site selection
process for the NSDF Project used structured criteria and
methodology and that the selected site is acceptable.
As part of CNSC staff's assessment of
surface water, CNSC staff evaluated the potential impacts
to Perch Lake.

Several mitigation measures and

environmental design features have been identified during
the environmental assessment in order to reduce the effects
of the NSDF Project on fish habitat during all phases of
the project.
Further, as summarized in section 6.2.2
and section 7.1.1 of the NSDF EA Report, CNSC staff
assessed potential changes to surface water discharge and
fish habitat from the installation of a pipeline in Perch
Lake during NSDF construction activities.
Mitigation measures to reduce impacts to
Perch Lake during construction include turbidity curtains
to limit the extent of any suspended sediments, avoidance
of sensitive periods for fish species and surface water
monitoring.
In addition, during operations, sampling
of treated effluent would be required to confirm it meets
effluent discharge targets before it could be released to
the environment.
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Throughout the regulatory review of the
NSDF Project, concerns have been raised regarding potential
impacts to the Ottawa River.

CNSC staff reviewed CNL's

assessment and found that although the proposed NSDF is
located approximately 1.1 kilometre from the Ottawa River,
the project site is an acceptable and safe location for the
proposed NSDF.
The proposed engineering containment mound
is located on a bedrock ridge sloping away from the Ottawa
River and therefore in the unlikely case that any
contaminated leakage escapes from the mound, the leakage
would be at a very low rate and follow a long pathway
through the Perch Lake swamp to the south, then through
Perch Creek, before finally reaching the Ottawa River.
CNSC staff have verified and are satisfied
that at the exit to the Ottawa River contaminants would be
attenuated to negligible levels and would not have a
detectable impact on water quality of the Ottawa River.
CNSC staff reaffirm our conclusions
related to environmental assessment and environmental
protection, that the proposed NSDF Project incorporates
measures to protect people and the environment, and that
taking into account CNL's proposed mitigation and follow-up
measures as well as licensing regulatory actions, the NSDF
Project is not likely to cause significant adverse
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environmental effects to human health or the environment.
This concludes CNSC staff's presentation
on this theme and we are available to answer any questions
the Commission may have.
MR. SAUMURE:

Before we start with the

public interventions, I would like to remind intervenors
appearing before the Commission that we have allocated 10
minutes for each oral presentation and I would appreciate
your assistance in helping us to maintain that schedule.
Your more detailed written submission has already been read
by the Members and will be duly considered.

There will be

time for questions from the Commission after each
presentation and there is no time limit for the question
period.
To help you in managing your time, a timer
system is being used today.

The light will turn yellow

when there is one minute left and turn red at the 10-minute
mark.
Ms. Velshi...?
THE PRESIDENT:

Thank you.

And thank you,

CNSC staff for your presentation.
The first presentation is by Atomic Energy
of Canada Limited, as outlined in CMD 22-H7.99 and
22-H7.99A.

Mr. Dermarkar is here to make the presentation.
Mr. Dermarkar, over to you, please.
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CMD 22-H7.99/22-H7.99A
Oral presentation by
Atomic Energy of Canada Limited

M. DERMARKAR : Merci, Madame la Présidente
Velshi et Membres de la Commission.
Je suis accompagné ce matin par Alastair
MacDonald, vice président, Déclassement et Gestion des
Déchets, et par Jason Cameron, vice président,
Communications et Affaires publiques.
J'aimerais également remercier le peuple
Algonquin Anishinaabe de nous accueillir sur son territoire
non cédé et traditionnel pour tenir ces importantes
audiences publiques.
We are here to support the proposal from
Canadian Nuclear Labs to amend its licence to build the
Near Surface Disposal Facility (or NSDF) provided it meets
your expectations and the requirements of the Nuclear
Safety and Control Act.
I am looking forward to this week of
hearings.

I and my team from AECL will be here throughout

the week to listen to perspectives from local Indigenous
communities and from other communities and stakeholders,
and of course to answer your questions.
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Let me set the proposed NSDF in its
strategic context.
I invite you to turn your mind back 10
years to a government decision to prepare AECL for the 21st
century and beyond.

At that time we were very proud about

the success of our CANDU reactors in helping Ontario to
transition away from coal as a source of electricity, a
world first accomplishment and which continues to remain an
important step toward climate change mitigation.
As well, we were very proud of how the
medical isotopes produced from AECL's own reactor at the
Chalk River site improved the health not only of Canadians
but also 1 billion people around the planet.
Despite these accomplishments, AECL was
also facing major challenges that included an aging
infrastructure, high overhead costs, and a large liability
in historic and legacy waste.

The government's intent back

then was to restore AECL to the forefront of global nuclear
science and technology.
Our mission today is threefold:

to drive

nuclear innovation through world-class R&D; to create a
state-of-the-art nuclear campus; and to clean up AECL's own
legacy nuclear waste as well as historic nuclear waste
transferred to AECL by the Government of Canada.
The Government of Canada supports this
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through annual appropriations reaching approximately $1
billion and through significant capital investments in
nuclear science and technology, as well as decommissioning
and waste disposal.
The government wants us to dispose of our
waste safely and responsibly, with minimal impact to the
environment and without burdening future generations.

The

project before you today is an important step towards
achieving this objective.
We deliver our mandate through the GoCo
model.

AECL as a Crown Corporation owns the labs and

waste.

Through our contract with Canadian Nuclear Labs, we

leverage private sector efficiencies and expertise to
accelerate our waste disposal, revitalize the site and
drive nuclear innovation.
Acceleration is the key.

AECL sets

targets for CNL to reduce hazards and liabilities
significantly in our generation and not leave it to future
generations to manage.

This objective to accelerate aligns

well with the current government policy on radioactive
waste, as well as the draft revision to the policy which is
currently under development.
CNL's role is to develop strategies,
proposed projects and implement them with AECL's approval
and under AECL's oversight.

That is AECL's modern role, to
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manage the Crown's assets, liabilities and interests in the
name of all Canadians.
Of course, all these activities are
subject to Canada's laws and the CNSC's scrutiny, and so
AECL as owner and the CNSC as regulator play complementary
roles in approving and overseeing CNL's activities.
This brings me to the NSDF.
is CNL, the facility owner is AECL.

The proponent

Our liabilities are

backed by the financial guarantee of the Government of
Canada.

Let me repeat that.

The Government of Canada has

guaranteed in writing that it will own and fund these
liabilities for as long as they and the government continue
to exist.
Over the past couple of decades, Canada
has been coming to terms with the truth of its past and
committing to reconciliation With Indigenous communities.
AECL and CNL understand that they have an important role to
play in advancing reconciliation by building long-lasting
and meaningful relationships founded on trust.
Mr. McBrearty and I have made this a
personal commitment.

For us, commitment is a beginning

that sparks hope, but delivering on our commitment is what
builds trust.
We recognize that each Indigenous
community is distinct and has its own priorities and our
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job is to adapt ourselves to their needs.

We have met with

senior leaders from First Nations and Métis communities, we
have participated in ceremonies and we have begun to learn.
Using this learning, Mr. McBrearty and I
have been discussing with our teams how to work with
Indigenous communities to build a better future together, a
future rooted in understanding, in truth and in healing, a
future that integrates indigenous knowledge, perspectives
and practices into all our work.
We are prioritizing capacity building
initiatives that support community healing, engagement and
participation.

We are co-developing plans and finding

opportunities for meaningful collaboration and partnership.
In some cases we have achieved memoranda of understanding.
In other cases we are pursuing long-term relationship
agreements.
One important concept that surfaces in
many of our discussions concerns Free, Prior and Informed
Consent, or FPIC.
I would like to take a moment to reflect
upon how AECL is approaching FPIC.
We see FPIC

as the foundation for -- I’m

sorry, the Government of Canada endorsed the United Nations
Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous Peoples, or UNDRIP,
without qualification.

As an agent of the Government of
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Canada, AECL will advance Canada’s UNDRIP objectives.
see FPIC as the foundation for this work.

We

We will dialogue

meaningfully with indigenous nations, governments and
people.
At the same time, we believe that the
concept of FPIC neither confers a veto nor requires
unanimity.

This interpretation aligns with the view of the

Government of Canada.
Just as we must reconcile with the First
Peoples to occupy these lands, we must reconcile with the
land itself.

On that journey, the proposed project is a

significant stride forward.
Consider what the NSDF will accomplish.
It will give us a permanent solution to AECL’s Low-level
waste.

When it is closed and capped later in this century,

it will have reduced our risks and liabilities, thereby
delivering real value to Canadians.

Most importantly it

will render the land, the water and the air at the Chalk
River site safe for all generations to come.
With CNL we have had considerable
engagement with stakeholders.

We have exchanged ideas,

learned from what we heard and supported CNL in its work to
bring forward the best proposal possible.

We are confident

that the proposed project is the right way to solve our
problem.

Moving Low-level waste from its current locations
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into an engineered containment mound will reduce risk,
improve safety and better protect the environment.
Let’s look specifically at the Ottawa
River, one of the most important waterways in Canada.
flows through the Algonquin heartland.

It

It runs right

beside our campus where today our Low-level waste lies in
trenches and shallow pits.

The NSDF will protect that

river.
The NSDF is a proven solution.

We see

this at Port Grandby and Port Hope where facilities much
like the NSDF are already in place to manage Low-level
waste.

The design and operation of the NSDF is consistent

with international practice and IAEA standards.

Experience

has shown that large waste volumes such as ours are best
handled locally.

It’s a better option than putting

thousands of trucks on the road to remote destination.
Again turning to Port Hope and Port
Grandby as examples, we have built facilities to manage the
large volume of waste within the local communities where we
are remediating the land.

It is worthwhile noting that

these two facilities are only 20 kilometres or so apart.
In the big picture, the NSDF will help
reduce our burden of waste and enable us to move forward.
It will position us to drive nuclear innovation, seize
opportunities and deliver real value and benefits to
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Canadians.
President Velshi and Members of the
Commission, AECL supports CNL’s proposal to move forward
with the NSDF provided it meets your expectations and
requirements, which is the subject of our discussions this
week.
We are available for any questions you
might have.
Thank you.

Merci.

THE PRESIDENT:

Meegwetch.

Thank you, Mr. Dermarkar.

I will open the floor for questions from
Panel Members, and we will start with Dr. Lacroix, please.
MEMBER LACROIX:
Dermarkar, for this presentation.

Thank you very much, Mr.
I appreciate it.

I guess as we say, the devil is in the
details, and I won’t ask you any questions pertaining to
the details because we will spend the rest of the week on
this matter.
From reading all the submissions, the
grand question remains the following.

You have already

answered this question through your submissions, but I want
to hear it from you and also from Mr. McBrearty.
With respect to the actual present state
of the environment, will the construction of the NSDF on
the Chalk River site make the environment outside the fence
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safer and cleaner for the public and for the First Nations?
MR. DERMARKAR:

Thank you for that

question.
For the record, my name is Fred Dermarkar,
AECL.
There is no question that the NSDF, being
a fully engineered containment that meets all the
requirements of a containment, that takes into
consideration environmental factors like seismic events,
like heavy rainfall, like flooding, and so on, there is no
question that that containment will be much more effective
at protecting the environment than the current
arrangements, some of which date back to the 1950s and are
far, far less –- were built to far, far less stringent
standards than the NSDF is being built to.
What I would like to do is invite Alastair
MacDonald to share his views on this.
MEMBER LACROIX:
the people.

My grand question is for

People are concerned about the quality of the

water of the Ottawa River, for instance.

So, will the NSDF

clearly improve the quality of the water in the Ottawa
River compared to the actual situation right now?
MR. DERMARKAR:
to Alastair MacDonald.
of that.

Thank you.

I would like to turn this

He has more details on the details
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MR. MacDONALD:

Thank you.

For the

record, Alastair MacDonald, Vice-President of
Decommissioning and Waste Management at AECL.
I’m not going to add much more to Mr.
Dermarkar’s remarks.

I think you asked a straightforward

question, and I think Mr. Dermarkar has answered it fairly
straightforwardly yes, it will increase the protection;
yes, it will reduce risk.
I think the deliberations through the week
and some of the details you will hear, the interventions
and some of the responses to that will help with that
question you have asked, sir.
MEMBER LACROIX:

So, it is a step in the

right direction, not necessarily the best technology but at
least it is a step in the right direction.
MR. MacDONALD:

Right?

It is definitely a step in

the right direction, and I would probably argue it’s the
best technology that we have.
MEMBER LACROIX:
much.

Okay, thank you very

This is what I wanted to hear first.
THE PRESIDENT:

Thank you.

Ms. Maharaj?
Sorry, Mr. McBrearty.
MR. McBREARTY:
record.

Mr. McBrearty, for the
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Commissioner Lacroix, you wanted to hear
from CNL as well.
I agree wholeheartedly with Mr. Dermarkar
and Mr. MacDonald’s comments.

This facility will reduce

risk, as I said in my opening statement.

It reduces risk

to the public and to the environment.
Today, as we have discussed, much of the
waste is in old buildings.

It’s in 60 and 70-year old

buildings which are still standing.

It is in fields which

have not been remediated and are not isolated from the
environment.
I think if we just step back and look at
the weather event that occurred in Ottawa and Toronto
probably a week or so ago, it’s clear that when I look at
the buildings that contain much of the contaminated
material today, those buildings would never have withstood
that storm, or probably would not have withstood that
storm.
The NSDF provides a safe, passive
isolation for this waste.
Right now we have very little impact on
the environment, if at all.

And I think that has to be

clear; that Chalk River is not really impacting the
environment.

But what this does is it reduces the risk,

and I would say it reduces the risk significantly in the
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future for this waste.

Thank you.

THE PRESIDENT:

Thank you.

Ms. Maharaj?
MEMBER MAHARAJ:

Thank you, Madam Velshi.

I’m just going to follow that track a
little bit further.
The capacity for this facility seems to be
designed to manage the waste that is fundamentally on site
today, but what consideration has been given either through
the government mandate to deal with legacy waste or by CNL
itself to address the fact that this waste will continue,
this Low-level waste will continue to be generated,
particularly as it pertains to PPE and those other kinds of
medical isotope impacted materials?
MR. McBREARTY:
Maharaj, for that question.

Thank you, Commissioner

Mr. McBrearty, for the record.

Before I turn the topic over to Ms. Meggan
Vickerd, I think it’s important to note that we have
already looked at the volume of waste and have predicted
not only the waste that we have presently, but looking at
generation into the future we have a very good idea of what
that volume will be.
I will turn it over to Ms. Vickerd, who
will give you a few more details on that.
Ms. Vickerd?
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MS. VICKERD:

Meggan Vickerd, for the

record, General Manager for Waste Services at CNL.
The clarification that Mr. McBrearty had
mentioned is that the waste isn’t just -- the NSDF
forecasted volume is not just for the current waste or the
waste that will be generated from facilities’
decommissioning and the environmental remediation clean-up,
but it includes the waste forecasted for our ongoing
operations.
The way that we do that is through our
Integrated Waste Strategy, which is an existing document on
our website, available for the public and for the
Commission.

We utilize our Integrated Waste Strategy to

forecast waste that will be generated at all of AECL-owned
sites and ensure that we have the infrastructure in place
to manage it when it is generated.
MEMBER MAHARAJ:

Ms. Vickerd, over what

period of time is that forecast?
MS. VICKERD:

Meggan Vickerd, for the

record.
For at least the next 70 years.
MEMBER MAHARAJ:
MS. VICKERD:
THE PRESIDENT:

Seven-zero?

Seven-zero, yes.
So, maybe I will follow up

on that same thread of questioning around perhaps the
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urgency.
Mr. Dermarkar, you said you have
accelerated the decommissioning and the establishment of
this waste disposal facility.

Mr. McBreardy, you have said

yes, while not causing any environmental impact today,
there is high risk continuing the way that you have right
now.
You have seen from many of the
interventions concerns expressed about there are a lot of
moving parts at the moment, and why make a decision, or at
least telling the Commission why make a decision now and
not wait until some of those other pieces are in place?
And the one I particularly want to get
your perspective on is the NRCan policy development work
around waste management.
If the policy were to come up with
something that could impact the NSDF and what happens with
Low-level waste management, what are your thoughts on
waiting until that is finalized before making an
application or even for the Commission to consider the
application?
Mr. Dermarkar?
MR. DERMARKAR:

For the record, Fred

Dermarkar, AECL.
I think I heard two different questions
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there.

One is regarding the urgency and the second

regarding the potential impact of the radioactive waste
policy.
Let me answer the urgency question first.
From an urgency perspective, as I noted in
my remarks, it is very important for us to deal with this
waste in our generation and not to keep putting it off.
Although we have not had significant environmental
consequences from the current configuration, it is not an
engineered configuration.

As Mr. McBreardy noted in his

comments, a significant environmental effect could
potentially have consequences, and we don’t want to wait
for that.

We want to get ahead of that.

We want to

remediate the site and we want to be able to tear down the
old, contaminated buildings and move that material into an
engineered facility, namely the NSDF.
The second aspect of urgency is that I
mentioned also in my remarks that in addition to the
mandate to manage the waste liability, AECL also has a
mandate to advance nuclear science and technology.

We

can’t continue to advance nuclear science in facilities
that are 60 or 70 years old.

We do need new facilities,

which means that we need to remove the old ones and replace
them with new modern facilities.
I’m very pleased to say that a large
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amount of progress in this regard has been made, but we
need to continue to make progress as well.

So, that’s

another thing that’s driving the urgency.
With respect to the update of the Nuclear
Waste Policy by Natural Resources Canada, Natural Resources
Canada has issued a draft that reflects what they have
heard and what they have learned about modern day practices
and international practices.
We have reviewed that draft and there is
nothing in that draft that would contradict the direction
to adopt an NSDF.
THE PRESIDENT:

Thank you.

Mr. McBreardy, did you wish to add
anything?
MR. McBREARDY:

Thank you, President

Velshi.
Mr. McBreardy, for the record.
I think Mr. Dermarkar hits most of those
comments pretty well, but I will ask Ms. Vickerd to provide
a bit more clarification from the CNL perspective.
Ms. Vickerd?
MS. VICKERD:

Meggan Vickerd, for the

record.
We already mentioned in our previous
response the Integrated Waste Strategy and that strategy is
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created reflective of the existing policies in the
Government of Canada and the legal framework.

So, that

policy, the current Canadian policy for active waste,
includes the waste owner needing to have a lifecycle
approach to managing its waste to ensure that from cradle
to grave we are responsibly managing it.
So, AECL requested of CNL to come up with
a solution to dispose of the Low-level waste that AECL is
responsible for, and we have identified an NSDF as our
preferred path.

And, as Mr. Dermarkar noted, AECL accepted

that recommendation, which is why we are here to discuss
the project this week.
As a policy evolves when it is issued, our
Integrated Strategy would be updated to reflect that new
policy.

But Canadian Nuclear Laboratories has been very

active in the process of that policy review, participating
in the discussion papers, the forums that NRCan has been
offering as part of its engagement, and we have reviewed
the draft as well as AECL.

And we do not see anything

currently in the draft that NSDF as a project would
contravene, and in fact it encourages all of our key
messages and aspects of lifecycle approach of managing
waste and not leaving it for a burden for future
generations.
THE PRESIDENT:

Thank you for that.
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Mr. Dermarkar, wanting to take the
opportunity of you being here with us this morning, you
will have seen many intervenors question the robustness of
the alternate means assessment that was conducted for this
project, particularly around site selection, and
restricting the options to just lands owned by AECL, and
that there may be better-suited sites in close proximity to
CNL.
I wanted to get your thoughts on that.
Was that even a consideration to look at other potential
sites that may have met the requirements even better than
the CNL site?
MR. DERMARKAR:

For the record, Fred

Dermarkar, AECL.
AECL acts in the interests of all
Canadians and tries to balance the interests of all
Canadians.

So, with respect to making decisions about what

to site where, we take into consideration as much as we can
the big picture, the more holistic picture.
Where there is a large amount of waste, we
want to site a repository as close as practicably possible
to that large amount of waste.

If there’s a better site

1,000 kilometres away, that may not be in the best
interests of all Canadians.
Similarly, if there’s a very small amount
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of waste to be managed, it may be the best decision for all
Canadians to move that small amount of waste and
consolidate it in a larger repository.
So, with that in mind, AECL supports the
decision to site the repository on the CNL lands, and it
does so because there is a large volume of waste there and
the studies that have been done to support the siting of
the NSDF indicate that all environmental requirements will
be met for all conceivable situations that that site might
be confronted with -- environmental conditions, I mean.
I would like to turn over, though, to
Alastair MacDonald again.

He has been closer to looking

and evaluating all the options, and I would like to invite
him to add any additional comments he might have.
THE PRESIDENT:

Thank you.

Mr. MacDonald, before you add your
comments, let me be a bit more specific on what I have seen
from interventions.
It isn’t a potential site 1,000 kilometres
away; it’s a site adjacent to CNL owned, I think, by the
Department of National Defence.

So, the transportation

issue wouldn’t be there.
Maybe you can comment on was that even a
consideration in looking at different site options, please.
MR. DERMARKAR:

Okay.

Fred Dermarkar, for
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the record.
I would like again to turn over to
Alastair MacDonald, who has been closer.

The answer I

provided was a more generic answer.
MR. MacDONALD:

Thank you, Mr. Dermarkar.

Alastair MacDonald, for the record.
I can just add a little bit to that.
The site selection, the alternative
analysis approach, is well covered in the Environmental
Impact Assessment.

We are aware of a number of sites that

CNL have assessed and looked at on the AECL land, which
also includes the NPD land at Rolphton, which is a little
distance away.
I think my own view would be the range of
alternatives being assessed on our land, and there’s good
safety cases that can be made to demonstrate safety and
environmental protection, security protection, close to
areas where we already have an infrastructure.
So, I would say it’s a good practice to
consider this on our land.

It’s good to have it as close

to our facilities as possible.
Perhaps Ms. Vickerd might have some more
detail on the alternative assessments that were done there.
But those are my thoughts.

Thank you.

MS. VICKERD:

Meggan Vickerd, for the
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record.
As outlined in CNL’s Environmental
Assessment, we did do an Alternative Needs Assessment, and
we only looked at AECL-owned sites.

That was certainly CNL

and AECL’s preference because it is AECL-owned and is a
site with an existing licence.

CNL did remiss in our

presentation not to go to Ms. Faught’s presentation, which
does start off with some discussion on site alternative
needs.
So, perhaps after the break, if the
Commission allows it, we will have Ms. Faught’s part of the
presentation this morning.
THE PRESIDENT:

Okay.

McBreardy, where you cut them off.

So, this is, Mr.

Okay.

We will definitely give you that
opportunity of doing so.
MR. McBREARDY:

That was an error on my

THE PRESIDENT:

Yes, we would like to hear

part, ma’am.

that.

And I know there will be a lot more discussion

around the site assessment and selection.

Thank you.

Thank you, AECL, for your presentation and
appearing in front of us today.

Much appreciated.

We will move to our next presentation,
which is by the City of Ottawa, as outlined in CMDs
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22-H7.16 and .16A.
We’ve got Mr. Joshua Elliott with us to
make the presentation.
Mr. Elliott, over to you, please.

CMD 22-H7.16/22-H7.16A
Oral Presentation by the City of Ottawa

MR. ELLIOTT:
Joshua Elliott.

For the record, my name is

I am a Water Quality Engineer for the City

of Ottawa.
The City of Ottawa appreciates the
opportunity to provide comment on the proposed Near Surface
Disposal Facility at Chalk River Laboratories.
Over the past several years our technical
staff have reviewed information presented in several
Webinars, EIS reports and EA documents associated with the
NSDF Project.
During that time, we’ve also held meetings
with CNL, CNSC and other stakeholders to improve our
understanding of the project.

We are pleased to report

that we have received open and helpful communication from
these various groups to explain the project and its
implications to the natural environment.
Our primary concern has been, and
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continues to be, the long-term protection of the Ottawa
River, the source of drinking water for Ottawa’s residents.
Our recommendations and concerns are
provided in order to improve the design and operation of
the NSDF, with a particularly focus on the ongoing
protection of the Ottawa River, which in many respects is
the lifeblood of our community.
In principle, we are supportive of the
proposed NSDF as a means of providing improved
environmental protection and engineered storage for
Low-level radioactive waste.

We recognize that most,

approximately 90 percent, of the waste already exists on
the Chalk River site and is currently located in close
proximity to the river.
In our opinion, maintaining a viable and
active site for scientific work at Chalk River, along with
careful regulatory oversight and monitoring, is the best
way to ensure environmental stewardship and protection for
the long term.
It is important to minimize the amount of
rainfall and snow that might mix with the NSDF-stored
waste, which would then be collected, treated and
discharged to the natural environment.
During technical discussions with CNL in
2021, we learned that there were plans underway to design a
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weather system shield that could divert water away from the
operating phase of the containment mound, similar to
practices in Europe.

While we are encouraged to hear about

the weather shield system, we do not see it described or
represented anywhere in the EA or in the EIS reports.
It is also important to protect the river
during all activities related to site demolition and waste
transfer.

It is our understanding that Standard Operating

Procedures for waste handling would be required as part of
the licensed activities at the site.

However, we recommend

that additional safeguards to protect the water be included
in the Operating Licence.
That might include temporary berms, tarps
or sumps to specifically protect the river from surface
run-off during site demolition and until all waste is
safely characterized, transferred and stored.
In the final EAS Report there was a
specification that the waste water treatment effluent will
meet the Canadian drinking water quality guidelines or the
CCME aquatic guidelines prior to discharge.
From a drinking water perspective, we
support the application of these criteria since they will
ensure that radionuclide concentrations are within
acceptable limits in the Ottawa River.
We expect that the release of wastewater
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effluent requires that individual batch test results meet
the discharge criteria prior to release rather than the use
of long-term average concentrations.
So, we are recommending that the Operating
Licence for the NSDF clearly state the criteria for
discharge of treated wastewater, including these
requirements for sampling, testing, reporting and
regulatory oversight.

We would also suggest that chemical

and radiological test results for the wastewater discharge
should be included in CRL’s routine Environmental
Monitoring Reports to demonstrate compliance with effluent
discharge criteria.
On the same topic, the tritium
concentration in the wastewater effluent is estimated to be
140,000 becquerels per litre with an acceptable discharge
limit of 360,000 becquerels per litre.

Both of these

concentrations greatly exceed the Canadian Drinking Water
Guideline of 7,000 becquerels per litre.
Once in the water phase, tritium is highly
mobile and cannot be removed through treatment either in
the wastewater treatment system or in any of the water
treatment plants located downstream.
Since the NSDF only accepts Low-level
solid waste, there should be design measures that can be
taken to minimize water contact and leaching such that the
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tritium drinking water guideline of 7,000 becquerels per
litre can be achieved at all times in the NSDF effluent
discharge.
And although the treatment system on-site
would be robust for the removal of most radionuclides,
efforts should also be made to ensure that the Cobalt-60
materials remain in the solid phase and should be shielded
from water contact or leaching while in safe storage.
Our recommendation is that measures should
be taken to immobilize radionuclides, including tritium and
cobalt species, and ensure dry waste storage conditions to
minimize or eliminate the leaching of radionuclides in the
NSDF wastewater stream.
The final EIS Report also noted several
organic substances that would exceed drinking water or
aquatic discharge guidelines in the wastewater treatment
system as shown.

While the wastewater treatment plant is

designed to remove these substances during treatment,
efforts should also be made to minimize these chemical
substances during waste transfer and storage activities.
The EIS also noted two options for
discharge of the treated wastewater effluent.

This would

include injection into the subsurface groundwater through
an exfiltration gallery or direct discharge to Perch Lake,
which in turn discharges to the Ottawa River via Perch
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Creek.
We support discharging the effluent into
the subsurface -– sorry.

We support discharge directly

into Perch Lake and avoiding the subsurface exfiltration
gallery in order to minimize the future risks to the
groundwater systems.
The EIS Report also states that 5 percent
of materials to be stored in the NSDF are expected to
originate from other AECL sites outside of the watershed.
The City of Ottawa does not support the import of
radioactive waste from external sites, such as Manitoba or
Quebec, since it increases the risk to the Ottawa River
ecosystem.
Our recommendation is that stored waste
that is directed to the NSDF be limited only to on-site
legacy waste and the expected contract waste from the
Ottawa area, such as hospitals or research facilities.
Since the City of Ottawa and many
communities rely on the Ottawa River as their primary
source of drinking water, it is imperative that the
municipalities be promptly notified of any spills or
releases that might affect river water quality.

Such

notification would allow the City of Ottawa to form an
immediate risk assessment and response plan, noting that
contaminants would reach our treatment plant intakes within
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five to 25 days, depending on river flow.
So, our recommendation is that the spill
notification protocols be confirmed with downstream
municipalities using the Ottawa River as a source of
drinking water and that these notification protocols be
validated on an annual basis.
We are aware that CNL conducts routine
environmental monitoring, including samples taken from the
Ottawa River upstream and downstream of the site.

We would

appreciate receiving such test results on a regular basis
to compare with levels observed at our treatment plants and
to respond to any deviations observed.
During our review of the NSDF documents,
we did not find satisfactory explanations to demonstrate
the relative risk comparisons for various waste management
options.

The EIS Report describes several options that

were evaluated during the early phase of the project prior
to selecting the NSDF design, but we would recommend that
all future environmental projects include a transparent
risk ranking of alternatives, with a public commenting
period, prior to selecting the desired design.
In summary, the City of Ottawa would
respectfully request that the Commission take into
consideration all of our recommendations.

We trust that

our comments will be helpful to the Commission in making
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their final decision and in the drafting of requirements
contained in the Operating Licence, if approved.
To just review our position, in principle
we are supportive of the proposed NSDF

as a means of

providing improved environmental protection and engineered
storage for the Low-level radioactive waste.

And we are

recognizing that most of the waste is already on site.

So,

we believe that this is the best option going forward.
Thank you very much.
THE PRESIDENT:

Thank you, Mr. Elliott,

for that presentation.
We will start with Ms. Maharaj with
questions, please.
MEMBER MAHARAJ:

Thank you very much for

your presentation.
I just wanted to clarify with you your
concern about bringing waste from areas other than the
local area into this facility, because what I understand
from your submission is that you are relatively, with a few
caveats, satisfied that the facility can protect the
environment once it’s closed, once the waste is in place in
the facility.
If that is true, then what is your concern
with waste being brought from other AECL facilities into
that space?
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MR. ELLIOTT:

We would believe that the

import of waste would increase the burden on the local
ecosystem, if there was a potential release.

And it also

provides perhaps an additional burden on the tritium
loading on this facility.
We just believe that waste should be
treated in a local context where it is generated, and I
believe that would be an industry best practice for that.
MEMBER MAHARAJ:
THE PRESIDENT:

Okay, thank you.
Dr. Lacroix?

MEMBER LACROIX:

Thank you very much, Mr.

Elliott, for the presentation.
Pursuing on the tritium, I’m thinking the
half-life of tritium is 12.3 years, I guess.

If the NSDF

were to accept waste from other sites, where would the
tritium come from?
MR. ELLIOTT:

Yes.

We’ve had a hard time

understanding where the tritium from the current site is
being generated, considering it’s supposedly a solid waste
stream that’s entering this facility.
I think, again, industry best practices of
isolating that solid waste from any aqueous environment
would be the best strategy moving forward.

So, we are

concerned with the tritium loading that is being proposed
for this facility, and we are pursuing that sort of 7,000
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becquerel-per-litre limit for the discharge.
MEMBER LACROIX:

I would like to hear

CNSC’s response to that.
MS. MURTHY:

Kavita Murthy, for the

record.
Your question is where is the tritium
coming from other than from CNL sites.
So, I would ask CNL perhaps to give you
that information.

We do know that we had an SRBT hearing

recently and they are a company that does tritium lights
and some of their waste does get sent to CNL.
If you allow me, I think it is CNL that
should be responding.
MR. McBREARDY:

Commissioner Lacroix,

thank you very much for that question.
Mr. McBreardy, for the record.
I believe this question is probably best
answered by our environmental protection lead, Mr. George
Dolinar, and I’m going to turn that question over to Mr.
Dolinar at this point.

Thank you.

MR. DOLINAR:

George Dolinar, for the

record, Director of Corporate Environmental Services for
CNL.
I can answer part of this question with
respect to the fate of tritium and drinking water from the
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Ottawa River and so on, and I will refer back to Meggan
Vickerd to talk about waste sources.
Let me just cover a few of the topics that
have come up from this intervenor and from other
intervenors that we will see over the next several days.
One is it’s important to note that the
facility NSDF that we are proposing is protective of Ottawa
River water quality.

Current impacts are tritium levels

measured in the vicinity of the Chalk River Labs are in the
order of two to three becquerels per litre in the Ottawa
River, virtually indistinguishable from upstream from the
CRL site.

And that is expected to continue during the

operating period of NSDF.
When the leachate is generated from the
operation of the cells of NSDF, there is a leachate
collection system and a leachate treatment facility.

The

targets that we’ve established for the effluent guidelines
from the treatment facility are such that we are protective
of aquatic species in the receiving waters, Perch Lake and
Perch Creek, and also protective of human health where
drinking water is implicated in the Ottawa River.
Just for maybe a bit of completeness, the
no effect level for aquatic species is 17 million
becquerels per litre.

Our wastewater expected

concentration of tritium into receiving waters –- this is
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the end of the pipe –- is 140,000 becquerels per litre.
So, we have some tolerance there.

We can actually go above

the expected amount of tritium in leachate before having
any potential effect on aquatic species.

And as this flow

gets assimilated and makes its way down to the Ottawa
River, again none of the water upstream from the Ottawa
River is used as a drinking water source.
secure CNL property.

It’s all on the

But in the Ottawa River, with

assimilation that takes place and that flow from Perch Lake
through Perch Creek down to the Ottawa River, again, we are
not expecting to see any discernible difference between
what the tritium levels are now, and that’s on the order of
two to three becquerels per litre.
Maybe I’ll just leave that there and turn
it over to Meggan to speak briefly on the sources of waste.
MS. VICKERD:

Meggan Vickerd, for the

record.
With respect to the sources of waste,
tritium is present in a lot of CNL-owned waste streams.
It’s part of the contamination and the fingerprint of our
waste.

It’s not only at the Chalk River site but it is

actually in waste from Whiteshell and in waste from Douglas
Point NG1, as they had been previously operating reactors.
So, the tritium would be the source of
contamination in concrete, in protective equipment and
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clothing or in some of the local soils that had been deemed
waste.
It comes as a solid form.

It would be

consolidated at the Chalk River site as a solid form and
placed in the facility as a solid form.

We do have limits

on not accepting any free liquids into NSDF.

It comes in a

solid form, but because tritium is relatively mobile, our
modelling assumptions have been quite conservative assuming
if precipitation, rain or snow come in contact with the
waste that the tritium could leach out.
We have taken a number of measures to
protect or to isolate the waste from the environment,
including covering the cell as we’re filling it.

We have a

tiered approach in our Waste Acceptance Criteria document,
which at a certain threshold of tritium we start to put it
in leachate-controlled packages to isolate it from the
environment.
With respect to the recommendation that
the City of Ottawa has made about the weather coverage
structure, CNL is already committed to that.

We’ve heard

that loud and clear in our public engagements.

In fact, at

a workshop we had, that was an outcome of the workshop:
that we committed to looking at this.
committed.

And we are even more

We are starting that design process.
But that’s a feature to improve the
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operations and to further limit the amount of leachate that
might be generated or to isolate the waste material from
precipitation.

The EA looks to ensure that the system is

designed for the maximum amount that might be produced in
leachate and quality of tritium.

But we do believe that

the weather coverage structure will make a difference and
optimize the facility once it’s in operation.
THE PRESIDENT:
ask you:

Well, then, maybe I can

On all the different recommendations made by the

City of Ottawa, have you dispositioned those and are they
readily available?

Or should we just go through each one?

You have talked about the weather shield
system, that you are committed in doing so.
What about safeguards to protect the river
during demolition and waste transfer activities?
MS. VICKERD:

Meggan Vickerd, for the

record.
We have not formally dispositioned them.
We thought that the Commission hearing was a process to
disposition, and if we don’t get through all of them we
will certainly respond to the City of Ottawa.
We have been in informal communications
with the City of Ottawa around a number of their
recommendations.
With respect to the next one, safeguards
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to protect, that is already existing within our current
licence for when we decommission and remediate activities.
We can provide further details on that, but it is part of
our Environmental Management System and part of our
clean-up function in our demolition plans.
THE PRESIDENT:

Okay, thank you.

The next one around trace organic
substances in NSDF wastewater.
MS. VICKERD:

Meggan Vickerd, for the

record.
With respect to that one, we control the
amount of chemical constituents within our Waste Acceptance
Criteria but ensuring that we adhere to the same limits
that Ontario Regulation 347 utilizes to limit the amount of
chemical constituents.

So, we have a control in place to

ensure that the operation limits the amount of organics
that will get into the leachate.
THE PRESIDENT:

Thank you.

And around the notification and access to
water quality data, did you have any concerns with those
recommendations?
MS. VICKERD:

Perhaps I will go to Mr. Pat

Quinn, our Director of Corporate Communications, to comment
on how access to information is provided.
MR. QUINN:

Good morning.

Pat Quinn, for
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the record.

I am Director of Corporate Communications for

CNL.
With respect to sharing information, there
are general means by which CNL provides the data, through
quarterly reports, annual reports that are posted to our
external websites.

That information is also shared in

general with members of our Environmental Stewardship
Council, to which the City of Ottawa has just recently
joined.
However, I’m going to turn to Mr. George
Dolinar to provide a little bit more detail, because I
believe that one of the benefits of the closer working
relationship with CNL is intervenors have the opportunity
to ask us directly questions and we have the great
opportunity to grow meaningful relationships.
Mr. Dolinar.
MR. DOLINAR:

George Dolinar, for the

record.
We have worked in the past with the City
of Ottawa.

They are recently new members of the

Environmental Stewardship Council, which is a council that
has been in existence for almost 20 years now.
Ottawa is a new member.

The City of

However, Mr. Ian Douglas, who has

recently retired from the City of Ottawa, would be in
somewhat regular contact with myself and other folks in
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Environmental Services at CNL.

When I say regular, this is

maybe it’s sporadic, you know a year apart, interactions of
that nature.
At the request of the Environmental
Stewardship Council, we do provide a quarterly performance
report which is posted on the CNL website.

The content of

that performance report is guided by the Environmental
Stewardship Council requesting the information that they
would like to see.
So, it includes some aspects of Ottawa
River quality, some aspects of routine CNL emissions,
including operational things like small hydrocarbon spills,
like spills of diesel fuel or hydrocarbons on the Chalk
River site, release of Freon, and so on and so forth.
We can look with the Environmental
Stewardship Council regarding expansion of the kind of data
that we make available in the quarterly performance report
which is posted on our website.
I should also mention, of course, two
other things.

One is the NSDF facility, one of the

commitments is to create an environmental assessment
follow-up monitoring program.
document.

That exists in the form of a

It is currently on the order of about 250 pages,

with lots of tables indicating what we measure, where we
measure, how we report, all of the sort of information that
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you would expect covering the various phases of the
facility.

So, this includes construction, operation and

then post-closure phases for NSDF.
That will be reported on to the CNSC and
made available to the public on an annual basis.
We currently provide, and will continue to
do so, annual environmental effluent reports and
environmental monitoring reports regarding the ongoing
Chalk River operations.

Those are available to the public.

We post fairly detailed summaries of those
reports.

We sort of acknowledge that they are difficult to

consume because of the technical comment, so we provide
summaries which are meant to capture sort of the main
highlights.
I think we have a variety of mechanisms
where we communicate –- and we can improve on this of
course –- where we communicate environmental monitoring
results and effluent results from the Chalk River Labs.
The EAFMP, the Environmental Assessment Follow-up
Monitoring Program, will be another method specific to NSDF
which will be included as part of this project should we
get permission to proceed.
Maybe I will leave it there and see if
there are any further questions.
I see Mr. Boyle.
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THE PRESIDENT:
MR. BOYLE:

Mr. Boyle.

Phil Boyle, for the record.

I

am CNL’s Chief Nuclear Officer and the Site Licence Holder
at Chalk River.
I wanted to add specifically as it related
to the question from the gentleman from Ottawa about a
spill, or notification in the event of something that’s a
short-term event.
As we have discussed, the NSDF actually
reduces the risk for that.

So, it’s a legitimate question

that we should have such a method right now.

And in fact

we do.
The licence that we currently operate
under has a safety control area for emergency response.
That emergency response requires us to have an emergency
operations organization.
organization.

We have to drill that

We interact with the provinces often for

that drill, in order to do communications to
municipalities.

So, there may be opportunity to understand

better how well that is working with the city directly, but
the process is currently and certainly in place.
THE PRESIDENT:

Thank you for that.

Then maybe I will turn to CNSC staff on
the other recommendation around environmental risk
comparison for design alternatives.

Is this something that

72

the CNSC requires or should require, that there is a risk
ranking of the different alternatives that have been
assessed?
MS. MURTHY:

Kavita Murthy, for the

record.
I will ask Dr. Nana Kwamena to provide a
response to this question.
DR. KWAMENA:

Dr. Nana Kwamena, for the

record.
We conducted the assessment of CNL's
environmental impact statement according to the Canadian
Environmental Assessment Act, 2012, and so as part of those
requirements the proponent has to provide an assessment of
the alternative means to carrying out the project, which is
what CNL did as part of their environmental assessment.

So

there is no specific requirement for that kind of risk
ranking, but they did have criteria that they used to
evaluate the different alternative means that they had as
part of their project.
When CNSC does an environmental review, it
is determined based on the type of project that is in
place, proposed by the proponent, and the existing federal
legislation.
Speaking to the recommendation that was
put forth by the City of Ottawa, in the future we would
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look at the project and determine the type of environmental
review.

If it is subject to an impact assessment, there is

going to be a planning phase where you would gather
information in terms of the concerns by members of the
public, Indigenous nations and communities, and then there
would be a sense of the types of concerns that are raised
from that initial state and then it would be determined
whether an impact assessment is required.
So there would be that opportunity, if it
was subject to an impact assessment, to sort of gather that
information in a very early phase before the project was
continued under that process.
THE PRESIDENT:

Right.

But I am looking

at this particular project and the value of doing a risk
comparison and ranking and helping with the decision-making
so that if there are trade-offs of risks versus the
economic impact for instance that you are actually doing it
perhaps a bit more systematically and thoughtfully if there
was this ranking.
So I guess my question was more -- I guess
it is more academic because this is done, but doesn't this
make sense that we actually think of having risk ranking
information available to staff as they do their reviews and
assessments?
DR. KWAMENA:

Yes, I guess that would make
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sense, but we are confident that the process that we used
in assessing CNL's alternative method was robust in looking
at their alternative means.

We take the recommendation by

the intervenor, but again, like I said, we are convinced
that CNL had clear criteria that CNSC looked at, as well as
the rest of the federal family, in order to evaluate the
alternative means for this particular project.
THE PRESIDENT:
MS. MURTHY:

Thank you.

Pardon me, Ms. Velshi.

You brought up the question of cost and I
just want to make sure that we have it on record that CNSC
staff does not look at cost comparison.

We look at the

safety aspect of the project from the environment and
protection of persons, and the cost discussion is something
that is not anything that we -THE PRESIDENT:

No, I understand that.

It

is a question of is this acceptable or is this the best
option kind of evaluation.
Ms. Maharaj, Dr. Lacroix, any further
questions from this intervention?
MEMBER MAHARAJ:
THE PRESIDENT:
MEMBER MAHARAJ:

Just one.
Okay, Ms. Maharaj.
Just one small question,

thank you, Madam Velshi.
I appreciate we will probably get into
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greater detail about this situation, but I just wanted to
clarify that I understood the intervenor's submission.
What I heard from CNL is that the
concentration of tritium at the discharge end of the pipe
to the receiving environment in Ottawa River for tritium
was 140,000 Bq per litre but that the drinking water
guideline is 7,000 Bq per litre.

To me that is quite a

large difference and I'm hoping somebody at CNL can clarify
for me so I just have the facts.

We will get to the

conversation I am sure throughout the day.
MS. VICKERD:

Meggan Vickerd, for the

record.
I will go to Mr. Dolinar, but the
correction is that the discharge, the point of discharge is
within the Perch Lake basin, to the Perch Lake or to the
ground close to the facility, not to the Ottawa River.

But

I will go to Mr. Dolinar to explain further.
MR. DOLINAR:

George Dolinar, for the

record.
So yes.

Perhaps I wasn't clear enough in

my earlier response.
The wastewater leachate treatment facility
has two routes of discharge, one in an exfiltration gallery
which is effectively to ground near the facility in a
system maybe similar to what you would have for a septic
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bed leaching system, a bit more sophisticated than that but
just to give you sort of the general idea.

We also have an

alternate discharge which goes to Perch Lake, not to the
Ottawa River.
So the anticipated sort of maximum
concentration associated with the leachate coming from
NSDF, as indicated, is 140,000 Bq per litre.

That is the

concentration, the highest concentration you would see
coming out of the wastewater treatment facility into either
that exfiltration gallery which is within the NSDF
footprint or to Perch Lake.

Perch Lake drains eventually

to the Ottawa River.

There is assimilation of the flow

from NSDF treatment.

We will not be exceeding in Perch

Creek or the Ottawa River drinking water guidelines for
human consumption.
In the Ottawa River, to repeat, the impact
associated with the NSDF operational period with respect to
tritium is imperceptible.

We currently measure 2 to 3 Bq

per litre in the vicinity of the Chalk River Labs.

That is

what we will be measuring going forward as well with the
concentrations that are indicated in the table that the
City of Ottawa has captured but also in the Environmental
Assessment Report from the CNSC staff and in our
Environmental Impact Statement.
Ottawa River water quality, you know,
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where it is used as a source of drinking water, the
standard is 7,000 Bq per litre.

We are on the order of

let's say 3 Bq per litre where it is used for drinking
water.
The impact to aquatic species, plants and
animals, the no-effect level is -- I forget what it is
exactly, it is 17 million something becquerels per litre.
So these discharge criteria that we indicated are well
below any impact to non-human biota as well.
MEMBER MAHARAJ:

Thank you.

That is very

helpful.
MR. DOLINAR:
THE PRESIDENT:
Okay.

Thanks.
Dr. Lacroix...?

No?

Thank you very much for your

intervention and your presentation today.

Thank you.

So before we take a break, perhaps we will
come back to CNL for you to do the second part of your
presentation, please.
Mr. McBrearty...?

CMD 22-H7.1B/22-H7.1C/22-H7.1D
Oral presentation by the
Canadian Nuclear Laboratories (Cont'd)

MR. McBREARTY:

President Velshi,
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Mr. McBrearty, for the record.
Thanks very much for giving us this
opportunity to continue our presentation.

I will now turn

that presentation over to Ms. Sandra Faught, our Manager
for Licensing.
MS. FAUGHT:

Good morning, President

Velshi and Members of the Commission.
For the record, my name is Sandra Faught
and I am the Manager of Licensing Support for the Near
Surface Disposal Facility Project at Canadian Nuclear
Laboratories.
With me today is Mr. George Dolinar, who
you just heard from, Director of Corporate Environmental
Protection, and many other subject matter experts.
Before beginning my brief presentation
today, I would like to start by saying that CNL appreciates
this opportunity to comment on what we heard from the
Indigenous communities and the public, both in their
written submissions as well as throughout the last few
years of engagement on this proposal.
CNL has worked hard to improve elements of
our proposal to address areas of concern.

However,

outstanding concerns remain, which we will hear more about
this week.

I would also like to point out that there is

significant public support for this proposal.
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Through the analysis of written
interventions, CNL was able to identify concerns for the
Environmental Assessment/Environmental Protection theme.
These concerns include justification of the project,
alternative means assessment, including site selection, and
the protection of the Ottawa River.
We have taken this feedback seriously.

As

noted earlier by Mr. McBrearty, CNL's Supplemental CMD
summarizes the key concerns that have been raised during
public engagement and our responses.

We have also

demonstrated how CNL has incorporated public feedback into
the development and design of the NSDF Project, as well as
the final Environmental Impact Statement (or EIS).
Input and concerns expressed by Indigenous
communities has been captured in the Indigenous Engagement
Report and has been summarized in the EIS and CNL CMD.
Based on feedback from the public in 2017,
CNL has been more transparent in the overall justification
or purpose of the NSDF Project, that is, to enable the
remediation of historically contaminated lands and legacy
waste management areas at the Chalk River site, as well as
the decommissioning of outdated infrastructure to
facilitate Chalk River Labs site revitalization.
The development of a Near Surface Disposal
Facility will reduce potential risks associated with AECL's
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legacy waste liabilities as well as enhance environmental
protection through the containment and isolation of
low-level waste.
Since hearing of this concern from the
public, CNL has revised the relevant section of the EIS to
improve clarity on our justification for the project.

In

addition, CNL has conducted many targeted engagements to
provide more opportunities for dialogue on this topic.

We

have used a variety of methods, including a social media
video titled "Why the NSDF?"

I hope you have had a chance

to see this on our project dedicated website.
Many intervenors have also asked why this
facility is being sited at Chalk River Labs and why other
federally owned properties such as Garrison Petawawa were
not considered.
Since the beginning of the environmental
assessment in 2016, CNL clearly identified that the
alternatives for locating the facility included only sites
currently under AECL ownership which are operated by CNL
under an existing licence from the CNSC.

This approach is

consistent with the requirements of the Canadian
Environmental Assessment Act and associated operational
policy statement as well as international guidance.
This means that as a proponent, CNL
identified various technically and economically feasible
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options to achieve the purpose of the project.

These

include options for location, development, design and
technologies, to name a few.

The analysis and rationale

for the choice has been documented in the EIS and
summarized in our CMD.

I will briefly provide CNL's

rationale.
First, the vast majority of the cleanup
and waste is already at Chalk River.

As has been

previously mentioned, 90 percent of the low-level waste
intended for disposal is at or will be generated at the
Chalk River Labs site.

International experience supports

having a local disposal solution for complex contaminated
sites which are undergoing cleanup missions.

We see these

at many U.S. sites, Portsmouth in Ohio and Oak Ridge in
Tennessee, to name a couple, who also have large volumes of
bulk low-level waste for which an engineered containment
mound is most suitable.

As this slide states, a disposal

facility of this nature is a first in Canada but not a
first of its kind.
Other traits that make the Chalk River
Labs desirable for siting the proposed facility include
Chalk River's enduring mission, infrastructure in place,
existing site licence and management systems, as well as
operating experience where the priority is placed on safe
operations.
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Ultimately, CNL has shown through our
licensing submissions and the environmental assessment that
the site chosen is most suitable to host safely a disposal
facility.
The alternative means assessment was a key
theme that CNL heard during public and Indigenous
engagement and is reflected in many of the interventions.
Some of the key questions were about the site selection
process and other facility designs.
CNL selected the proposed site following
an evaluation of 14 other potential sites at Chalk River
Labs which are identified by the yellow dots on this slide,
with the green area the proposed NSDF site.

Based on an

initial screening, only two sites were identified for
further evaluation, with the current one preferred due to a
number of advantages such as the best topography and best
location to protect the environment and, more specifically,
species at risk.
Furthermore, the site is located in an
area that has been studied for decades.

The site hydrology

and geology is well understood, which provides extensive
environmental data to build confidence in the project's
modelling and calculations.
The alternative means section of the final
EIS was revised based on public input to provide more
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clarity about the process CNL followed to determine the
location and design features of the facility.
Specifically, more information was provided about
additional alternatives that were considered, such as a
do-nothing approach, shallow caverns and above ground
concrete vaults.

These items were discussed with the

Environmental Stewardship Council and Community Advisory
Panel through project webinars and various one-on-one
meetings with interested intervenors.

We also hosted an

effluent discharge focus group meeting to review the
discharge options and assess alternatives.
At CNL we recognize the importance of the
Ottawa River and acknowledge that the intervenors have the
same care and concern about the location of the facility in
terms of the proximity to the river.

As Mr. McBrearty

mentioned in his remarks, many staff members live here.

In

fact, I personally have a vested interest in the protection
of the Ottawa River.

I am a proud resident of the City of

Pembroke and my family drinks water from the Ottawa River
on a daily basis.

We also own a cottage in nearby

Whitewater Region and my family and friends have spent many
hours on the river and nearby lakes enjoying boating and
swimming in the river.
As we discussed in CNL's presentation in
Part 1, I would like to reiterate that the overland
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distance to surface water is not critical to the safety
performance of the facility.

The NSDF will provide modern

engineering features to contain and isolate the waste,
which means the proposed project will enhance the
protection of the Ottawa River.
Drinking water in any location downriver
from Chalk River Laboratories is not at risk now or in the
future.

A key aspect of the project is water management.

Any water that makes contact with the waste is treated and
monitored, ensuring that it meets discharge targets before
release.
In addition, based on concerns from the
public, the original spatial boundaries of the surface
water assessment in the EIS were expanded to include
consideration of potential effects to the Ottawa River,
extending 8 kilometres downriver, and receptors downstream
in Sheenboro and Ottawa-Gatineau were explicitly modelled.
Overall, it is CNL's conclusion that the implementation of
the NSDF project is not likely to result in significant
adverse effects to people or the environment.
Thank you again for this opportunity for
CNL to provide some opening reflections on the written
submissions.

Our team looks forward to the dialogue today

and this week and are available for questions.
THE PRESIDENT:

Thank you very much for
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that.
So with that, we will take a short break
and we will resume at 11:10 a.m.
Thank you.

--- Upon recessing at 10:54 a.m. /
Suspension à 10 h 54
--- Upon resuming at 11:11 a.m. /
Reprise à 11 h 11

THE PRESIDENT:

Okay.

Our next

presentation is by Ottawa Riverkeeper, as outlined in CMDs
22-H7.125 and 22-H7.125A.
We have Ms. Laura Reinsborough to make the
presentation, so please proceed.

CMD 22-H7.125/22-H7.125A
Oral presentation by Ottawa Riverkeeper

MS. REINSBOROUGH:

Thank you.

Bonjour, hello, President Velshi and
Members of the Commission.
My name is Laura Reinsborough and I am CEO
of Ottawa Riverkeeper.

I am joined today by my colleague

Larissa Holman, Director of Science and Policy.

86

We are glad to be here this week on
unceded and unsurrendered Algonquin Territory to share with
you Ottawa Riverkeeper's key concerns and remaining
questions about the NSDF.
Ottawa Riverkeeper is a champion and
collective voice for the Ottawa River watershed, providing
leadership to protect, promote and improve its ecological
health.

We are a registered Canadian charity, we are

expert and independent.
Our focus in reviewing the proposal for
the NSDF has been on the potential environmental impacts to
waterways.

The experts with which we consulted were

selected for their expertise on the potential impacts of
projects such as this on waterways and so our review is
focused on the critically important issue of water.
You will notice that we have raised
concerns on several slides in our presentation and at the
end we have summarized these concerns with a list of
questions.
Before we go into the technical concerns,
we would like to draw attention to some of the procedural
processes of this hearing.
So typically an environmental assessment
is evaluated first and then only once a decision regarding
if a project might cause significant adverse environmental
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impact is a licensing hearing held.

What is most notable

when these two decisions are combined is that there will be
less time and opportunity for deliberation of either.
Streamlining this decision-making process clearly limits
the public's ability to participate.
The second point is that in addition to
having a full day to present and discuss the NSDF in
February of 2022, the proponent has been allocated speaking
time on four of the five days of the second round of
hearings.

Ottawa Riverkeeper would like to point out as an

issue of procedure that this is unusual.

CNL has been

permitted to present substantially more often than any
public participant during this part of the hearing that has
been designated for public participation.

We are concerned

about the message that this sends to the public where trust
and upholding that trust should be of utmost importance.
MS. HOLMAN:

There are a few points about

the environmental assessment that Ottawa Riverkeeper would
like to highlight during this presentation.
Ottawa Riverkeeper shares the
Commissioners' concerns about the site selection of the
engineered containment mound and also questions why federal
lands within proximity to Chalk River Laboratories were not
included in this process.
The site selected for the NSDF at CRL has
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relatively unfavourable geology and while there is great
confidence by CNL that the engineered features for the NSDF
are adequate, we would like assurances that the CNSC has
properly applied CEAA, 2012, specifically section 19.

The

environmental assessment of a designed project must take
into account a number of factors including, in part, (a)
the environmental effects of the designated project, (d)
mitigative measures, and (e) the requirement of a follow-up
program.
For this reason we bring attention to the
two following points.
Firstly, the monitoring program needs to
be extended beyond its current timeframe and the
stipulation that monitoring can cease once CNL determines
it is no longer required needs to be removed.

The

monitoring program must also include chemical waste and
some are estimated to be present above their respective
effluent targets.

As noted by Wilf Ruland, one of our

experts, these wastes are expected to remain potent and
this chemical potency will necessitate longer-term explicit
planning and assessment.
Ottawa Riverkeeper would like to highlight
that this expectation aligns with those for Ontario's
landfill operators and should have been included in the
EIS, but is not present at this time.

One way to assure
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that monitoring programs remain robust and accountable is
to include an independent review of monitoring results.

It

is in the public's interest for the proponent to facilitate
an independent and timely review of all monitoring
activities for the proposed NSDF for its entire lifespan,
not only as the engineered containment mound is being
filled or shortly after the mound is completed, but for the
hundreds of years that the engineered containment mound is
expected to function for.
Secondly, there needs to be an appropriate
contingency plan for the wastewater treatment plant should
it fail.

The working assumption is that the proposed

process of chemical precipitate will be effective for a
variety of contaminants that may be present in the
leachate, but there remain many unknowns and what if this
process is unable to treat the leachate effectively?
Leachate cannot be held indefinitely and by including a
contingency plan shows that avoiding adverse environmental
impacts has been thought through.
In addition, reverse osmosis, though more
expensive and technically challenging, provides a better
barrier and stronger assurances that the effluent will meet
its target effectively.

The additional training and safety

requirements should not be beyond the scope of the work
being conducted at CRL.

We should note that one of the
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reasons this additional process be included is due to the
overall vagueness and uncertainty regarding the waste
acceptance criteria and the waste destined for the ECM.
While it is understood that it is feasible to release the
effluent to the infiltration site, we concur with the City
of Ottawa that effluent should be released to Perch Lake so
that the waste generated is addressed for today's
conditions, not to the groundwater to be dealt with in the
future.
It is worth repeating that the experts who
looked through the EIS and CMD 22-H7 remarked on the
vagueness of these documents regarding how the waste would
be characterized, what waste would be accepted and how this
waste would be packaged before being placed within the ECM.
Additional concerns were raised about the
thresholds for different contaminants that had been
selected as different standards are cited without much
explanation as to why, nor did the WAC draw from existing
documents such as CSA N292.8:21.

We can only assume that

the limits chosen were meant to facilitate the operation of
the NSDF without ensuring the NSDF consider a precautionary
manner to avoid significant adverse environmental effects.
The threshold limits for the waste
acceptance criteria consistently fall within the upper
ranges of release limits.

However, when multiple standards
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are applied, it is typical that the most conservative is
selected.

This is not the case for the NSDF.
These thresholds were developed by CNL,

alongside CNSC staff.

Once again, we would like to

highlight how this raises questions of the regulatory
process as CNSC is accountable for assuring the waste
acceptance criteria and the effluent discharge limits
provide an appropriate environmental protection and
oversight.

Yet, these limits have been developed alongside

CNSC staff.
Ottawa Riverkeeper insist that CNSC
provide increased assurances and oversight through assuring
appropriate recordkeeping for all materials destined for
the engineered containment mound.

While the Licence

Condition Handbook should contain many of these details on
operations, such as how waste characterization will be
performed, this document can often change without public
consultation.
We noticed in our 2018 regulatory
oversight review for CRL that 56 licence conditions from
the previous version of the Licence Condition Handbook were
deleted.

While we remain steadfast in asking for CNSC to

include the most conservative thresholds and effluent
release limits in the Licence Condition Handbook, we are
well aware that the Licence Condition Handbook can be

92

adjusted without notice.
So labelling, recordkeeping, consistency
of how waste is characterized, including legacy waste
onsite, would at least provide some insight for what is in
the engineered containment mound and what is required to
best treat the leachate and monitor waste in the future to
protect the environment surrounding the site.
MS. REINSBOROUGH:

The Ottawa River and

its watershed is not only a source of drinking water for an
estimated 5 million people but is also one of the great
natural marvels of our continent.

It is the unceded,

unsurrendered territory of the Algonquin Anishinabeg
Nations, home to Canada's capital city and is crucial
habitat for an incredible amount of biodiversity, all of
which depends on this source of water for life.

This

river, like all rivers, should be protected from harm,
including contaminants that could otherwise be avoided.
Ottawa Riverkeeper believes strongly that
regulators must hold proponents accountable and ensure all
available steps are taken to minimize the impact of their
industries.

While the technical aspects of this project

are improving, the proposal for the NSDF lacks the clarity
required to understand what types of waste will be accepted
and how contaminant limits have been interpreted.

It also

does not provide the best available options to minimize the
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impact of these wastes on the water.
This hearing in the licensing process is
an opportunity to build public trust.

We expect that the

CNSC takes this responsibility seriously.

As stated in the

Canadian Environmental Assessment Act, 2012, that the
legislation this project falls under, that the federal
authority, in this case the CNSC, ensures that designated
projects are considered in a careful and precautionary
manner to avoid significant adverse environmental effects.
So we are expecting that that responsibility be taken
seriously.
MS. HOLMAN:
attention.

Thank you for your careful

Please note that we have summarized our key

questions 1 through 10 and we have them on slides -- I'm
sorry, our key concerns and we have them on slides and ask
the Commissioners to respond to these at this time.
THE PRESIDENT:

Thank you very much for

your presentation.
Let's start with Ms. Maharaj with
questions, please.
MEMBER MAHARAJ:

Thank you very much for

your presentation.
I would like to start with just one
question of clarification with respect to your written
submission.

On page 21 you speak about legacy groundwater
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treatment.

I was wondering if you can tell me a little bit

more about what that is and your position around legacy
groundwater.
MS. HOLMAN:

So, as I understand,

currently there are a number of waste management areas at
the CRL site and so there are groundwater plumes of
contaminants that CNL is treating.

They have mitigation

practices in place that will remove this waste from the
groundwater plume as it moves through.
process.

It is a mitigation

I can't speak to the technicalities of it since

that is a CNL activity, but that is what we were referring
to.

There is significant legacy waste at the CRL site and

a number of waste management areas that have groundwater
plumes.

The one for the Perch Lake basin currently has

tritium moving through it and other contaminants as well.
MEMBER MAHARAJ:

So is it your concern

that the NSDF is going to add to those existing plumes or
that they have to be dealt with as cumulative or that they
are independent?
MS. HOLMAN:

I think a large concern about

what is happening at the Chalk River site is the fact that
there are numerous cumulative impacts and by looking at one
activity at a time you are ignoring the fact that there is
a significant amount of waste currently at that site.

Our

concern about the groundwater and having the water go to
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Perch Lake and not to the groundwater site is not
necessarily because of the existing waste, it is simply so
that the effluent targets chosen are as small as possible
and that we are dealing with waste in this current time.
Discharging waste into a groundwater site
simply leaves it to a future generation to deal with, and
we heard from CNL that that is something that they don't
want to be doing.

So we should be looking at effluent

targets that meet the best possible environmental target
limits so that we are dealing with it appropriately and we
are not impacting the existing limits.

You can see from

previous presentations that those limit ranges are quite
dramatic and they are really -- there are mitigation
practices that CNL has identified being able to mitigate
them, we are just wondering why they are not applying them
at the beginning of the project and not once they have
reached a certain limit to minimize those impacts.
MEMBER MAHARAJ:
THE PRESIDENT:
MEMBER LACROIX:

Thank you.
Dr. Lacroix, please.
Well, first of all, thank

you very much for your presentation.
interesting.

It was quite

And I also appreciate the fact that you

stated clearly a number of questions and concerns, and
hopefully these concerns will be explicitly addressed by
CNL I presume.

Okay.
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In the meantime, you also provide a
technical report by a hydrogeologist, Mr. Wilf Ruland.
Excellent presentation, excellent submission, I really
enjoyed it.

You shed new light on the project, especially

with the exfiltration gallery.

I had no idea what is an

exfiltration gallery, so I really appreciate the
explanation.
One thing that I found interesting is that
according to Mr. Ruland, he doesn't seem to be so much
concerned about the radiological effect of the effluent but
far more by the chemical effect in the sense that
radioactivity decays but the chemical constituents will
remain there forever.
I would like to hear from CNL, what is
your perception on this comment?
MS. VICKERD:

Meggan Vickerd, for the

record.
So with respect to Mr. Ruland's assessment
of the chemical constituents, we are actually in agreement
or in alignment from the perspective that we recognize
there are chemical constituents that may be in the waste,
so we are restricting it or limiting the amount through our
application of Ontario Regulation 347.

We are a federal

site, but we recognize that that regulation has some good
practices.

We want to meet the intent of that to limit
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what might leach out into the environment in the future.
He does explicitly identify a
recommendation to ensure that we record the chemical
constituents and that is exactly what we intend to do.

We

identified in our waste acceptance criteria document waste
in place and we test and characterize it.

Its

characterization is part of our recordkeeping so we can
keep an inventory of what is in there and then ensure that
we are assessing.
And certainly from a groundwater
monitoring perspective, I can go to Mr. Dolinar, but we
would utilize that information in our regular assessment of
our groundwater monitoring program.

Whether or not we need

to expand constituents, whether or not we need to expand
locations or frequency or the longevity of the groundwater
monitoring program would be based off of similarities.

So

our groundwater monitoring program is alignment to Nuclear
Standard CSA 288.7, which implicitly uses the same
principle of container lifespan that the Ontario
regulations utilize.
MEMBER LACROIX:

And speaking of

groundwater monitoring, will the migrating of leachate
cease shortly after the ECM is capped?
MS. VICKERD:
record.

Meggan Vickerd, for the
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So the effluent is part of our effluent
monitoring program, not the groundwater monitoring program,
and it would continue for a time period to determine -- we
do expect the volumes to reduce once the system is closed
and we will continue to operate the wastewater treatment
plant, and depending on the volumes that we see there will
be a point that we make a decision to remove the wastewater
treatment plant.

But that would be through an application

for decommissioning through the CNSC before we remove that
and if we need to continue to treat effluent that we
collect from the facility, we would have to have an
alternative facility to treat it at.
THE PRESIDENT:

Thank you.

So there are some additional questions and
thank you for making our life so easy by summarizing your
questions and concerns that we will take this opportunity
now to get some responses on.
One is question 4 around waste acceptance
criteria thresholds that were adopted and why is the CSA
standard N292.8:21 not specifically mentioned in the
Licence Condition Handbook.
So I will turn to CNSC staff to respond to
that, please.
MS. MURTHY:
record.

Kavita Murthy, for the
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So the N282 standard that has been
referred to by the intervenor is in fact a codification of
all of the standards that are already in application.

CNSC

regulatory documents on waste characterization already
include that and it also includes the requirements that are
set out by the IAEA.

So we don't see any gaps in having

that document out and the intention is that when the
operations of the facility are -- if the facility is
approved and operations begin that CNL would be well on its
way to implementing that one.
THE PRESIDENT:

Thank you.

And then on number 5 around appropriate
recordkeeping, and this is one, as you know, that has been
raised by many intervenors around -- not so much on the
recordkeeping.

I want to hear about the transparency side

and how readily available will that -- well, I will ask CNL
first and then I will get staff to confirm -- will that
information be available to members of the public on what
is going into this NSDF if it were to proceed and how can
the public access that information and then validate that
against what the licence requires.
MS. VICKERD:

Meggan Vickerd, for the

record.
Within our waste acceptance criteria
document we do acknowledge that CNL will be required to
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have a record, an inventory process.

We keep records of

what is in the facility and we report that to the CNSC
annually and compare it to our licence limits.

We are

certainly open to exploring a mechanism of how we report
that to the public.

We utilize avenues like Environmental

Stewardship Council, like Mr. Quinn has already mentioned,
to explore what is a meaningful way of representing that
data.

The type of data that we sometimes submit to the

CNSC staff is quite a lot or technical, so we need to make
sure we disseminate it in a manner that is meaningful to
the public.
THE PRESIDENT:

And so if we go with the

principle of transparency and accessible and kind of, you
know, easy to understand and appreciate, something you are
looking at and more than amenable to addressing.
Then maybe the last one, number 10 around
public information plan, kind of almost related.

Will all

results associated with the oversight and monitoring
programs be made publicly accessible?

What are your

thoughts on that one or what are your plans on that?
MS. VICKERD:

Meggan Vickerd, for the

record.
So I will go to Mr. Quinn to speak to the
public information program because it is one of our
management systems that we utilize as a company.
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MR. QUINN:

Pat Quinn, for the record.

Most definitely, information will be made
available through the annual reporting and our performance
reporting that is posted to my CNL.

However, as my

colleague mentioned earlier, we look for other
opportunities to disseminate the information and of course
it has to be accessible to, you know, a general audience as
opposed to a highly technical audience.

So we look for

those opportunities like the Environmental Stewardship
Council.

We could seek advice of our community advisory

panel on how to, you know, enhance that.

I would see the

incorporation of data from the proposed facility to be
included with other information that CNL already provides
to the public.
THE PRESIDENT:

Thank you.

And then again for CNL around the
wastewater treatment plant contingency plans, what if it
doesn't work?

What about reverse osmosis?

Any comments on

that, please?
MS. VICKERD:

Meggan Vickerd, for record.

So I am going to go to our colleague Mr.
Mark Luckett who is from AECOM, the designer of the
facility.
But before I do, I just want to highlight
CNL has operated reverse osmosis in the past and we have
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also operated chemical precipitation, ion exchange, which
is the systems we propose for this facility.

So we do have

experience in both and we have evaluated both, we have done
a pilot test.

The facility itself does have a lot of

contingency features and short contingency planning, but we
will go to Mr. Luckett to expand on that.

He is online

remote.
MR. LUCKETT:
Luckett, AECOM.

For the record, Mark

Thank you, Ms. Vickerd.
Specifically around the question of do we

have an ability to change the process treatment line-up
based on the characteristics of the leachate that we
receive at the plant, I think the straightforward answer is
yes, we do.

We do have inherent buffers built into the

design.
Just one maybe quick example, I think, is
the equalization tanks, which are there primarily to
accommodate a back-to-back kind of geostorm event, but they
actually offer a buffer so that if we have to adjust the
treatment plant we do have a period of time that is
afforded to us by the buffer tanks.
We have space within the wastewater
treatment plant to add additional ion exchange columns.
have space in the treatment plant to -- as the intervenor

We

points out, reverse osmosis is an alternative design

103

technology.

We do have space to incorporate that if at the

end of the day we need to.

However, our bench and pilot

scale testing program did indicate that chemical
precipitation, membrane filtration and ion exchange were
effective in removing both the radiological and the
non-radiological constituents of concern.
So perhaps I will leave it there.

If

there are further questions, I'm happy to answer.
THE PRESIDENT:

Thank you very much for

that.
You have raised some other questions which
I'm sure we will get to over the next few days.

I do want

to thank you for your intervention, for your presentation
and for some very thoughtful considerations for us.

I

really appreciate that, thank you.
We will move to our next presentation,
which is by the Organization of Canadian Nuclear
Industries, as outlined in CMD 22-H7.10, and we have Mr.
Brian Fehrenbach with us to make the presentation.
Mr. Fehrenback, over to you, please.

104

CMD 22-H7.10
Oral presentation by the
Organization of Canadian Nuclear Industries

MR. FEHRENBACH:

Good morning, everybody.

My name is Brian Fehrenbach and I am proud to be here today
as both a nuclear professional and a longtime resident of
Deep River in support of Canadian Nuclear Laboratories'
application to amend its Chalk River Laboratories site
licence to authorize the construction of a Near Surface
Disposal Facility.
The Organization of Canadian Nuclear
Industries is the leading voice of the Canadian nuclear
supply chain and its 240 members and associates.

Founded

in 1979, OCNI actively promotes the production of safe,
clean and reliable nuclear energy, as well as the
establishment of the needed infrastructure to carry out and
manage nuclear projects in Canada.
In 1979 the Canadian nuclear landscape
looked different than it does today, smaller and with fewer
reactors, but even then the industry was anchored by Atomic
Energy of Canada Limited at its Chalk River Laboratories
site.

Our industry has grown and changed over the last 40

years and Canada is a tier 1 nuclear nation competing to
supply products and services around the world.
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The nature of AECL has also changed with
the implementation of the GoCo model and now CNL is an
active supplier and participant in the nuclear industry,
leveraging its experts and facilities to provide services
and research to the Canadian and global nuclear industry.
This is due in part to the strong capabilities on its site
and its track record for safe and reliable operations.
In fact, this Wednesday OCNI will be
co-hosting our annual Supplier Day event at CNL, with a
wide array of exhibitors and attendees, attesting to the
very vital role that CNL plays today in the Canadian
nuclear industry.
And just as it has for the last 40 years,
OCNI is proud to support Canadian Nuclear Laboratories in
its application for various activities to support the
Canadian nuclear supply chain, including today's
application to authorize the construction of a Near Surface
Disposal Facility for low-level radioactive waste.
One of the reasons that Canada is a
competitive tier 1 nuclear nation is because Canada has a
long history of safely executing nuclear projects and
managing nuclear assets, all under the governance of the
Canadian Nuclear Safety Commission.

For approximately 70

years the Canadian nuclear industry has developed and
refined its expertise as a tier 1 nuclear country and this
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includes its world-class nuclear regulatory regime,
evidenced through its influence on the nuclear regulatory
practices in other CANDU countries.
The CNSC, through its continuous
investigation of new technologies and international
collaboration, is able to provide Canadians a strong and
reliable licensing framework for nuclear operators that
helps ensure the safest and most robust nuclear activity.
Today as I am working with Canadian
suppliers in countries across Europe, the CNSC is well
known and active in promoting its regulatory excellence.
To continue our tradition as a strong tier
1 nuclear country, Canada must now implement solutions to
ensure the safe and secure disposal of the waste products
from its many nuclear activities.

To date, the industry

has mostly relied upon interim solutions for storage
because either the current volumes, activities or
requirements did not yet require a more permanent solution.
Now, with active refurbishments and revitalization projects
across the country, the time has come for the Canadian
nuclear industry to execute its long plan solutions for the
disposal of waste from nuclear projects and operations.
In fact, as I meet with industries in
Canadian locations that are new to nuclear and who are
considering some of the SMR projects that are being looked
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at, the question of waste products from producing nuclear
energy comes up regularly.

The time is now for our

industry to become more comfortable answering the question
and to make use of the many modern technologies and depth
of Canadian expertise in developing our solutions.
This is another key point today, that the
technology related to understanding and managing nuclear
waste products has become much more sophisticated, both for
research as well as the advancements made in other
jurisdictions and incorporated here.
Today we are specifically considering the
Canadian Nuclear Laboratories' application to amend its
Chalk River Laboratories site licence to authorize the
construction of a Near Surface Disposal Facility.

This

facility is a permanent, environmentally sound
technological solution that includes a highly engineered
containment mound, site infrastructure and wastewater
treatment facilities.

The design uses natural and

synthetic barriers that work together to ensure the
integrity of the facility will last more than 1,000 years,
much longer than the time it will take for the
radioactivity contained within to decay to a safe level.
Furthermore, all waste to be disposed of
at the facility will be required to meet the established
waste acceptance criteria to assure compliance with
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operational and long-term safety requirements.

As a

nuclear energy professional with more than 20 years of
experience, I know that the design will be appropriate for
its contents, the requirements will be sound and it will be
operated safely.

These traits have been demonstrated over

and over by our industry and, as mentioned, they are some
of the reasons why Canada is a tier 1 nuclear nation.
In addition to presenting OCNI's support
for this project, I wish to add my personal endorsement as
a longtime resident of Deep River.

I am fortunate to have

lived in Deep River and to have benefited from an education
about the benefits and safe use of nuclear energy, all
while enjoying the pristine natural environment surrounding
the site.

As a result, I am extremely confident in CNL's

ability to safely execute and operate the proposed Near
Surface Disposal Facility according to the terms of the
proposed licence amendment.

Thank you.

THE PRESIDENT:

Thank you, Mr. Fehrenbach.

Let's start with Dr. Lacroix with any
questions, please.
MEMBER LACROIX:

Thank you very much,

Mr. Fehrenbach, for your presentation.
I have no questions.
THE PRESIDENT:
Ms. Maharaj...?

Thank you.
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MEMBER MAHARAJ:

I don't have any

questions, Madam Velshi.
THE PRESIDENT:

Mr. Fehrenbach, you said

you said you are a long-term resident of Deep River.

What

do you hear from your neighbours around this project and
the kinds of concerns they may have?
MR. FEHRENBACH:

So most -- so me and my

neighbours don't live in Deep River anymore, but we are
still in touch and generally speaking, Madam President, my
friends and neighbours are all in support of this, mostly
because we have had the benefit of growing up understanding
how well the Chalk River site operates, how safe it has
been, and so, you know, when you grow up with that kind of
exposure, then you don't tend to be concerned when they
move on to carry out projects under the normal course of
their operations.
THE PRESIDENT:

Thank you.

Thank you for

your intervention and presentation.
We are running a little ahead of schedule,
so we are going to see if we can rejig the agenda a bit.
Are we good?
--- Off record discussion / Discussion officieuse
THE PRESIDENT:

Just give us 30 seconds to

see if we can get our next intervenor to join us remotely.
--- Pause
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THE PRESIDENT:

If not, we will take an

THE PRESIDENT:

Is Monsieur Gagnon online?

early lunch.
--- Pause

Oh, perfect.

Okay.
La prochaine présentation est par le

Responsable national et Co-autorité réglementaire de la
radioprotection du Québec, tel qu'indiqué dans le document
CMD 22-H7.137.
L'ingénieur Martin Benoît Gagnon
présentera ce mémoire.
Monsieur Gagnon, vous avez la parole.

CMD 22-H7.137
Présentation orale par le
Responsable national et Co-autorité réglementaire
de la radioprotection du Québec

ING. GAGNON : Oui.

Je vais faire un

partage d'écran, à moins que la Commission a déjà ma
présentement entre les mains et puisse la mettre.
--- Pause
ING. GAGNON : Est-ce que les gens voient
l'écran présentement?
M. SAUMURE : Non, on ne voit pas votre
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présentation à date, M. Gagnon.
--- Pause
ENG. GAGNON:
participants screen sharing.

Because (indiscernible)
This is the reason of that.

You have already our PowerPoint.

So is it possible for the

Commission to give us access to the possibility of sharing
our screens?
M. SAUMURE : M. Gagnon, on avait reçu
votre soumission écrite, mais il n'y a pas de présentation
PowerPoint.

Donc, si vous voulez faire votre présentation

orale, vous pouvez procéder.
ING. GAGNON : O.K.

On va y aller comme

ça.
Alors, comme il est dit, je suis ingénieur
Martin Benoît Gagnon.

Je demande bien respectueusement à

ce qu'on remplace en pronominal Monsieur par Ingénieur,
comme Dr Tremblay ou Me Lafortune.
Ceci étant dit, je suis Responsable
national et Co-autorité réglementaire de la radioprotection
pour l'ensemble du Québec pour les milieux populationnel,
environnemental, clinique et du travail.
Je suis accompagné du Dr Yvan Dutil, qui
est physicien licencié qui fait partie de mon équipe.
Avant de commencer, le premier point
important à dire c'est que les positions du Responsable
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national de la radioprotection ne sont pas nécessairement
celles où avec lesquelles le Gouvernement du Québec ou le
ministère de la Santé partage à cause d'indépendance dont
je dois jouir.
Alors, dans un premier temps, on voudrait
saluer et remercier, salutations aux Membres de la
Commission canadienne de sûreté nucléaire, aux Laboratoires
nucléaires canadiens, aux autres intervenants, ainsi qu'aux
auditeurs.

Remerciements aussi à la Commission canadienne

de sûreté nucléaire de nous recevoir et de nous permettre
d'être présents aujourd'hui.

Aussi, remerciements aux

membres des Laboratoires nucléaires canadiens, avec qui
nous avons pu échanger au cours des dernières années.
Je me permets ici rapidement, à l'écoute
des autres intervenants, qu'il y a des questions qui sont
intéressantes qui feraient l'objet de discussions et
d'échanges intéressants, mais ne sera pas le propos ici.
Je vais quand même me permettre deux
éléments immédiatement.
Effectivement, aujourd'hui, tous ensemble,
on prend nos responsabilités dans notre période de temps
qui nous est alloué par la vie.

Par contre, ces

infrastructures-là nous ont été léguées par les générations
antérieures, puis les générations futures auront aussi des
responsabilités par rapport à la gestion de l'endroit.
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Alors, quand on entend dire qu'on ne veut pas repousser les
responsabilités aux générations futures, il faudrait
peut-être nuancer.

Mais effectivement, aujourd'hui, on

prend les responsabilités qui nous incombent.
Maintenant, de façon générale, le constat
sommaire est le suivant.

Maintenant sur la bonne voie,

nous sommes relativement confiants que le projet répondra
aux exigences requises en matière de sûreté et de sécurité.
Par contre, les premiers rapports du projet ont suscité des
doutes et des interrogations sérieuses chez nous.

C'est

pourquoi nous allons rester vigilants et suivrons avec
intérêt le dossier.
Commentaires généraux, observations
générales, d'autres intervenants l'ont dit, la nouvelle
mouture du projet présentée est nettement meilleure que la
proposition originale, tant par sa forme que sur son fond.
Notamment, au niveau de la proposition
originale, pour faire un retour, il y avait certains
manquements, certaines règles de l'art, que sont les lois,
les règlements, les normes, les bonnes pratiques de la
gestion des déchets radioactifs, semblaient avoir été
ignorées, notamment, la Loi sur les ingénieurs de
l'Ontario, qui, dans certains cas, les documents auraient
dû être signés et scellés par des ingénieurs en règle au
sein de l'Ordre des Ingénieurs de l'Ontario.
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Il y a aussi au niveau de l'expertise qui
nous apparaissait limitée en matière d'évaluation et de
risque, notamment quant à la période récurrente des
précipitations externes, qui se trouvaient à être
inférieures à la durée de vie utile du projet.
C'est les commentaires qu'on a faits.

Je

pense que ça été pris en compte par la Commission
canadienne de sûreté nucléaire et aussi des Laboratoires
nucléaires canadiens.
Toujours à la proposition originale, ça
soulevait des doutes sur le sérieux de la culture de la
sûreté nucléaire au sein des Laboratoires nucléaires
canadiens.

Par contre et aussi avec ravissement ou

surprise, à la visite puis aux échanges avec le personnel
scientifique et technique, dont les ingénieurs, selon notre
observation, ce n'était pas le cas de ces gens-là, qui
semblaient très compétents dans leur domaine.
Question encore en suspens, c'est
justement à la lumière des échanges qui avaient eu lieu à
Chalk River et à Rolphton lors de notre visite avec les
représentants des Laboratoires nucléaires canadiens, on
peut encore se demander pourquoi l'utilisation d'un « toit
amovible », comme nous l'avions proposé, n'est pas utilisé.
Bien entendu, j'ai entendu les intervenants précédents; ils
ont soulevé le même problème.

Il y a eu des réponses de
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LNC.
La question était à l'époque, puis encore
aujourd'hui, le débit du lixiviat acheminé au traitement
doit se situer dans un certain intervalle.

À ce titre,

l'intrant hydrique dans la masse des déchets doit pouvoir
être contrôlé tant en périodes de précipitation élevée que
celles de sécheresse, et ce, tant pour éviter la dispersion
dans le milieu que pour l'efficacité et l'efficience du
processus.
Alors, j'ai compris par les interrogations
antérieures qu'il y a aura des spécifications plus précises
à ce niveau-là.
Pour la suite, je vais laisser la parole
au Dr Yvan Dutil, qui est membre de mon équipe, pour
reprendre la parole à la toute dernière fin.

Vous

comprendrez qu'on suit notre présentation PowerPoint.
Merci.
Dr DUTIL : Bonjour à tous.

Merci de nous

permettre de discuter avec vous.
Nous, on avait quelques petits points
spécifiques qui ont été invoqués par d'autres intervenants
ce matin.
Donc, pour la période post-fermeture, un
point qu'on a soulevé à quelques reprises c'est la
conservation de l'information, de ce qu'il y dans le site,
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de façon précise pour que dans le futur, si on a à creuser
ou à retourner sur le site, qu'on sache ce qu'il y a
dedans, ne serait-ce que pour des activités de recherche
scientifique pour savoir comment vieillir ces déchets dans
le temps, mais il faut que ça soit disponible, que cette
information-là soit pérenne dans le temps, qu'on puisse
dans 300-400 ans l'extraire.
Un autre élément sur lequel on a posé des
questions puis on n'a pas eu de réponse, en tout cas
personnellement moi, c'était comment on va extraire le sol,
c'est quoi les procédures pour l'extraction des sols
contaminés.

On sait qu'il y a des procédures très strictes

pour la démolition des bâtiments à Chalk River, mais quand
on va aller creuser dans le sol des sites contaminés, puis
on sait comment ça été contaminé, la façon dont ça été
stocké, les déchets, dans les années cinquante, soixante,
cet endroit-là, il y a un risque important de contamination
de l'environnement, et on n'a pas...

Je sais que c'est

encore préliminaire, mais on n'a pas eu d'indication sur
les mesures de précaution qui vont être prises pour ne pas
contaminer.

Parce que tout le but de la manœuvre c'est de

prendre ces sites, ces serres-là contaminées par des
déchets radioactifs et d'autres choses et l'amener dans un
endroit confiné.

Mais dans le processus, là, on va avoir

une étape où il y a un niveau de risque plus élevé, puis on
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voudrait avoir une clarification là-dessus.
Des points plus spécifiques, quelque chose
qui nous a un petit peu accroché, dans le document on
mentionne que dans la phase post-fermeture, et ça été
mentionné un peu plus tôt, on s'attend à maintenir une
certain activité de maintenance sur le site après la phase
de fermeture.

Au sens strict, ça ne correspond pas à

l'idée de la phase post-fermeture de l'Agence
internationale de l'énergie atomique.

Quand un site est

fermé, on n'a pas à faire des activités de maintenance pour
le maintenir sécuritaire.
reste sécuritaire.

On ne fait que vérifier qu'il

Et ça, ça pose un problème.

S'il faut

qu'il y ait des gens qui soient là pour s'assurer que les
arbres ne poussent pas, ça veut dire que le design n'a
pas... demande une présence.

Ça ne devrait pas être une

nécessité pour un site d'enfouissement.
dire : Je l'abandonne.

On devrait pouvoir

Mon concept est suffisamment

sécuritaire que pour les 500 prochaines années, même si on
n'est plus là, il va rester sécuritaire.
Un autre élément -- puis ça, ça été
soulevé par d'autres personnes -- bien, on prévoit d'amener
des déchets de Whiteshell à Chalk River.
1 900 kilomètres de distance.
considérables.

C'est quand même

C'est des volumes assez

On parle 10 000 mètres cubes de déchets.

En fait, nous, ce n'est pas...

Il y a Whiteshell, mais
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aussi il y a la même question pour la question de
Gentilly-1, qui est plus près.
près de Chalk River.
Gentilly-2.

C'est 100 kilomètres à peu

Mais nous, Gentilly-1 est à côté de

Ça fait que, contrairement à Whiteshell, il va

rester un site nucléaire dans l'environnement, et cette
idée-là de déplacer des déchets d'activité faible sur des
centaines de kilomètres, alors que probablement qu'on va
avoir besoin d'un site local de stockage, il me semble que
ça mérite un peu de réflexion puis une peu de discussion
avec Hydro-Québec puis le Gouvernement du Québec pour
planifier.

Parce que, éventuellement, je pense que

Gentilly-1 va être déclassé avant Gentilly-2, il y aurait
une synergie puis une collaboration à aller chercher là.
Une autre chose qui a accroché un peu
notre attention, c'est encore là les effluents du site.
Les normes de référence pour la protection du biote, on a
mis 100 micrograys pour le biote terrestre, puis 400
micrograys, qui répondent à certaines normes.

Remarquez,

ce ne sont pas des normes particulièrement sévères.

Pour

les sites sensibles au Québec, on a des normes plus
sévères.

On s'entend que le Lac Perch n'est pas vraiment

un site d'une grande richesse pour la biodiversité, mais
quand même.

Et ça, c'est des niveaux qu'on voit à

Chernobyl, là.

Ça donne une drôle d'impression qu'on va

respecter des normes environnementales qui correspondent à

119

la Forêt Rouge à Chernobyl.

Puis les valeurs, je les

connais parce que je les ai regardées dans les dernières
semaines, parce que les soldats russes ont creusé là.

Mais

c'est des niveaux quand même passablement élevés.
Je vais laisser la place à mon collègue
ingénieur Gagnon pour le reste, pour la conclusion.
M. GAGNON: Oui.

Alors, encore une fois,

on répète notre conclusion initiale.
globalement ensemble une bonne chose.
voie.

On pense qu'on fait
On est sur la bonne

On est relativement confiant que le projet va

répondre éventuellement aux requis en matière de sûreté
puis de sécurité.

Par contre, on doit rester, tout un

chacun, vigilant puis suivre avec intérêt le dossier, puis
en espérant qu'on puisse continuer à échanger de façon
harmonieuse, qui a été faite jusqu'à maintenant.
Sur ce, merci, puis désolé pour les
problèmes techniques, puis aussi pour la présentation.

Ça

aurait été plus intéressant si vous aviez pu voir notre
présentation visuelle.
y en avait.

Sur ce, on prend des questions s'il

Merci.
LA PRÉSIDENTE : Merci pour votre

présentation.

Je donne la parole à Dr Lacroix.

Avez-vous

des questions?
MEMBRE LACROIX : Oui, bien sûr.
Merci, Monsieur Gagnon et Dr Dutil pour
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cette présentation.

Vous soulevez plusieurs points fort

intéressants et très clairs.
Le premier c'est au sujet de la mémoire
collective des déchets.

Je vais demander à CNL si on peut

répondre à cette question.

Va-t-il y avoir un registre

très spécifique des déchets qui sont enfouis dans le NSDF?
MS. VICKERD: Meggan Vickerd, for the
record.
With respect to the inventory, the
record -- so CNL, the Chalk River site and specifically
NSDF is a Class 1B facility, so we need to comply with the
CSA Standard N286 with respect to our management system and
that includes records management.

We also comply with CSA

Standard, the 292 series which identifies the information
from a waste data that we need to maintain within our
inventory.

So there will be a recordkeeping system in

place for as long as required and because it is a disposal
facility that does mean a very long time, but we trust that
we will be able to evolve with the standards of how records
management systems evolve.
MEMBRE LACROIX : La deuxième question, ça
concerne l'excavation de sites contaminés.

Pouvez-vous en

dire quelques mots?
MS. VICKERD:
record.

Meggan Vickerd, for the
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So the facility's decommissioning and the
cleanup of containment sites at Chalk River are activities
that can be conducted under the existing licence at the
Chalk River site, so they are not necessarily specific to
the NSDF Project.

They would be conducted through our

decommissioning, our clean-up program, plus overseeing
through our environmental protection program.
So if you do want more details than that,
we can go to Ms. Sarah Brewer to provide explanation of how
we plan decommissioning and clean-up.

And then perhaps Mr.

Dolinar of how the environmental protection program
oversees and ensures that many of the concerns brought up
by this intervenor we have within our existing licence.
MEMBRE LACROIX : M. Gagnon, voulez-vous
plus de précisions?
ING. GAGNON : Pour l'instant, on
communiquera avec les champs directement, je pense, la
première chose.

C'est juste pour vous rappeler si vous

pouvez m'interpeller ingénieur Gagnon au lieu de monsieur,
ça serait apprécié.

Mais sinon, on communiquera avec les

gens de la Commission.
MEMBRE LACROIX : D'accord.
Ingénieur Gagnon, de me corriger.
ING. GAGNON : Merci.
MEMBRE LACROIX : Merci.

Merci,
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Autre question, ça concerne l'abandon du
site.

Comment va-t-il se faire?
This question is for CNL.

Yes, the

abandonment of the site.
MS. VICKERD:

Meggan Vickerd, for the

record.
Just for clarification, do you mean how
the site will be -- how NSDF will be closed or how the
Chalk River land use is planned?
MEMBER LACROIX:

How will it be closed and

when will it be closed and it will be abandoned?
MS. VICKERD:

Meggan Vickerd, for the

record.
So for clarity, as a disposal facility,
CNL is not proposing abandonment.

So as a disposal

facility, we do have an existing closure plan that we have
produced as a preliminary document of what our plan is to
close the site.

Within that closure plan we identify

institutional controls such as fences or monuments to
identify and flag the site.

That closure plan will require

a review of some (indiscernible) through the lifetime of
the facility.

Again, when we propose to close the facility

and decommission the site, that plan would undergo further
review from CNSC and applications to the CNSC Commission to
close and decommission the facility and it would certainly
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ensure that it was in alignment with international
standards at that time.
MEMBRE LACROIX : Ingénieur Gagnon, est-ce
que répond à vos questions?
INV. GAGNON : Je vais peut-être profiter
pour apporter une précision.

Bien qu'il y a la fermeture,

mais dans la phase post-fermeture, selon les normes
internationales, il y a une surveillance qui doit être
faite, et dans ce cas-ci pour au moins un siècle.

Alors,

effectivement, on ne peut pas abandonner un site.

Il y a

de la surveillance qui va être faite suite à la fermeture,
mais ça, je pense que les gens de la Commission puis LNC
sont très au courant de ces éléments-là.

C'est un peu dans

le sens dont les réponses ont été données.

Merci.

LA PRÉSIDENTE : Merci.
Madame Maharaj...?
MEMBRE MAHARAJ : Je n'ai pas de question.
THE PRESIDENT:

Okay.

you very much for your intervention.

Thank you.

Thank

I very much

appreciate you stepping in with the flexibility that you
have shown.

Thank you.
With that, we will break for lunch and

come back at 1 o'clock.
Thank you.
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--- Upon recessing at 12:05 p.m. /
Suspension à 12 h 05
--- Upon resuming at 1:00 p.m. /
Reprise à 13 h 00

THE PRESIDENT:

Welcome back.

Are we

ready to move to our next presentation, which is by the
Canadian Environmental Law Association as outlined in CMDs
22-H.104 and 104A, and I believe it's Kerrie Blaise
presenting.

So, Ms. Blaise, over to you, please.

CMD 22-H7.104/22-H7.104A
Oral Presentation by the
Canadian Environmental Law Association

MS. BLAISE:

Thank you so much, and good

afternoon President Velshi and Members of the Commission.
I am Kerrie Blaise, legal counsel at the
Canadian Environmental Law Association, and I'm pleased to
be joined today by our executive Director, Theresa
McClenaghan, and online also legal counsel Krystal-Anne
Roussel is joining us.
I would also like to confirm before we
begin that our two experts, Dr. Markvart and Dr. Fairlie
are on Zoom?
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THE PRESIDENT:
on Zoom?

Can we confirm?

Are they

Thank you.
SPEAKER:

Wonderful.

Thank you very much.

The Canadian Environmental Law Association
or CELA is a public interest law organization dedicated to
environmental equity, justice, and health.

We were founded

in 1970, and we are an environmental legal aid clinic
providing legal aid services to low income people and
disadvantaged communities with financial support from Legal
Aid Ontario.

We represent clients and provide public legal

education on a range of issues aimed at protecting human
health, air, land, water, and nature.
We are pleased today to be joined by
Dr. Tanya Markvart, who is an Environmental Consultant with
expertise in Strategic Sustainability Planning, and Dr. Ian
Fairlie, who is an independent citizen scientist who has a
specialization in radioactivity and the environment.

Their

expert reports can be found at pages 21 and 32 of our
written intervention.
The CNSC has been tasked with making a
determination as to whether or not the NSDF project is
likely to cause significant adverse environmental effects.
In making this determination on significance, there are a
number of factors the CNSC must consider.
In the interests of time, we'll only take
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you through two of the potential approaches that could
guide the CNSC in its finding of significance.
First, we will review the purposes of CEAA
2012 and their relevance; and second we'll review some of
the listed factors in CEAA 2012 which ought to have guided
this environmental assessment.
Our comments this afternoon build on our
rich intervention and our more than 20 recommendations that
CELA provided to the Commission regarding the sufficiency
of CNL's Environmental Impact Statement, and I would like
to note before continuing that on this slide, it does read
section 7 at the bottom in bold and that should read
section 5.
So the CNSC's determination on whether the
project will cause significant adverse environmental effect
must be informed by the purposes of CEAA 2012, as set out
in section 4 of the Act, which among other items include
that the CNSC take actions that promote sustainable
development.

You will see we have that bolded in

subsection (h) on this slide.

Sustainability represents a

goal in which biophysical, human, and socioeconomic systems
co-exist.

It's also the process or program that allows for

development which meets the needs of the present, without
compromising the ability of future generations to meet
their own needs.
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As we detail at page 22 of our written
intervention, the philosophy of sustainable development
invokes the precautionary principle and the polluter pays
principle, both of which encourage society to act in the
long-term protection of the planet and future generations.
CNL's final EIS provides a list of the policies, guidelines
and standards upon which its EIS is based, including their
environmental policy and CNSC guidelines and the
International Finance Corporation 2012 standards for
environmental and social sustainability performance.
In addition, specifically section 2.5.1 of
CNL's EIS sets out the criteria, the technical feasibility
and the likely environmental effects upon which its
evaluation of alternative means is based.
While these policies and guidelines and
standards highlight the importance of sustainability
considerations in nuclear waste management and as they
note, energy efficiency and pollution prevention and
community engagement, they alone do not constitute a
comprehensive integrated conceptual framework and steps for
evaluating impacts.

Rather, they mainly stand as a set of

ideas that implicitly guide the evaluations.
In this regard, CELA recommended in our
earlier comments in 2017 on the draft EIS that the CNL must
set out how the three evaluation criteria chosen --
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technical feasibility, economic, and the likely
environmental effects -- constitute a comprehensive suite
of sustainability concerns.

CNL's response documents and

its final EIS fail to provide adequate information in this
regard and have not been responsive to the issues raised by
our sustainability expert, Dr. Tanya Markvart.

It is CNL

that bears the burden of demonstrating that all the
purposes of CEAA 2012, including that of sustainable
development, are met.

In other words, it falls to CNL to

submit the necessary evidence to meet the Act's purposes,
including how those risks -- my apologies.

Unfortunately,

CNL's consideration of sustainability remains critically
flawed and their evaluation criteria does not capture the
intergenerational and intragenerational justice concerns
surrounding the distribution of economic, health and
safety, and environmental costs, the risks, and the burdens
of the project over its lifetime.
Returning to the statutory purposes
enumerated in the Act, CEAA 2012, it requires that the CNSC
ensure the project is considered in a careful and
precautionary manner in order to avoid significant adverse
environmental effects.
As we discuss at pages 11 through 12 and
as set out in Dr. Markvart's report at pages 27 and 28, the
precautionary principle in section 4(2) of CEAA 2012
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requires a precautionary approach whereby if there is
sufficient evidence that an activity is likely to cause
irreversible harm to the environment, the decision-maker is
obliged to prevent or terminate the activity.

This

principle of international environmental law has been
adopted into Canada's application of environmental law as
held by the Supreme Court of Canada in its seminal 2001
decision of Spraytech.

This means in addition to being the

statutory purpose of the Act, the precautionary principle
is an interpretive aid that the CNSC can rely on in making
its determination regarding significance.
We find that CNL has not upheld the
precautionary principle and thus is not in alignment with
the Act.

As drafted, CNL asserts that for the NSDF, waste

retrieval is not intended nor required and thus is not
assessed.

However, CNL acknowledges the potential need for

waste retrieval and it notes that a safety assessment for
waste retrieval would be required prior to retrieval
activities.

CELA submits this approach where CNL site has

expressly excluded considerations of retrievability but has
acknowledged it might be necessary down the road is a
fundamental flaw of the EIS and contrary to the
precautionary principle.

CNL's failure to devote

appropriate attention to retrievability in the design of
the project is a critical deficiency, especially
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considering the long-lived nature of the radionuclides
destined for the mound and the potential for environmental
contamination.
CNL's final EIS, we submit, must
incorporate a discussion about how the NSDF's disposal cell
system will be designed to ensure that present and future
generations will be able to retrieve the waste.

This

discussion must devote attention to a range of accidents
and malfunctions and environmental impacts related to the
key components of the NSDF, notably the engineered
containment mound and its passive safety features.

It is

unjust to shift the burden of considering retrievability on
future generations who have neither created nor benefitted
from the activities that created this inherited waste.
CNL's failure to devote appropriate attention to
retrievability in the design of the project is a critical
flaw especially considering the long-lived nature destined
for the site.
As CELA has recommended throughout this
process, the nuclear waste management project must be
designed so that the waste is deposited or stored in a
retrievable manner.
Turning now to our second submission are
the listed factors in CEAA 2012 and those that ought to
have been taken into account in the EI of the designated
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project.

Among the factors within the EIS are the

alternative means of carrying out the designated project.
More detail on our submissions can be found at pages 25 to
28 and 47 to 49 of our written submission.

It remains our

submission that as drafted CNL's EIS comparison of
alternatives uses a flawed evaluation method and allows for
the systematic elimination of facility type and facility
designs based on one criterion or two as opposed to a
comparative evaluation that would allow us to transparently
review whether, for instance, the impacts of transporting
the waste offsite are preferable to those using the CRL
site; and what remains altogether unaddressed in the
evaluation of alternative means are the anticipated
radiation dose to members of the public as a function of
time, impacts of the alternative means considering all
phases and risk of escape of radionuclides over a very long
time frame.
I will briefly conclude by stating that as
we detail in more -- apologies.

We have included a number

of slides so everyone can read through them later, but in
the interests of time I will just conclude by saying that
there remains substantive deficiencies in CNL's
consideration of alternatives and the EIS's use of
integration of sustainability and precaution and there
remain outstanding concerns related to human health and
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safety.

Ultimately, the CNSC's determination on

significant environmental effects must be judged in light
of the context which must be comprehensive in scope and
include a range of effects, positive and negative, and pay
careful attention to the purposes and factors that are
enumerated in CEAA 2012.

We remind CNL that without a

finding of no significant environmental effects they are
prohibited from doing anything in connection with the
project, including seeking a licence.
Subject to any questions the Commission
may have, those are our submissions.
THE PRESIDENT:
your submission.

Thank you.

Thank you very much for

Let's open it up for questions and we'll

start with Ms. Maharaj, please.
MEMBER MAHARAJ:

That you, Madame Velshi.

Thank you for your presentation.
I wanted to start with your comments
around retrievability of waste in the future.

You

indicated that there's no specific planning for waste to be
retrieved but that you would like to see some consideration
or concept of how it could be retrieved.

So I'm struggling

with the concept, the difference between storing materials
in a retrievable manner and planning to not retrieve them
or to retrieve them in the future, and I don't think those
are necessarily inconsistent but I would like to ask CNL if
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you can speak to that concept of whether or not the
materials are stored in a manner which could result in them
being retrievable even if you don't have a plan to retrieve
them at this point in time?
MR. BOYLE:

Phil Boyle for the record.

I will start with a general comment,
Commissioner, and then perhaps Ms. Vickerd can describe
more about the specific design of the NSDF.
So the concept of disposal is
fundamentally different than storage in the sense that
storage implies you are prepared to remove the material
from storage at some later date; and disposal is intended
to be -- we have dispositioned this on a permanent basis
and it does not require excess into the future.

So the

concept with the NSDF is that end-to-end life cycle, if you
will, for this material, where we dispose of it and it does
not require access into the future.

Currently right now we

are storing material, and that requires not only some
amount of effort but it increases the risk of an event, it
increases the effort that has to be taken as the facilities
fill up and we have to get new facilities and we have to
clear more land.

The idea of disposal is

1:15:35 to

invest series, if you will, and establish a condition that
we are done with this material, other than, of course,
monitoring throughout, as will be intended.
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Ms. Vickerd, would you add anything to
that?
MS. VICKERD:

Meggan Vickerd for the

record.
To complement that response, I just want
to clarify that disposal by definition means no intention
of retrieval.

We've prepared and submitted a safety case

according to the Nuclear Safety Control Act and an EIS
according to the CEAA 2012 which demonstrates that the
facility has been designed in accordance with that concept,
through its passive engineered features, and in all the
scenarios we have assessed -- and we assessed a wide range
of scenarios -- none of the scenarios assessed has
demonstrated there would be any significant effects that
would warrant retrieval of the waste.

So we do believe

that we have put forward a design, we have the management
systems and we have the people and the capacity to ensure
that the facility can be operated to ensure the waste is
passively disposed of and it would withstand any plausible
scenarios.
MEMBER MAHARAJ:

So then just to bring

that together, based on your modelling there would be no
reason to anticipate that you would ever want to retrieve
those materials.

But in placing them, are they in place in

a way that, should there be an unanticipated situation,
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that it would be impossible to retrieve them in order to
address that situation, something maybe you haven't thought
of.
MS. VICKERD:

Meggan Vickerd for the

record.
That's a correct understanding.

There's

no intention for retrieval because it is a disposal
facility.

We have not identified any significant events or

adverse effects that would warrant retrievable, but should
they occur, it's not impossible.
MEMBER MAHARAJ:
THE PRESIDENT:
MEMBER LACROIX:

Thank you.
Dr. Lacroix?
Well, Mrs. Blaise,

Ms. McClenaghan, thank you very much for your presentation
and also for the submission.

I appreciate it.

You have a number of recommendations, and
I'm sure that most of these recommendations and concerns
will be addressed in the course of this week.
I want to focus on Recommendation No. 23
in your Oral Presentation.

You mention the extremely large

quantity of cobalt should be placed -- and so on -- and I
was intrigued by the word "extremely large quantity of
Cobalt-60."

And this question is redirected to CNL as well

as to staff.
We know the mass of Mo, we know they have
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a

1:18:28 number, we know the half-life, and we know the

amount of radioactivity that will be stored of Cobalt-60,
which is

need superscript here

9 to 10 to the 16th, so it

is possible with a back-of-the-envelope calculation to
translate this radioactivity into a mass, and I would like
you guys to perform this very simple calculation and to
provide us with this answer to have an idea because when
someone provides me with

2 to the 16th Becquerels, I mean

this is a huge number, but in terms of kilograms, how many
kilograms, so it would give us a good idea?
And the second thing, what is the origin
of this Cobalt-60 and what is its state?
MS. VICKERD:

Thank you.

Meggan Vickerd for the

record.
I will address the first part of your
question, but we have also have already calculated the mass
of Cobalt-60 if it's wanted from CNL.
With respect to origin of Cobalt-60,
Cobalt-60 is an activation product and is present in a lot
of our low level waste stream.

It's present as

contamination on protective equipment, clothing from work
within our hot cells with -- previous CNL has a -- and
previously ACL has a history in medical iso production,
including Cobalt-60, and so we did work with Cobalt-60 a
lot in the early era of medical isotope in Canada.

So we
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do have legacy waste, we have existing waste from operating
reactors at all of our sites that would have some Cobalt-60
contamination in it.

There is some disuse sources.

I just

want to clarify, not all disuse sources will qualify for
NSDF, and I'm sure we'll get into that later this week, but
we will within our Waste Acceptance Criteria document -certainly intervenors are taking the number of Cobalt-60 in
our reference -- in our inventory or limit as to how much
Cobalt-60 is permissible, but the Waste Acceptance Criteria
needs to be read in its entirety and that a waste stream
that we consider whether or not it's eligible for NSDF
needs to be compliant with all Waste Acceptance Criteria
within that WAC document, and within that WAC document
includes a section that includes disuse sources, that we
will comply with IAEA recommendations as to what disuse
sources would qualify for near surface disposal and we are
in agreement and alignment that it should only be weak
source strengths.

So although we have a total limit of

Cobalt-60 and that mass is about 2.2 kilograms of
Cobalt-60, with all that

1:21:13, that doesn't mean that

we will receive up to that amount because we have other
criteria, disuse source criteria as well as actually -- we
also have a dose limit criteria that would limit the amount
of receipt of Cobalt-60 into the facility.
THE PRESIDENT:

Dr. Lacroix was saying he
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came up with 2.1 kilograms so...
--- Laughter / Rires
THE PRESIDENT:

Of course he did.

Right.

Maybe I'll just ask more just on the
Cobalt-60.

So of this

9 times 10 to the 16 Becquerel

inventory, how much of that will be from disuse sources?
MS. VICKERD:

Meggan Vickerd for the

record.
Our rough calculation is that that
Cobalt-60 comes from an inventory that we currently have so
the way that we develop the reference inventory includes
looking at the waste data records we have for the last
couple decades and then extrapolating based on the waste we
expect to produce.

So it does have disuse sources, and we

screen that reference inventory against the IEAE thresholds
for what qualifies for low level waste.

We have not

screened it against the IAEA recommendation for how to
screen out disuse sources, so it does represent about
80 percent of -- I think roughly 80 percent of that
Cobalt-60 in the reference inventory limits is disuse
sources but once we start receiving -- looking at and
evaluating disuse sources on an individual level, seeing if
they comply with the dose limit for acceptance into NSDF
plus the IAEA recommendations to only receive weak strength
sources, CNL does not believe that we'll ever reach that
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maximum limit.
THE PRESIDENT:

So that's helpful.

As you

know, there's a lot of concern around the Cobalt-60
inventory and what the source of that is, and what I'm
hearing from you now is, you don't know until you've gone
through that whole acceptance process to know what that is,
which then brings me to my next question that the inventory
has changed over time from, you know, the first EIS
submission to now and which ones are the predominant
radionuclides.

Help us understand, why would it change

that significantly over time?
MS. VICKERD:

Meggan Vickerd for the

record.
So I'll start and see if a high-level
summary is sufficient, and if you need more detail, I can
go to one of our experts, Mr. Jérôme Besner.
The waste acceptance criteria is an
iterative process.

It has changed because of -- it's

informed by our safety assessments, by our design and
public feedback as well as CNSC staff and other regulatory
agencies' feedback.
a proposed reference.

So it evolves because we started with
We started with an inventory that

did initially include intermediate level waste, a small
amount of intermediate waste.

From the product description

feedback, we quickly heard and incorporated feedback from
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the public and removed any intermediate level waste from
the inventory.
So then we had a reference inventory which
we utilized to inform our modelling, our operational safety
assessment model leaned for exposure to our staff or public
in the near term, we also used that reference inventory to
inform our long-term safety modelling as to what would be
the dose consequence to a member of the public in the
future should we lose institutional controls.

You know, we

don't take institutional controls as the main -- primary
means for protecting the public.

We utilize our inventory

and the control of the inventory to ensure the public in
the future, there's no consequences to them.
We do also -- and we have a list of
significant radionuclides.

That list of significant

radionuclides is specific to that long-term modelling, the
radionuclides we know contribute to the long-term dose, so
we need to make sure we can limit them quite well and have
some very strict controls on them.
It is also informed by the design basis,
such as what the wastewater treatment plant can process or
what it's acceptable for discharge.
tritium already.

We've talked about

So it is informed from the design, the

safety assessment, and the environmental effects assessment
in the EIS, so the WAC is a very iterative process.

There
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have been many revisions.

And we always strive to make

sure that the Waste Acceptance Criteria document is
available to the public in both official languages.

And

the document, the way we've written the document itself,
has evolved.

Originally our Waste Acceptance Criteria

document is written for waste generators, so it can be very
technical in language.

But as the members of the public

expressed a keen interest in it, we evolved it to include
an appendix which would describe what the basis of a
specific criteria in the document was, so in a sense it
gave the public a better understanding of how we develop
certain criteria in the document so in that way it was more
transparent as to how we arrived at that criteria.
has been an evolution.

So it

Each of the revisions has been

submitted to CNSC staff as well for review and comment.
THE PRESIDENT:

So is the Waste Acceptance

Criteria still evolving, or is what we have now it?
MS. VICKERD:

Meggan Vickerd for the

record.
So certainly CNL would hope that it's it,
but it is dependent on the outcome of this process, and it
would also be an important operational control limit
when -- should we be successful in this application to
construct, we still have to proceed with an application to
operate.

It becomes part of the facility authority and the
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operational controls and limits when we become an operating
facility.
THE PRESIDENT:

Thank you.

I'll turn to

staff and ask them about Waste Acceptance Criteria (wack
wack) and the concerns that many have raised around not
being consistent with international standards that
Cobalt-60 is really an intermediate level waste, et cetera.
If you can just help the Commission understand where the
Waste Acceptance Criteria stands in relation to
international best practices and do you see this changing
once there's a better handle of what exactly is the
inventory that's going to be placed in the NSDF if the
project were to proceed?
MS. MURTHY:

Kavita Murthy for the record.

With respect to the Waste Acceptance
Criteria, I want to start by saying that the safety case
for the near surface disposal facility includes an
inventory that can be disposed of safely, which is called
the radiological capacity of the facility.
Now, the bounding inventory, which is
included in the Waste Acceptance Criteria document, is a
licensing basis.

It isn't something that can be increased

because that will violate the safety -- bounds of the
safety case.
The purpose of the waste acceptance
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criteria at this stage is to establish the bounding
inventory so that the post closure safety assessment and
the environmental assessment can be carried out.
So at this point in time, CNL's commitment
to apply IAEA standards to determine further how the
disposal for example of disuse sources is going to take
place, those are things that are commitments in the Waste
Acceptance Criteria document which we will hold them to.
I want to see if there is a CNSC
colleague, Matt Herod, who wants to speak in a little bit
more detail about that.
DR. HEROD:

Thank you.

Dr. Matt Herod for

the record, Senior Project Officer in the Canadian Nuclear
Labs Regulatory Program Division.
I have a few points to add.

With respect

to the WAC and the classification of radioactive waste and
the way that it integrates both GSG1, the IEAE guidance on
the classification of radioactive waste,

reg doc 2.11.1,

the CNSC's regulatory document which contains the
classification of waste, all of these -- and

CSA N292.0,

all of these contain essentially identical definitions for
low level radioactive waste, and these definitions are
contained within the Waste Acceptance Criteria and the
limits assigned to the radiological concentration of wastes
being evaluated against the WAC are derived from those
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documents, and so those limits then ensure that waste is
screened against them and ensure that waste being accepted
would remain -- would be low level radioactive waste, and
CNSC has been very engaged in reviewing this aspect of the
Waste Acceptance Criteria and ensuring that they do indeed
align both with Canadian requirements and international
guidance as well.
With respect to the alignment of our
review and the Waste Acceptance Criteria with international
guidance as well is Requirement 20 of SSR5 speaks to the
Waste Acceptance Criteria and how it must be derived from
the site-specific safety case.

Throughout these many

iterations of the Waste Acceptance Criteria that CNL
submitted for review, they were always reviewed in concert
with the post-closure safety assessment and the safety case
together to ensure that the safety criteria contained
within the Waste Acceptance Criteria was ensuring long-term
safety would be assured throughout the life cycle of the
facility as well, both in terms of the operational safety
during the facility -- for the facility during operations
as well as during that long-term post-closure period, and
that's a key aspect of what CNSC staff were looking at
during our review to ensure that it aligned with
international requirements as well.
MS. MURTHY:

Thanks.

Thank you, Dr. Herod.
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Ms. Velshi, I wonder, you had a question
about cobalt, is cobalt considered low-level waste.
To answer that question, I will start and
I will ask Mohamed Gacem to respond, to provide additional
information if I missed something.
Cobalt-60 is a short-lived radionuclide.
It has a half life of 5.27 years.

The cutoff between

short- and long-lived isotopes in the IAEA and
international standards is 30 years.

So determining

whether cobalt can be safely dispositioned in a Near
Surface Disposal Facility is an activity that is dependent
upon the safety case that is developed.
So to further elaborate on the safety case
and how it is determined, what type of waste goes in, I
will hand over to Mohamed Gacem.
MR. GASEM:

Mohamed Gacem for the record.

I'm Senior Project Officer and the Licensing Lead for the
proposed Near Surface Disposal Facility.
So when it comes to Cobalt-60, whether
it's radioactive waste from operations or processing or
disuse sources, and if we take the total radioactivity at
closure
of

1:32:52 water placement, so if you take 300 years

control, so the total amount will decay off to, I would

say, insignificant levels as 0.11 Becquerel per gram
the total activity.

from
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So when it comes to the bounding criteria
for the proposed Near Surface Disposal Facility, so the
Cobalt-60 has been put in

evidence to the safety case, so

if we consider the safety case and safety assessment,
safety in place in the Cobalt-60 in the proposed NSDF is
based on the design input to the proposed NSDF and the
long-term safety.

So the post-closure safety assessment

dictates what should be going in the NSDF and it's in the
safety case.

So all safety requirements are indicated and

included in the Waste Acceptance Criteria, as Dr. Herod
mentioned, and it will be -- so anything that will go to
the NSDF, ECM and

1:34:10 containment amount will be

compliant with the Waste Acceptance Criteria which has used
the lower bound of CSA standards and the IEAE GSG1
guidance.

Thank you.
THE PRESIDENT:

Thank you.

And I'm sure

over the next two days, when we talk about the safety case,
we will delve into that much deeper.
Ms. Maharaj?
MEMBER MAHARAJ:

Thank you, Madame Velshi.

I just have one short question about the intermediate-level
waste and low-level waste sort of around this Cobalt-60
question.
Are those types of waste co-mingled
together or are they separated for when they are going to
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be in place in the facility?

Perhaps CNL can take that

short question.
MS. VICKERD:

Meggan Vickerd for the

record.
Waste streams that we currently generate
and have generated for the last at least ten years are
separated.

We do have modern practices to segregate the

difference classifications of regulative waste based on
your waste characterization process.

Some legacy waste are

co-mingled but not co-mingled as in different types in one
package.

You could have different packages.

But we do

have a process under our current licence and management
system for retrieving legacy waste and segregating it and
characterizing it to ensure that we can separate
intermediate level waste from low level waste and we have
been doing so for the last couple of years.
MEMBER MAHARAJ:

Thank you.

One more.

This actually is a question for the CNSC
staff.
The Intervenor has raised the question of
the application of the precautionary principle in the
assessment, in the environmental assessment, and I
appreciate I'm not asking you for legal opinion on this,
Staff, but I'd like to understand better how you
incorporated the concepts of precaution into your
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assessment of the environmental assessment that was
provided?
DR. KWAMENA:

Dr. Nana Kwamena for the

record.
So the EA is a planning tool that we've
been using to assess this potential project.

And so we

ensured as we did our review that it was considered in a
precautionary manner to avoid and mitigate any
environmental effects.

So CNSC staff reviewed the

submission to ensure that there were adequate controls in
place to protect the environment and humans and respect the
concepts of pollution prevention as a result of this
potential project.
So we had a number of information
requests, and as you have heard, there have been a number
of iterations of the Environmental Impact Statement.

And

so those iterations of the EIS was a result of these
information requests which we were looking to ensure that
the environment was going to be protected, so asking a
number of questions which resulted in either additional
mitigation measures or follow-up measures which was
ensuring that the project was examined in a precautionary
manner to avoid any significant adverse effects.
So as we've noted, as a result of our
review, there have been proposed mitigation measures and
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follow-up program measures and these would be implemented
to help reduce any uncertainty, to help verify the EA
predictions, and again ensuring that there is adequate
protection to help avoid these adverse significant effects.
So based on what I have just summarized
for you, it is our finding that we have reviewed this
project to ensure that it was done in a precautionary
manner.
MEMBER MAHARAJ:

Just as a follow-up,

Dr. Kwamena.

I think what I'm looking for is a little more

granularity.

So, for example, some of the Intervenors have

spoken about different ranges and thresholds for a variety
of different components.

When I think about the

precautionary concept, what I think of is choosing the
least impactful level and saying, that's going to be the
highest that we're going to allow, rather than taking the
highest level and saying it's allowed so we're going to go
there.

Is there something concrete that you can use as an

example to demonstrate that that kind of concept is how the
staff approached the assessment?
DR. KWAMENA:

Dr. Nana Kwamena for the

record.
So when we do our reviews, we ensure that
there is a high level of conservatism that is involved in
our assessment.

But I think what would be helpful in this
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particular case is if we provide you with a specific
example.
Therefore, I'm going to ask my colleague,
Dr. Matt Herod, to provide a specific example which would
help illustrate this.
DR. HEROD:

Thanks.

Dr. Matt Herod for

the record.
The CNSC's regulatory framework, which is
derived from the IAEA regulatory framework for long-term
safety as well, has precaution built within it, and that is
through the adoption of the 0.3 millisievert dose
acceptance criteria which is derived directly from the
International Commission On Radiological Protection, and
that is to ensure that it accounts for the potential of
multiple sources of radiation exposure.
In addition to the dose acceptance
criteria that was used, CNL's -- the regulatory framework
requires that the long-term safety case and the safety
analysis report operations both consider the possibility of
accident scenarios, disruptive events, what-if scenarios
that are akin to worst case scenarios, and all of these are
considered in the assessment of the long-term safety case
and the operational safety analysis as well.

So through

the adoption of very conservative dose constraints and dose
limits and through the -- and then using them in the
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analysis of the safety case itself and the facility itself
on a site-specific and facility-specific basis, the
regulatory framework used by the CNSC does ensure that
there is precaution taken throughout multiple steps in the
assessment.
MEMBER MAHARAJ:

Thank you.

THE PRESIDENT:

Dr. Lacroix?

MEMBER LACROIX:

Thank you.

I was

wondering, is the heat generation inside the NSDF of
concern to you?

Are there hot spots, for instance, or -- I

don't know.
MS. VICKERD:
record.

Meggan Vickerd for the

Since NSDF is only accepting low-level waste, heat

generation is not a concern.

It's significantly low for

any low-level waste because it's only present as
contamination.
MEMBER LACROIX:
THE PRESIDENT:

Thank you.
There are two other

recommendations by the Intervenor that I would like to
follow up.

One is around models and assumptions used and

are those publicly available.

It's Recommendation 6:

"CNR should be required to provide a
detailed explanation of the models it is relying on as well
as the large uncertainties in its radiation doses and
risks."
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Please.
MS. VICKERD:

Meggan Vickerd for the

record.
So both from an environmental assessment
and from a licence application, we have outlined our
assumptions and our modelling.

In Environmental

Assessment, through the various sections for the
environmental components, we identify what models were used
and the calculations, and we also identify what assumptions
were made and what the uncertainties were.

So it is well

laid out in the Environmental Impact Statement according to
the environmental component throughout section 5.
With respect to the licence application,
the safety assessment document -- sorry, the safety case
document does compile all of our safety assessments into
one central document, and that is available to the
public -- sorry, the EIS is available to the public both on
CNL's website and on the Impact Agency website.
CNL has compiled other various safety
assessments to summarize in the safety case document.

The

safety case document is available to the public on the
project's website in both official languages.

It does

summarize for the operational safety assessment and the
long-term safety assessment what models we used and what
assumptions were made and what conservatisms are present.
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Furthermore, it does also have a section within safety case
document which acknowledges uncertainties and ways that we
will manage them.

I just want to comment that whenever

there was an uncertainty, CNL did make a conservative
assumption then so that we identified the conservative
assumption we made, and as real data becomes available,
those safety assessments would be updated as applicable and
resubmitted to the CNSC staff.
THE PRESIDENT:

Thank you.

CNL, we will

come back to you at the end for you to comment on what
you're hearing from the others.
My last one is around inventory and
details and what is available, what will be available, and
the granularity of the information.

Again, it's a

recurring concern, one that the inventory changes to it's
not quite clear what's going to go in and how transparent
is the process.

So there are questions around accuracy,

reliability, and transparency of the inventory of
radioactive materials -- not just radioactive but chemical
hazards as well going in the NSDF.

So please comment on

that.
MS. VICKERD:

Meggan Vickerd for the

record.
Before I do, can you clarify specific what
Recommendation number or is it an accumulation of a number
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of recommendations?
THE PRESIDENT:

I think it's probably

number 1.
MS. VICKERD:

So Meggan Vickerd.

Within section 3 of the safety case and
within section 3.31 of the EIS, CNL does identify the
bounding inventory that we've proposed for the facility,
and that's in accordance with -- that's applicable for
where we are in the phase of this project planning
perspective to ensure that we've identified the bounding
inventory and that we've done safety assessments and
modelling to ensure there would be no effects on the public
or the environment from that bounding.
Now, how we control that bounding is
through the Waste Acceptance Criteria document to ensure
that what we're receiving, should we be successful in the
application, we do have controls in place to limit and
remain below that bounding, and then we've already
commented in a previous response that as we place waste in,
we are required to report that on an annual basis what
inventory has been received in comparison to our licensed
limit and we've already mentioned we would be willing to
make that available to the public.
THE PRESIDENT:

So let me ask that

specific question which you answered, now it's more from
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what's available to the public.

It was around disused

Cobalt-60 sources and details around that, you know, how
many Becquerels or terabecquerels or how many kilograms or
grams of that, where would that level of information be
available?
MS. VICKERD:

Meggan Vickerd for the

record.
So right now the inventory that we have is
just bounding and that has been screened against the
definition of low-level, the thresholds or concentrations
that the IAEA, reg docs, and CSA standards identify.

If we

were to receive disuse sources and consider them for
placement to NSDF, I just want to comment that NSDF is
primarily for large levels of low level waste, meaning
contaminated soils, contaminated demolition -- building
material from building demolition, and protective equipment
and clothing.

The disuse sources are a small fraction by

volume that we would even consider and NSDF is not meant to
be CNL's repository for all disuse sources because it is a
Near Surface.

But should we consider disuse source, it

would be screened also against that in -- section 5.7 in
the Waste Acceptance Criteria which says we will be aligned
with IAEA guidance, and should -- if this is an area the
the public wants more transparency in, we'll make sure it
is something we include in our annual reporting.
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THE PRESIDENT:
the submissions.

And you've seen that in

In the absence of not having information,

the conclusion is that all that Cobalt-60 is from disused
sources and how much of that is -- okay.
Any further questions?

Thank you.
Dr. Lacroix,

Ms. Maharaj?
CELA, I'll get you to comment on what
you've heard, please.
MS. McCLENAGHAN:

Yes, thank you.

I'd

like to call on our experts to respond to three points, if
I may?
First I'd like to ask Dr. Fairlie if he
can speak to the question that was posed that Mr. or
Dr. Mohamed answered which also dealt with this issue of
whether the operations included disuse sources in the total
radioactivity, and his answer was about the total
radioactive at closure in 300 years because of the
half-life and relating that to the bounding criteria for
that closure context.

My question for Dr. Fairlie is what

his concerns are in the shorter term in terms of risk to
workers or the public between now and the 300-year time
frame.
We can't hear, Dr. Fairlie.
THE PRESIDENT:
Dr. Fairlie.

Sound off.

You may be on mute,
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MS. McCLENAGHAN:
waiting.

Yeah, we're still

No.
DR. FAIRLIE:

Now can you hear me?

THE PRESIDENT:

Much better.

MS. McCLENAGHAN:
DR. FAIRLIE:

There we go.

Sorry.

I was asked to put

on a headset and the headset is the source of the problem.
MS. McCLENAGHAN:

If you could just speak

very, very slowly and clearly because I believe it's the
translators that need to be able to hear you without your
headset.

Thank you.
DR. FAIRLIE:

Right.

My main concerns are

that the limit for workers within the 300-year period is
set out 10.4 millisieverts per year and that's a lot of
radiation.

For example, if you take a worker that's been

there for 20 years, and that's not unusual, that means that
they're receiving over 200 millisieverts of radiation, and
in the short term that's an unconscionable amount.

I think

that we need to look at that again, the limit of 10.4
millisieverts a year.
However, there is something else I want to
draw attention to as well if I may at this time?

The CNL

people have admitted during the previous discussion that
80 percent of the Cobalt-60 inventory, proposed inventory,
has got to come from disused sources.

Now, that means that
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the sources of the cobalt is coming from disused cobalt
machines.

The problem is, because you're not told what the

packaging is for these, we don't know whether these are
going to be actual machines dumped in repository.
don't know.

We just

And that's very bad oversight, I think, in the

EIS prepared by CSL [sic].
I think that the Commission, the President
and Commissioners, should directly address the question of
this:

How many of these machines are going to be dumped in

or proposed to be dumped in the repository?
Our paper shows a very rough calculation
that about perhaps as many as 900 of them, perhaps even
more of these machines, disused machines, are going to be
dumped.

Well, this would be unacceptable.

And I would

like that to be addressed by the Commissioners now, if
possible?

Thank you very much.

I'm sorry about the

problems with the headset.
MS. McCLENAGHAN:

Thank you, Dr. Fairlie.

Madam Commissioner, I would like to call
on Dr. Markvart to respond to two other questions.

One was

in respect to the retrievability issue and her concern
about that, and then, Dr. Markvart, if you could then
address your response on the precautionary principle.
DR. MARKVART:

Thank you, Theresa.

Dr. Tanya Markvart for the record.
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A two issues that I would like to speak
to, the precautionary principle and adaptive management
capacity, are very closely related.

Precaution as a

concept in CNSC regulations and minimum dose requirements
is very important, but it doesn't go far enough to
demonstrate or illustrate to the public how precaution was
applied in decision-making and analysis and in the design
of the Near Surface Disposal Facility project.

Let me

explain.
In my analysis which I undertook on behalf
of CELA, I emphasized that the notion of adaptive
management capacity in nuclear waste management is an
essential component of a precautionary approach.

It allows

responsible authorities, decision-makers, and the public to
respond to uncertainties, surprises, new information, new
approaches, technological innovations over time.

It's

relevant to management in the way that information and
projects are managed as well as engineering design.

And

here's where retrievability comes into play as a core
aspect of adaptive management capacity in nuclear waste
management and in this case the Near Surface Disposal
Facility because reversibility would enhance adaptive
management capacity over time.

It will give future

generations access to the stored nuclear waste to undertake
any necessary monitoring, repairs, to move the waste to a
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safer storage facility if needed, and to take advantage of
new safer technologies for nuclear waste management in the
future.

And because this project includes long-lived

radioactive waste, it's very important that the public
knows how retrievability is incorporated in the design of
the Near Surface Disposal Facility.
We heard from CNSC staff that this is a
disposal project, which means that there is no intention of
retrieval.

But I would humbly assert that we really don't

know what's going to happen over the next 100 to 500 or
2,000 years.

There are plenty of concerns to think about

with respect to how future circumstances might affect this
project.

The staff have acknowledged that they haven't

identified any significant effects and there's no plans for
retrieval.

But should retrieval be necessary, it would not

be impossible.
So there's clearly a bit of an opening
here to discuss retrievability as a very important
engineering concept in this project, to ensure that future
generations will be permitted to -- or will have the
capacity to address any surprises, accidents, or
malfunctions or new technologies that emerge over time; and
I assert that it is something that the public needs to hear
about, let's say if there's no plans for retrieval but it
would be not be impossible if retrieval is needed, let's
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hear more about how that is possible through the design of
the project.

Thank you.
MS. McCLENAGHAN:

Those are the additional

points we wanted to raise right now.

Otherwise we will do

written submissions at the end of the hearing and questions
during the process as we're permitted to do.
THE PRESIDENT:

Thank you very much.

Thank you for your submission and your appearance today.
Much appreciated.

Thank you.
La prochaine présentation est par la

Communauté métropolitaine de Montréal, tel qu'indiqué dans
les documents CMD 22-H7.130 et 22-H7.130A.

Madame

Vodanovic présentera ce mémoire de manière virtuelle.
Madame Vodanovic, vous avez la parole.

CMD 22-H7.130/22-H7.130A
Présentation orale par la
Communauté métropolitaine de Montréal

MME VODANOVIC : Merci beaucoup.
Vous m'entendez bien?
LA PRÉSIDENTE : Oui, merci.
MME VODANOVIC : D'accord.
Alors, Mesdames et Messieurs les
Commissaires, bonjour.

Mon nom est Maja Vodanovic.

Je
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suis membre du Comité exécutif de la Ville de Montréal
responsable des infrastructures de l'eau.
Je suis ici accompagné de Raymond Beshro,
conseiller en recherche à la Communauté métropolitaine de
Montréal, et de Dr David Boilley, physicien et président de
l'Association pour le contrôle de la radioactivité dans
l'Ouest.
Je présente aujourd'hui au nom de la
Communauté métropolitaine de Montréal, qui regroupe 82
municipalités de la Grande Région de Montréal, où habitent
4 millions de citoyens, soit la moitié de la population du
Québec.

Sur son territoire, la CMM a la responsabilité

d'intervenir notamment en matière d'aménagement du
territoire et d'environnement.
Je vous remercie de nous permettre de
partager nos commentaires et préoccupations face au projet
d'installation de la gestion des déchets nucléaires en
surface sur le site de Chalk River.
Nous tenons à souligner que le projet a
été amélioré depuis sa présentation en 2017, notamment
parce que le stockage devra dorénavant être restreint aux
déchets de faible radioactivité.

Cependant, nous demeurons

préoccuper par le risque de contamination de la Rivière des
Outaouais, qui est la principale source d'eau potable pour
le Grand Montréal.

En fait, c'est une des principales
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sources.
Le bassin versant de la Rivière des
Outaouais est déjà marqué par 70 ans d'activités d'Énergie
atomique du Canada.

Le coût de la remédiation de cet

héritage est estimé à 8 milliards de dollars.

Bien que le

démantèlement des bâtiments actuels soit préférable au
statu quo, l'augmentation de la quantité de déchets
dangereux sur le site l'est moins.
Le projet prévoit la construction du
premier dépôt permanent de déchets nucléaires au Canada.
Les matériaux radioactifs présents sur le site de Chalk
River y seront stockés avec des déchets de l'extérieur qui
y seront apportés durant 50 ans.

Le promoteur nous informe

que le dépôt devra être supervisé durant une période de 500
ans.
La CMM est préoccupée par cette situation.
Un monticule d'un million de mètres cubes de déchets
radioactifs pour les 500 années à venir, à proximité de la
Rivière des Outaouais, une rivière qui s'écoule vers les
prises d'eau potable du Grand Montréal.
Pour cette raison, la CMM a mandaté un
deuxième rapport d'expert à l'ACRO, c'est-à-dire
l'Association pour le contrôle de la radioactivité dans
l'Ouest, qui regroupe depuis plus de 30 ans des citoyens
français qui supervisent de manière indépendante les
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impacts environnementaux des activités nucléaires.

Son

président, Dr David Boilley, est avec nous aujourd'hui.
Si la Commission approuve le projet malgré
nos réserves, nous recommandons que le projet soit réussi
afin de répondre aux 23 recommandations de notre mémoire.
J'en résume les principales recommandations.
Pour le type d'installation et les déchets
acceptés, nous sommes d'avis que le type de dépôt sous
forme de monticule de confinement artificiel ne doit servir
qu'uniquement au stockage de déchets de faible activité,
mais seulement tel qu'elles sont définies et recommandés
par les normes internationales.
Considérant que le projet exclu le
stockage de déchets moyennement radioactifs, nous demandons
au promoteur qu'il explique pourquoi il maintient des
concentrations maximales dans l'inventaire des incidences
environnementales.
Nous sommes également surpris que le
promoteur n'indique pas les limites qu'il prévoit pour la
vaste majorité des déchets qualifiés de faible activité.
D'ailleurs, nous considérons qu'il est essentiel que
l'inventaire complet et détaillé des déchets stockés sur le
site soit accessible à l'ensemble du public dès sa
planification, et ce, pour les générations à venir.
Dans cet objectif, la CMM a demandé en

165

2018 au ministère des Ressources naturelles du Canada que
la sécurité nucléaire au Canada fasse l'objet d'une
réflexion globale et que le Canada adopte et applique les
normes de sécurité de l'Agence internationale de l'énergie
atomique.

Cette agence internationale, une agence des

Nations-Unies, a par la suite fait la même demande, et le
ministre s'est engagé à moderniser sa stratégie de gestion
des déchets nucléaires au plus tard en novembre 2020.
Cette stratégie est en préparation et n'a toujours pas été
adoptée.

La CMM est d'avis que le projet de Chalk River,

qui est le premier dépôt permanent de déchets nucléaires au
pays, ne devrait pas être approuvé avant que cette
stratégie ne soit adoptée.
Durant le remplissage des cellules du
monticule du confinement avant la mise en place de son
recouvrement permanent, il est essentiel que l'opérateur
protège les opérations par une couverture temporaire de
façon à minimiser la quantité de pluie qui s'infiltrera
dans les déchets et devra par la suite être recueillie et
décontaminée.

Malgré cette précaution, un système de

captation et de traitement du lixiviat est nécessaire.
Nous demandons plus d'information sur le fonctionnement de
ce système, sa performance et surtout les mesures de
mitigation en cas de panne.
Certains des déchets apportés devront être
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découpés et compactés avant d'être ajoutés aux monticules.
Ces opérations peuvent générer de la pollution sous forme
de poussière ou de gaz.

Le projet ne prévoit pas de

précaution à cet égard.

Ces opérations doivent alors avoir

lieu dans un environnement contrôlé à l'intérieur d'un
bâtiment afin de réduire les risques pour les travailleurs
et pour l'environnement.
En ce qu'il est de la surveillance de la
contamination existante, les terrains des Laboratoires
nucléaires du Canada de Chalk River contiennent déjà des
contaminants radioactifs, notamment le strontium-90, une
isotope particulièrement toxique.

Cette radioactivité

existante pourrait retarder la détection de nouvelles
fuites.
Nous recommandons donc que les
contaminants existants soient caractérisés en détail avant
la construction du dépôt et que le programme de
surveillance du site soit rendu publique comme c'est le cas
dans d'autres pays.
Il manque d'informations nécessaires pour
les services de sécurité civile des municipalités qui
pourraient devoir intervenir en cas d'urgence.

Ainsi, les

moyens de surveillance doivent être davantage précisés
quant aux moyens de détection de fuites, aux fréquences des
échantillonnages nécessaires et d'analyse et aux moyens de
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signalement et d'alerte.

Plus spécifiquement, la présence

de la nappe phréatique à moins de 22 centimètres de la
surface du sol et le marécage qui entoure le monticule
faciliteront la propagation des fuites de contaminants et
nécessiteront une réponse rapide afin de limiter les
risques pour l'environnement et la santé.
En ce qui est question de la gouvernance,
les Laboratoires nucléaires du Canada à Chalk River
appartiennent au Gouvernement du Canada, mais leur gestion,
la gestion des Laboratoires a été confiée en 2015 à un
consortium privé dirigé par SNC-Lavalin.

La CMM

s'interroge sur la capacité d'une entreprise privée à
assurer la sécurité du site sur la période de 500 ans où
les déchets seront dangereux.

La CMM s'interroge également

sur les conflits possibles entre les objectifs commerciaux
du consortium et la gestion sécuritaire des déchets.

Afin

de réduire les possibilités d'un tel conflit, nous
recommandons que la gestion sécuritaire des déchets
nucléaires soit confiée à une entité distincte des
entreprises dont les activités génèrent des déchets.

À

défaut, les critères d'acceptation des déchets et les
dérogations à ces critères doivent relever d'une entité
distincte.
En conclusion, dans les années 1950 le
Gouvernement du Canada a choisi le site Chalk River pour
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ses activités nucléaires.

La gestion de déchets ne faisait

pas partie de leurs considérations à l'époque.
Aujourd'hui, nous devons trouver une solution pour le
stockage sécuritaire de ces déchets pendant des décennies,
voire des milliers d'années.

Il est impossible pour nous

de prédire comment seront les conditions économiques,
sociales ou climatiques durant cette période.

Pourtant, le

promoteur nous indique que la solution qu'il propose devra
être sous un contrôle institutionnel durant 500 ans.
Pouvons-nous être confiants que cette condition sera
remplie?

Qu'arrivera-t-il si cette supervision cesse, si

un cataclysme naturel vient frapper le site?
La Communauté métropolitaine de Montréal
s'oppose au projet de consortium, de construction et
d'exploitation de l'installation de gestion de déchets
nucléaires près de la surface des Laboratoires nucléaires
canadiens sur le site de Chalk River sous sa forme
actuelle.

Compte tenu, notamment, de son impact potentiel

sur les ressources d'approvisionnement en eau potable, nous
avons la responsabilité de trouver la meilleure solution
possible non seulement pour aujourd'hui mais pour les 500
années à venir.
Au nom de la CMM, je vous remercie pour
votre attention.
LA PRÉSIDENTE : Merci beaucoup, Madame
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Vodanovic, pour votre présentation.
Je donne la parole à madame Maharaj.
Avez-vous des questions?
MEMBER MAHARAJ:
first.

My question is for staff

Can you address the Intervenor's concern about the

amount of time that the cells will be open to the air
before they are covered, individually covered, because that
opportunity for participation and other influences to be
mixed with the waste is a concern for this intervenor.
MME MURTHY : Merci beaucoup pour la
question.

Je demanderais à Mohamed Gacem de répondre à

cette question, s'il vous plaît.
M. GACEM : Mohamed Gacem, pour le
verbatim.
Pendant les opérations d'emplacement des
déchets radioactifs dans le monticule, ça c'est prévu
peut-être pour la cellule qui est active.
plusieurs facteurs.
années.

Ça dépend de

Ça peut aller d'une année à cinq

Et après l'emplacement de tous les déchets

radioactifs, ils vont mettre une couverture finale.

Mais

avant ça, ils peuvent mettre des couvertures, disons,
temporaires pour éviter les précipitations durant des
périodes où on va avoir plus de pluvialité dans cette
période-là.
En plus de ça, on avait déjà mentionné
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qu'il y aurait une couverture sur le monticule, sur la
cellule active, et ça été requis par le personnel de la
CCSN durant la période d'opération, donc, ce qui va
minimiser les précipitations de venir en contact avec les
déchets radioactifs.
Il n'y a pas uniquement la cellule qui est
active pendant les opérations.

Il y a ce qu'on appelle la

superficie où les déchets peuvent être temporairement
stockés, et ceci pendant une durée d'une année.

Donc, la

couverture va être placée sur ces deux-là, peut-être sur la
phase 1, mais ce n'est pas encore décidé.

Mais il y a une

exigence que la couverture doit être au minimum sur la
cellule qui est active, en opération, et la superficie où
il y a un stockage de déchets en attendant leur emplacement
dans la cellule.
MEMBRE MAHARAJ : Merci.
LA PRÉSIDENTE : Dr. Lacroix.
MEMBRE LACROIX : Oui.

Madame Vodanovic,

merci beaucoup pour cette présentation très intéressante,
de même que votre mémoire.

Vous soulevez plusieurs points

fort intéressants, fort pertinents, que d'autres
intervenants ont déjà soulevés ou qu'ils vont soulever au
cours de cette semaine, et donc, CNL de même que CCSN vont,
bien sûr, devoir répondre à toutes ces questions.
Alors, aujourd'hui, je voudrais simplement
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concentrer mes questions sur l'aspect environnemental
puisque c'est de ça que nous parlons ce matin... ou cet
après-midi, pardon, et puis sur des questions très
originales que vous avez posées, c'est-à-dire que d'autres
intervenants n'ont pas soulevé ces questions.
La première question, ça concerne comment
les déchets seront conditionnés, le découpage, le
compactage et l'emballage, comment c'est fait.

Est-ce que

c'est fait en laboratoire, dans des locaux dédiés à cette
opération, et comment seront protégés les travailleurs des
poussières et des émanations radioactives?

La question

s'adresse à CNL.
MS. VICKERD:

With respect to the way the

waste is packaged or cut up and segregated that is
actually -- takes place under our existing licence within
our existing facilities.

For example, facilities

decommissioning whether decommissioning a building they are
size reducing their waste and packaging it on the site of
the decommissioning project.

We can certainly go into more

details to what that looks like from a process.
Because under -- it's part of our existing
license.
Within our existing licence in our waste
cessionary, we also have a facility which we call the sort
and size facility where we have the ability to pull legacy
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waste, but we can also size reduce material within our
current safety basis for the waste imaginaries.
So it's not specific to the project so
it's activities that are conducted under our current
license.
MEMBRE LACROIX : Donc, ce sont des
activités avec lesquelles vous avez l'habitude?
MS. VICKERD:

Meggan Vickerd for the

record.
That is correct.

We do include waste

placement and compaction activities within the
Environmental Impact Statement that's been submitted to the
CNSC staff.

So the environmental effects of placing the

waste and compacting the waste have been taken into account
from a dust emission and dose to workers.
So we can certainly get into those
details, but that is part of the application.
Prior to the waste being received, the
waste packaging and the cutting or sorting and packaging
are part of our existing license.
MEMBRE LACROIX : D'accord.
Une autre question que madame Vodanovic a
soulevée c'est le strontium-90.

Pourriez-vous nous dire,

est-ce que c'est quelque chose qui vous préoccupe beaucoup
et comment allez-vous le traiter?

173

MS. VICKERD:

Meggan Vickerd for the

record.
Just to clarify, the strontium 90
contamination within our existing environment?
MEMBRE LACROIX : M'hmm.
MS. VICKERD:

Okay.

All right.

For this

I would like to go to Mr. Dolinar, our Director of
Environmental Protection.
MEMBRE LACROIX : O.K.
MR. DOLINAR:

Yeah, George Dolinar for the

record, Director of Corporate Environmental Services for
CNL.
So we do look closely for strontium 90
associated with our legacy waste management facility.

So

we have been placing waste into storage at the Chalk River
site since 1946.
Strontium 90 is one of fund and vision
products, I don't know if you remember the vision product
curve.

There was strontium 90 and cesium 137.

times more mobile than cesium 137is.

It's ten

Strontium 90 in our

environment is about ten times more mobile than cesium 137.
So we have a number of facilities, waste
management facilities where there are plumes of strontium
associated with the past and placement practices.
In a number of those instances where

174

appropriate we have plume capture facilities that could be
pump and treat, active intervention.

We also have a couple

of unique facilities that are passive in the way that they
capture strontium 90.

But we do have extensive monitoring

around our waste management facilities for this reason.
We monitor groundwater.

We also monitor

air and vegetation in the vicinity of these waste
management areas.
So your question was, do we take
particular care around strontium 90?

So the answer is yes.

An important part of the monitoring we, do have, as I
mentioned, several treatment facilities to deal with
existing waste.
I will park this in a moment.
But this is sort of the essence as to why
NSDF is necessary, is to recover, you know, these wastes
that are currently in legacy facilities that are giving
rise to this potential in some cases spread of
contamination, but, you know, future risk associated with
spread of contamination, that is what NSDF is designed to
address.
I will leave it there.
MS. VICKERD:

If I could just -- Meggan

Vickerd for the record.
I think I want to clarify for the one
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Intervenor raising this is that the existing contamination
within the environment is part of our baseline within the
Environmental Impact Statement.

So we do the

characterization we have for the existing environment and
then look at the incremental difference with NSDF in tow.
LA PRÉSIDENTE : Madame Vodanovic,
avez-vous des questions?
MME VODANOVIC : En fait, je voulais juste
préciser et répondre à... en fait, intervenir suite à la
réponse du premier intervenant qui a parlé qu'il y aurait
de l'eau juste pendant l'ouverture d'une des cellules.
J'aimerais juste rappeler que le projet
prévoit 50 ans d'opération d'une usine qui va traiter le
lixiviat.

Ça veut dire qu'on prévoit déjà que l'eau va

s'infiltrer pendant 50 ans à l'intérieur du projet, même
s'ils le recouvrent, et puis le fait que c'est entouré d'un
marécage et que ça va durer pendant plusieurs années et que
c'est proche de l'eau, c'est certain que ça va se mélanger
à l'eau.
Alors, nous n'étions pas concernés
simplement par l'ouverture de la cellule pendant cinq ans,
mais, bien sûr, l'eau qui entoure, qui tombe dessus et qui
entoure le site dans une zone qui est assez marécageuse.
Merci.
THE PRESIDENT:

Thank you.

A question for
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CNSC staff and then you can add your comment to Madame
Vodanovic's response.
What monitoring besides what CNL is
proposing to do for this project, what other independent
monitoring is staff recommending or would staff be
recommending for this project?
MS. MURTHY:

Kavita Murthy for the record.

So you are talking about what CNSC would be doing or what
the -THE PRESIDENT:

Besides CNSC as well.

Are

there any other third parties that would be monitoring the
environment?

I think that is one of the recommendations

from the Intervenor when it comes to ground water that
there would be third party developed monitoring as well.
MS. MURTHY:

To the best to of our

knowledge there isn't anything at this point in time.
There is the CNSC independent monitoring program.
THE PRESIDENT:
MS. MURTHY:

Thank you.

I did want to respond to the

question about water entering the NSDF.
There is a proposal water entering -should there be water ingress into the NSDF while it's
open.

There is a water treatment plant that water isn't

going to be released prior to treatment.

SO there is a

requirement for a water treatment plant prior to the start
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of operations, so there is that.
THE PRESIDENT:

Any further questions?

Yes, CNSC.
MS. VICKERD:
record.

Meggan Vickerd for the

I just also want to clarify that during the 50

years of operation only one cell at a time will be
operated.

That we have sequential -- we have a detailed

plan within the EIS that identifies as each cell is
sequentially filled and completed, we start the first
couple of layers of the final cap system on that completed
cell as we move onto the second cell.

So the whole

facility will not be open and exposed to the environment
for the whole 50 years.
There is a sequence where we will fill and
cap the cells.
THE PRESIDENT:

Thank you.

Merci, Madame Vodanovic, pour votre
présentation.
La prochaine présentation est par Action
Environnement Basses-Laurentides, tel qu'indiqué dans les
documents CMD 22-H7.95 et 22-H7.95A.

Madame Lucie Massé

présentera ce mémoire de manière virtuelle.
Madame Massé, vous avez la parole.
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CMD 22-H7.95/22-H7.95A
Présentation orale par
Action Environnement Basses-Laurentides

MME MASSÉ : Bonjour, Madame Velshi.
Bonjour, Messieurs, Mesdames les Commissaires et le public
sur place.
Alors, mon nom est Lucie Massé.

Je suis

porte-parole d'Action Environnement Basses-Laurentides.
Nous formons un groupe écologiste du
Québec depuis 2015, et nous sommes opposés au projet
d'installation de gestion près de la surface à Chalk River,
à proximité de la Rivières des Outaouais.

Je dois vous

dire que nous avons plusieurs membres qui sont aussi des
riverains de la Rivière des Outaouais.
Depuis 2017, nous avons pris connaissance
des nombreux documents de la Commission canadienne de
sûreté nucléaire et des Laboratoires nucléaires canadiens
portant sur le projet d'IGDPS.

L'IGDPS serait situé, comme

plusieurs le savent, à environ 1 kilomètre de la Rivière
des Outaouais, ce qui est une aberration.
Nous croyons que le promoteur LNC aurait
tort d'installer l'IGDPS près de la Rivière des Outaouais.
Les LNC n'ont jamais envisagé un projet alternatif loin de
la Rivière des Outaouais.

La Commission canadienne de
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sûreté nucléaire ne leur a jamais demandé de soumettre un
projet qui serait éloigné de la Rivière des Outaouais.
Alors, le projet actuel constitue un risque trop élevé de
contamination en aval de la source d'eau potable de
millions de personnes.
C'est pourquoi ce projet des LNC soulève
de graves préoccupations et oppositions tant au Québec
qu'en Ontario, car la Rivière des Outaouais est la source
d'eau potable de millions de personnes en aval de Chalk
River, comme l'a rappelé madame Vodanovic de la CMM.

Il

nous apparaît donc que c'est une lacune flagrante, étant
donné les risques pour l'eau potable de ces municipalités.
Car au Québec, ce sont les municipalités
qui ont la compétence pour gérer les usines de purification
de l'eau et pour entretenir des infrastructures coûteuses
et payées par les taxes citoyennes afin de fournir aux
communautés de l'eau potable de qualité.

Les usines de

purification de l'eau sont de compétence municipale et ne
sont pas dotées d'équipements pour détecter et filtrer les
contaminants radioactifs.

C'est la raison pour laquelle

les citoyens se sont tournés vers les élu(e)s de proximité
afin de les informer de ce projet de Chalk River.
Entre 2017 et jusqu'à ce jour, de
nombreuses résolutions ont été ont adoptées par les
municipalités régionales de comté, qu'on appelle aussi les
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MRC.

Ainsi, les MRC suivantes ont adopté des résolutions :

la MRC de Pontiac, des Collines, de Deux-Montagnes, des
Moulins et de la Vallée du Richelieu. Cela concerne 47
municipalités.

Les maires de 18 autres municipalités, dont

la Ville de Gatineau, ont adopté des résolutions.

Et la

Communauté métropolitaine de Montréal a adopté une
résolution qui englobe 82 municipalités de la grande région
de Montréal, comme l'indiquait madame Vodanovic.
C’est pourquoi il est essentiel que la
Commission prenne en considération les résolutions des
municipalités, les préoccupations pour certaines
municipalités, et les oppositions au projet pour d’autres.
Nous invitons la Commission canadienne à
respecter les cinq principes édictés par l’Assemblée des
Premières Nations le 27 juillet 2017, et je les cite : Pour
la gestion à long terme des déchets radioactifs,
premièrement, pas d’abandon; deuxièmement, stockage
surveillé et récupérable; troisièmement, meilleur
confinement, plus d’emballage; quatrième point, loin des
grands plans d'eau, rivières et lacs; et cinquièmement, pas
d'import ni d'export.

Alors, fin de la citation.

Par respect à l’égard des institutions
gouvernementales canadiennes et des communautés
autochtones, il importe que la Commission canadienne de
sûreté nucléaire tienne compte des points suivants avant de
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prendre quelque décision que ce soit.
D'abord, la Première Nation algonquine
Kebaowek n’a pas été consultée; la Première Nation
algonquine du Lac Barrière n’a pas été consultée non plus;
la nouvelle Politique canadienne sur la gestion des déchets
radioactifs n’est pas finalisée; également, le rapport
d’audit du Vérificateur général du Canada sur la gestion
des déchets radioactifs n’est pas terminé; et
cinquièmement, le rapport du Comité environnement de la
Chambre des communes sur la gouvernance des déchets
radioactifs n’est pas publié.
Ainsi, l’eau et les sources d’eau potable
des communautés constituent une richesse inaliénable et
vitale au cœur de ce litige.
monde.

L’eau appartient à tout le

Ni les LNC, ni la Commission canadienne de sûreté

nucléaire ne peuvent s’arroger le droit de risquer de
contaminer la Rivière des Outaouais et les milieux humides.
Il vous est exprimé avec force, par la
voix des maires du Québec, que les citoyens ne veulent pas
que les déchets radioactifs soient stockés près de la
Rivière des Outaouais, ni à proximité d’un cours d’eau ou
d’un milieu humide.

Nous exhortons la Commission

canadienne de sûreté nucléaire à être à la hauteur des
défis de préservation absolue des sources d’eau potable,
aujourd’hui et pour l’avenir, et pour le bien commun,
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c’est-à-dire pour le bien de nous tous.
Pour ces motifs, Mesdames, Messieurs, nous
demandons à la Commission canadienne de sûreté nucléaire de
refuser d'accorder un permis pour ce projet des
Laboratoires nucléaires canadiens.
Merci beaucoup de votre écoute.
LA PRÉSIDENTE : Merci beaucoup, Madame
Massé, pour notre présentation.
Je donne la parole aux Commissaires pour
les questions, à commencer avec Dr Lacroix.
MEMBRE LACROIX : Merci, Madame Massé, pour
votre présentation, de même que le mémoire que vous avez
soumis.
C'est une question pour CNL.

J'ai

remarqué dans le mémoire que la plupart des résolutions qui
ont été adoptées par les municipalités datent des années
2017-2018, c'est-à-dire il y a quelques années, et le
projet a quand même évolué depuis.

Je me demandais,

qu'est-ce que CNL a fait depuis pour mieux communiquer ou
communiquer avec ces municipalités pour expliquer davantage
les tenants et les aboutissants de ce projet?
MR. BOYLE:

Phil Boyle for the record.

I would like to have Pat Quinn, the
Director of Communication to provide that answer.
MR. QUINN:

With respect to our engagement
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with the municipalities, it was extensive.
We had over 70 interactions throughout the
course.
You made a really good point there.

The

communications began in 2016 and they continued up until
this day.

We had invitations, and municipalities provided

delegations to council.

We also provided a delegation to

MRC Pontiac council, the county council.

We continued to

provide updates as conditions permitted.

We participated

in invited sessions in the City of Gatineau both -- one at
the request of MP Will Fergus and the other at the request
of councillor -- the City of Gatineau Councillor Mike
Dugan.
So we made ourselves available in what we
would consider beyond the broader scope of activity.
As time moved on and we found ourselves in
the period of COVID, that produced some interesting
challenges; however,
CNL continued to use its resources and
external website and social media channels, Facebook, et
cetera, and we began hosting, which turned out to be very
practical, webinars, on topics and such parameters of
importance.

These were both made available in both

official languages with simultaneous translation.
saw a very good participation in the house.

And we
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MEMBRE LACROIX : Staff, la même question.
MME MURTHY : Merci beaucoup.

Je

demanderais à Kim Campbell de répondre à cette question.
MR. CAMPBELL:

Kim Campbell for the

record, Director of the Canadian Nuclear Laboratory
Regulatory Programme Division.
I'd like to just say we did do extensive
outreach as well for the CNSC with municipalities.
We did take the opportunity to run
webinars as well just to increase our participation in
order to get more people involved and communicating the
information to.

And we also did some one-on-one sessions

like the City of Ottawa and other participants that
requested it.

And we did host technical sessions as well

through webinars to get the information out there, not the
information which CNL would put forward, but more our
regulatory structure, our regulatory reviews, and sort of
the CNSC'S mandate when it comes to the processing the
amendment for this type of project or the construction of a
disposal facility.
THE PRESIDENT:

So maybe i will follow up

to that question of Dr. Lacroix and start with CNL.
So early this morning you had mentioned
that your public opinion polling shows a lot of support for
the NSDF.

From this intervention we hear of dozens of
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municipalities passing resolutions against that.

Some of

these resolutions are from 2017, the project has changed a
bit since then.
Have you seen their support for the
project change over time?
MR. QUINN:

Pat Quinn for the record.

President Velshi, yes, directly, if you
recall, we did our public attitude survey in 2018 and
followed up in 2022.
The data indicated an upswing in support
and knowledge and confidence in the Pontiac region
particularly.
data point.

And so we were able to zero right in on that
So we saw an increase in awareness and

confidence.
THE PRESIDENT:
MEMBER MAHARAJ:

Thank you.

Madam Maharaj?

Thank you, Madam Velshi.

My question is a little bit of a follow-up
to that, to your question Madam Velshi.

It's for CNL.

In

your communication with the municipalities, has it been
clear that the NSDF is going to replace the existing
storage of waste into a permanent disposal?
What I'm hearing in the interventions is
there is a concern that the NSDF may or may not be
sufficiently protective of the environment and, in
particular, the Ottawa River.
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And once you go down that path, it's an
irretrievable problem.

You can't undo the harm.

My

question is in your communications with the municipalities
did you have any discussions about the potential risks of
not doing anything, of not making an NSDF, the disposal
facility because currently all of that waste is sitting on
the site now in storage?

Can you tell me more about what

happened there?
MS. VICKERD:
record.

Meggan Vickerd for the

i will start us off from a technical perspective

and then go to Mr. Quinn to comment on our engagement
aspects.
But first and foremost, we recognize that
members of the public that may not be familiar with our
site or the technologies that we employ, why they would
have an underlying concern about the protection of the
Ottawa River.

And that is a common concern that we as

employees at CNL also have -- but we have the benefit and
awareness and knowledge of the technical aspects of how
this project improves and enhances protection of the Ottawa
River.

So that's at the core of that.

no risk to the Ottawa River.

Currently there's

And under -- as a licensee

CNL needs to ensure that we always manage that risk.

So

even if the conditions were to continue some of the legacy
waste and uncontained and unengineered storage, there's
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plumes on site, but we are treating and intersecting those
plumes so that there's no off-site impact. so we're taking
active measures to intervene to ensure that there's no risk
to the public or the river. but we know that the right
thing to do, the better thing to do is to have an
engineered containment facility, which ensures that passes
safety.

And we recognize that because of that proximity to

the river it is a difficult concept to walk the public
through why that distance from the river is into the kiosk
as to why the facility is safe.

So we have many

infographics and we have had many webinars where we explain
why this site complements the safety feature as to why this
site to the river we realize that to balance that with the
perspective there is no risk to the river and as a license
CNL has to ensure we manage that risk.
So even if the conditions were to continue
and the legacy waste and uncontained and unengineered
storage there is plums on site and we're treating and
intersecting those plumes so there is no off site impact.
We have taking steps to ensure this are no
risk to the public or the river.

We know the right thing

to do is to have an engineered containment facility that we
ensure passes the safety.

And we recognize that because of

that proximity to the river it's a difficult concept to
walk the public through why that distance from the river is

188

into the kiosk as to why the facility is safe.
So we have many infographics and we have
had many webinars as to why this site actually compliments
the safety features.

Because of the topography, we even

walk the members of the public up the ridge to understand
topography.
And the fact that at that location the
groundwater flows away from the river not towards the river
from the kiosk towards that ridge.
And we also have models and pieces of
material of our geomembrane.

You don't just have one layer

of defence, you have multiple layers of the defence.

In

the base line system we actually have three main
components:

the compact clay liner, the secondary liner

system and the primary liner system.

So we have three

layers plus groundwater monitoring should anything, you
know, go through unexpectedly or in that unlikely
situation.
Again, the fears, the way that we mitigate
that is through transparency and communication and by
inviting them to come to the site should they be
interested.
Let me go to Mr. Quinn to see if he has
more to add to that.
MR. QUINN:

Pat Quinn for the record.
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I'll be brief.
Ms. Vickerd gave a good explanation about
the tools and activities we undertake on how we answer
questions related the NSDF proposal.

I'd like to add

though, that in particular with the MRC Pontiac, they have
a membership on our Environmental Stewardship Council.
fact, MRC Pontiac has two seats on the council:

In

one an

elected official who represents one of the municipalities
and then another is a member of the MRC staff, who were
able to go back in the working portion of the municipality.
but the reason i raised that is because
the Environmental Stewardship Council for the last 17
meetings, we have had NSDF subject.
So project representatives have been there
describing the project activities, talking about the nature
of the waste, and the location, and that type of thing.
So it's an important opportunity for all
members to gain direct access and information about the
proposed project.

And also as mentioned, we have also

hosted elected officials to site, walked the grounds,
answered the questions.

So they are able to see, for

instance, the facilities we are taking down and then the
waste source and the proposed location to where it would be
disposed of.
So I hope that helps, and I will leave it
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there.
THE PRESIDENT:

Yes, that's helpful.

Thank you.
No, I will leave it there.
MS. VICKERD:
useful to --

sorry.

If I could add I think it's

Meggan Vickerd for the record.

It's only useful to provide a description
on how we tried to engage and walk the public through the
project.

But it's important to recognize how we heard from

the public in what we incorporated to the EIS.

We already

talked about the fact that we have set the spatial
boundaries down the river to demonstrate that there is no
impact to the environment and the Ottawa River
specifically.
We've also included receptors of interest,
receptors being people, and how people interact with the
environment.

So in our modelling we have included members

of public down river including Sheenboro, Ottawa and
Gatineau to provide a data point as to what is a dosed
member of the public, and it is well below the regulatory
dose threshold.
And so that we've used -- we have not only
tried to communicate, but we have listened to the concerns
and tried to take that into understanding in our assessment
and make changes to demonstrate why it's safe for them.
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THE PRESIDENT:

Thank you.

Madame Massé, avez-vous des commentaires
supplémentaires que vous aimeriez faire après avoir entendu
les réponses aux questions des Membres de la Commission?
MME MASSÉ : Oui, Madame Velshi.

Merci de

me donner cette possibilité à nouveau.
D'abord, j'aimerais dire concernant les
appuis qui ont pu être donnés depuis quelque temps aux LNC
sur ce projet, bien, je vois que la réponse de la CMM est à
l'effet que la CMM s'oppose à ce projet-là.

Alors, c'est

déjà un manque d'appui qui m'apparaît flagrant.
Et d'autre part, nous aimerions savoir
comment il se fait ou pourquoi, finalement, n'a-t-on pas
envisagé un projet qui soit loin de la source de l'eau
potable, de la Rivière des Outaouais, puisque c'est cela
qui fait, je dirais, sauter le bouchon des citoyens.
Merci, Madame.
LA PRÉSIDENTE : Merci encore, Madame
Massé, pour votre présentation aujourd'hui.
We're ready to move to the next
presentation, which is by the North American Young
Generation in Nuclear.

It's outlined in 22-H-7.9.

have got Mr. Mairinger, who will be making the
presentation.
Mr. Mairinger over to you, please.

And we
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CMD 22-H-7.9
Oral presentation by the
North American Young Generation in Nuclear

MR. MAIRINGER:
record.

Matthew Mairinger for the

I would like to start by thanking the Canadian

Nuclear --

records.

THE PRESIDENT:

You are on mute.

MR. MAIRINGER:

Can you hear me now?

THE PRESIDENT:

Yes, thank you.

MR. MAIRINGER:

Matthew Mairinger for the

I would like to start by thanking the Canadian

Nuclear Safety Commission for providing an opportunity to
submit an intervention on the Canadian Nuclear
Laboratories' application to amend its Chalk River
Laboratory Site licence to authorize the construction a
Near Surface Disposal Facility.
I have nine years of experience working
for Ontario Power Generation at both Darlington and
Pickering.

I have worked in project controls, minor

modifications, reactor safety, stakeholder relations,
performance engineering, and i currently work as a business
analyst in Nuclear Sustainability Services.

I earned my

Bachelor of Engineering degree in Nuclear Engineering and
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Graduate Diploma in Nuclear Technology from Ontario Tech
University.

I'm a Professional Engineer in the Province of

Ontario and I'm also a Project Management Professional.
I'm here representing the North American
Young Generation OF Nuclear as NAYGN Operating Officer.
NAYGN is an association of young
professionals and students passionate about the nuclear
industry and is focused on professional developments and
public development and networking and community outreach.
There are over 100 chapters in North America, with 16
chapters in Canada and including a Chalk River Chapter.
I want to start with a broad perspective.
Fossil fuel air pollution causes almost
1:5 deaths globally each year.

and already the global

average atmospheric carbon dioxide is over 422 parts per
million.

This is the current situation.

This is the

reality we have.
As global citizens we need to rapidly
adopt technologies to that help us reach our net zero
targets.

Ontario thankfully has one of the cleanest grids

on the planet thanks to around 60 percent nuclear in
combination with hydro electricity and other clean sources.
With the push for more electrification,
such as transportation, we need new clean, reliable
baseload power more than ever.
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I'm excited for the near surface disposal
facility for a couple of reasons.

It demonstrates

environmental stewardship from Canadian nuclear labs.
Ninety percent of the waste intended for disposal is
already on site.

This project will be to conduct

environmental remediation of contaminant soils and
materials that are low level waste materials and put them
in an engineered facility designed to withstand extreme
weather events and solve the problems of where to store low
level waste so that the problem is not left to future
generations.
Number 2, for years I've heard from anti
nuclear groups that there is no solution for radioactive
waste.

Well, this project is ready to go and will make

that a moot point.

That leaves one less excuse to argue

against the lowest carbon source for electricity.
Number 3, as an environmentalist I'm
impressed with the engineering involved in this project.
The site is on a bedrock ridge that naturally forces the
water away from the river.

the NSDF will also feature an

advanced water treatment facility and will have an
additional monitoring facility which will be displayed
publicly giving trust in the projects.
No. 4, I would like to look at the life
cycle materials required for energy and the land required
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for nuclear.

Because nuclear is incredibly energy dense,

and we're talking one million times greater than that of
other traditional sources.

The land footprint for nuclear

is much less for energy produced and that means more room
for flora and fauna.

And this also means that materials

required to be mined, processed and shipped are much less
than other energy sources.

While this project is a

disposal facility, I want to remind others that all energy
creates waste and nuclear produces far less waste when
compared with other carbon sources, that means less
extraction of the raw materials, less processing and less
shipping.

Yes, please.
For No. 5, while the sound of a nuclear

disposal facility may sound alarming, I want to bring back
the attention to what will be stored, low level waste.
I will just bring in the definition from
the national atomic energy agency, which is a United
Nations organization.

Low level waste is defined as waste

that is above clearance levels, but with limited amounts of
long-lived radionuclides.

Such waste requires robust

isolation and containment for periods of up to a few
hundred years and is suitable for disposal in engineered
near surface facilities.

This class covers a very broad

range of waste.
So having a near surface disposal, which
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CNL is proposing, is commensurate with the disposal
strategy indicated by the international best practices just
mentioned.

When the facility is closed the dose to someone

living down river in Ottawa or Gatineau is one million
times lower than the regulated public dose limit.
For point No. 6, as I stated earlier all
energy sources have downsides, coal releases over 85
hazardous toxins and air pollutants, and has very high
greenhouse gas emissions.

Natural gas, whereas I prefer to

call it as it is methane, has high greenhouse emissions.
Wind and solar have land requirements and
require a substantial amount of natural resources, such as
rare earth metals in particular, and there are disposal
concerns, such as, wind turbines are notoriously difficult
to dispose of.
Solar contains a host of toxic materials,
and there currently is no recycling facility in Canada for
solar.
So while the focus is on a disposal
facility, I'd encourage others who are against this project
to calculate the environmental impact if other energy
sources were used for a comparable amount of energy used.
Point No. 7, this is the waste we're
looking at, but let us remember what was achieved from this
waste.

Let's remember the countless people saved in
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hospitals from receiving nuclear medical treatments and
diagnostics.

Let's remember the cutting-edge nuclear

research allowing us to explore the universe and understand
the origins of life.

Let's remember Ontario phased out

coal in large part due to nuclear energy.
And for point No. 8, this project will
benefit the community, with a construction phase requiring
an average of 225 full-time skilled workers.

As a young

professional advocate, this is great news to our fellow
young professionals.
In closing, I truly believe this project
is safe.

This project is a positive environmental action,

and that CNL has a solid path forward.
I'm happy that CNL has gone through over
six years of engagement and public feedback including 16
identified indigenous communities.

As a young professional

that is passionate about the wellbeing of the environment
for generations to come, I urge you to take the crucial
step in approving the application to amend the Chalk River
site license to authorize the construction of the Near
Surface Disposal Facility.

Do it for the planet.

THE PRESIDENT:

Thank you, Mr. Mairinger.

Dr. Lacroix, any questions?
MEMBER LACROIX:

THANK YOU, Mr. Mairinger

for the submission and the presentation quite interesting.
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I have no questions.
THE PRESIDENT:
MEMBER MAHARAJ:

Ms. Maharaj?
Thank you, Madam Velshi,

I have no questions for Mr. Mairinger.
THE PRESIDENT:

Thank you.

Thank you for

your intervention, Mr. Mairinger.
We'll then move to our next presentation,
which is by the Greenspace Alliance of Canada's Capital.
It is outlined in CMD 22-H7.143.
I believe we have Mr. Warren Unger to
be -- who will be making the presentation remotely.
Mr. Unger, over to you, please.

CMD 22-H7.143
Oral presentation by the
Greenspace Alliance of Canada's Capital

MR. UNGER:

Yes.

Good afternoon.

Before

starting I would like to confirm if everyone can hear me
well?
THE PRESIDENT:
MR. UNGER:

Yes, we can.

I would like to convey our

regrets that our chair had a unexpected family health
emergency and could not join us today.
then.

Well, I will start
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The Green Space Alliance of Canada's
capital is an association of residents and boot strong on
both sides of the Ottawa River working since 1997 to
protect and enhance natural areas, including the wetlands
and waterways in the National Capital Region.
I must clarify that the Green Space
Alliance is not anti nuclear and we fully support proper
solutions for nuclear waste management.

This project for

approval just happens to not be that.
Before I lay out the four points put
forward by the Green Space Alliance there is something I
have to tell you about.
I was mowing the lawn just the other day
and some styrofoam in the grass got inadvertently got
mowed, shredded into dozens of small pieces, tiny balls of
styrofoam in very small clusters.

For a moment I thought

nothing to worry, still lots to mow, nothing significant,
very small pieces spread out.

But then I realized some

birds, including fleshlings and babies that were hoping to
get some nourishment as those tiny puffs looked like insect
eggs.

They can't be digested.

So they would go in their

tiny intestines and kill them.
I would be responsible even if I told
myself that the consequences was insignificant as I will
never see the birds thrive. but causing preventable harm to
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unsuspecting innocent creatures of the world.

Therefore i

stopped, and I spent several minutes picking up the
styrofoam pieces from the grass.
How is this relevant to this meeting?
It's completely relevant because this
project and the current approach of the military industry
are predicated on diluting radioactive pollution into the
air and our sources of fishing and drinking water.
they are out of sight, never seeing what
happens to people years after releasing.
Let's get something clear.

Everyone here

knows for a fact that radioactive contaminants are proven
carcinogens.

And everyone knows that the greatest thing

from radioactive particles is not adding to the grand total
of exposure, but being ingested and lodged in the body with
cells and tissues for years.
I also assume that everyone also knows
that every case of childhood leukemia, every brain and
every rare cancer.

Proven carcinogens.

You have a

professional responsibility to keep out of our air and
drinking water and those that live here after us.
We have heard from independent experts
that the site is not suitable.
the water treatment plant.
treatment fails?

There is no reversal for

And what happens when the water

It will fail, as all machines do.
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Will a private for-profit consortium spend
more to repair it immediately if no one outside of the
plant notices it's broken down?

I think we all know the

answers.
So, the Green Space Alliance out of
concern for the health and well-being of present and future
residents and the water shed here by asks the Commission to
reject the application at hand.

We also request the

Commission instead demand a better approach one that aligns
with international instruments and ensures leak proof
holdings and continues access from injury, for servicing
and upgrading, until a time that safer systems exist.
The request is based on four principles.
First and foremost, it's profoundly
immoral to gather a million pounds of radioactive material
which is fully expected to disintegrate in 200 years.
The proposal is expected to weather down
and disintegrate over time and releasing on the environment
and future generations a million tons of lethally toxic
waste.
Approving the project would mean it would
be unleashed and thus it's completely unacceptable.
And second -- as if we need more -- the
Environmental Impact Assessment falls short from what a
proper environmental assessment should be.

So as to keep
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this project under the old system keeping it outside of the
purview of the environmental agency in Canada and their
requirements.
The environmental assessment should go
beyond the requirements and consider environmental and
human health and socioeconomic criteria.
The decision on this application should be
based on what is destroyed and not on what one can get away
with.
Third, the current proposal would have
liquid discharges flown to the Ottawa watershed for
separation and the liners and structures material and even
before the proposed 50 year proposed operation.

The

situation could be greatly worsened by terrorists and
unexpected failures.

The design will make it impossible to

detect such failures much less pinpoint the location.

To

enter the watershed and the water table and the future
generations will be drinking.

To allow this by saying that

the dilution is fine is not acceptable.
The World Health Organization states
clearly that it's a proven carcinogen and also states that
its first health effects and know level of radiation should
be safe.
Continuous radiation.

We know that

Canada's allowable limits regarding exposure are not the
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same as safe limits and we know for a fact there is no safe
limit for infants and pregnant women.
Last but not least, this project
represents a huge opportunity.

It's wasting a golden

opportunity to build a waste management facility that meets
and exceeds international standards.

Storage facilities

that are safe and resilient and serviceable and retrievable
holdings and free from leaks and long lasting construction
that can be upgraded and replaced.

The very name of the

NSDF makes it clear it's mandate is to expose radioactive
waste not cover it.
Let's be frank, please, what we are seeing
is a business effort to dispose of cheaply remnants from
science and instead of building resilient facilities and
upgradeable facilities instead of seeping into the
watershed.
The Commission promotes Canada as a global
leader in which you allow here will probably be replicated
elsewhere.

What we could develop a safe storage for

managing waste.

Environmental changes all the time.
In conclusion, it's very disappointing to

see how far along this approval has come along.

The risk

to Canada's international reputation and the squandering of
a golden opportunity to develop much better alternatives.
there are much better alternatives and
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please don't accept this.

Please demand better.

THE PRESIDENT:

Thank you very much, Mr.

Unger.
MEMBER MAHARAJ:

Thank you, Madam Velshi.

Thank you, Mr. Unger, for your
presentation.
I would like to address one of your key
aspects of your intervention, Mr. Unger, that is the
potential for maintenance or lack of maintenance of the
facility as we progress through a long life cycle of the
structure.
I would like to ask CNL to elaborate a
little bit on what is the plan for ensuring that the NSDF
is maintained and is continued -- it continues to be in a
good state of repair?

I think it's a legitimate concern

that the Intervenor has raised 30 years, 40 years, 100
years from now who is maintaining this facility and what
provision has been made to ensure it stays in good
condition?
MR. BOYLE:

So Phil Boyle FOR THE RECORD.

I think I can address that and Ms. Vickerd
add more details.
The Government of Canada is responsible
for this facility.

Through the configuration of CNL, AECL

has tasked us to make a recommendation on what this
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facility would look like and design it and maintain it.
Whatever the operator of the Canadian
Laboratories is into the future it will be their
responsibility to maintain this facility.
The number one statement is there will be
an enduring government entity that is responsible to be
sure that this facility is operated and maintained as it's
required to be.
Secondly, there is the license.
The license to operate should be gone
through the license to construct and apply for and receive
the license to operate and will contain certain conditions.
Just as our license for Chalk River Laboratory has right
now.
They require us to have a program to
maintain our facilities and cnsc approves the documentation
we have for that.

We're inspected against that and, of

course, we inspect ourselves.

That process provides a

check, if you will, on how the maintenance goes.
And all of the reports that are required,
the compliance monitoring report, the licence updates, and
we're going to have another midterm review for our current
licence in just a year or so, all of those are
opportunities for the status of this facility to be
evaluated by others and ourselves.
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So, that is the way I would answer why you
should be confident that the facility would be maintained.
Ms.

Vickerd, would you add anything to

that?
MS. VICKERD:

Meggan Vickerd for the

record.
The closure plan.

The closure plan

identifies what would need to be monitored during the
closure phase.

And that outlines the inspection of the

facility confirming the fence that we're proposing to go
around the facility would be the direct construction
operation, and enclosure is maintained and ensure that
there is no settlement before and after the wastewater
treatment plant and the leachate collection.
To see once the cover is on.
We expect to generate leachate for some
time period of as the facility dewaters itself.

That would

be an indicator if the cover is performing as well.
The groundwater or other environmental
monitoring of the program would ensure that the facility is
performing the way it is expected to be.

The facility is

passive and they are an added defence and depth to ensure
that the facility is performing and is safe.
THE PRESIDENT:

And maybe I can pass that

over to CNSC staff just to add a little bit of depth to the
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explanation to how the relationship with AECL is going to
ensure that the facility is tended through the centuries.
MS. MURTHY:

Kavita Murthy for the record.

The responsibility and safe operations and
effective management practices ultimately rests with AECL.
and at this point in time, as CNL has indicated, CNL is
doing the work related to this under their mandate.
We're looking to AECL to make the proper
arrangements to make sure that the base is maintained
safely for any extended period of time.
Complementing the answer again that CNL
gave, it looks at the evolution of the project and we would
develop our compliance monitoring program both to ensure
that CNL is abiding by the committments they have made both
for environmental protection and as well as for any other
commitments related to the design starting from the
construction all the way to closure and institution
control.

So there would be an active compliance that would

go in lock step with whatever stage the project is at.
THE PRESIDENT:

Thank you.

And just to

finish that thought, the Intervenor has been concerned
about leaching and CNL has mentioned there is this
anticipated period of time where the facility will dewater
itself and there will be a production of leaching.
Is the compliance program that staff is
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designing going to respond specifically to that?

What I

think I'm hearing is a bit of a crest in the leaching and
then if the liners are performing correctly, correct me if
I'm wrong, then you will see a tapering off of the
leaching.
Can you explain how specifically the
compliance program will address that.
MS. MURTHY:

The key part to answer your

question is the follow up program, which will not only
evaluate the predictions made today and going on to make
sure that those predictions are coming true and making sure
that, if not, there is remediation action.
So I ask Dr. Kwamena to comment on that.
And the other part of your question was
related to how will we ensure that the NSDF water treatment
plant is functioning and that there isn't the leach
collection anticipated leach collection is accurate.
We have experience -- we have regulated
very effectively projects which also have wastewater
treatment plants that are not identical, but the principles
are the same.
So yes, we do have that operating
experience at the CNSC and inspecting wastewater treatment
plants and looking at the systems in place and ensuring
that they are maintained safely.
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So over to you, Dr. Nana Kwamena.
DR. KWAMENA:

Dr. Nana Kwamena for the

record.
It's a means of adaptive management and
one element of this program is to see if any changes need
to be made to the program or to the various mitigation
measures that have been in place and that being a
consequence.

That is one element that will be put in place

if the project is to go forward.
Under the Environmental Protection there
is the ongoing environmental protection program and with
respect to that and I can pass that on to my colleagues.
And under that umbrella we have the
Environmental Risk Assessment if the project were to be
approved it would be updated on a five-year cycle or
whenever there is a change in the overall facilities' life
cycle.
If you want further details on those
additional points I can certainly pass it along.
THE PRESIDENT:

The question has been

answered.
Mr. Unger, you have something you wanted
to add?
MR. UNGER:

A couple of points.

The first

CNL representative confirmed that the consortium that is
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proposing this or pitching this model which is a disposal
model not a waste management model is not responsible for
this going forward they are just the contractors.

There is

no guarantee that any of the members will remain the same,
that they will be around 3, 5, 50 not 300 years from now.
And they can even walk away from the contracts if they want
if things start going wrong, and we're all on the hook you
and me all of the taxpayers, and not the proponents.

That

is something very important especially when we last keep in
mind what is being proposed here is a disposal is not a
management.
The other thing i wanted to clarify from
Meggan Vickerd, the drainage will flow away from the Ottawa
River.

It will drain to part of the watershed.

And keep

in mind that we're talking long term the hydrology of the
place and the flows and everything will change and over the
centuries and this is expected to disintegrate.
I will leave it at that.
THE PRESIDENT:

We want to see if AECL

wants to add anything in terms of long term responsibility.
MR. MACDONALD:

I would like to respond

and a few points on the intervention.
AECL is a Federal Crown Corporation and
our liabilities and responsibilities are those of the
Government of Canada and we take them seriously and they
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are important to us.

It's been purposely set up so that

CNL is an enduring entity, meaning CNL could award a new
contract to AECL.

CNL would remain responsible for the

operation of all AECL sites and the ownership will be
changed CNL may be a private firm, but they are not a
for-profit mandate.

And as Mr. Boyle and others will

stress safety is paramount in CNL's operation.
And we would also maybe add for a
practical purpose a the fact that there is a consortium it
means in reality there are a small number of key personnel
that support CNL and the CNL employees and staff, and many
CNL employees were there post will do whatever the
commercial consortium takes place afterwards meaning the
CNL employees will remain as they are.
Those are a couple of points I would like
to make in response to that.
Thank you for the option to speak.
THE PRESIDENT:

Thank you, Mr. McDonald.

And maybe give CNL an opportunity to
comment on the Intervenor's statement of comparing the NSDF
to a dirty bomb and i want to give you an opportunity to
comment on that, please.
MR. McBREARTY:

The NSDF is a disposal

facility, and the vast majority of the material already
exists in the Chalk River site.

The vast majority is not
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in isolation.
NSDF provides the isolation and prevents
intrusion.

That is one of the security and safety features

of this facility.

In addition, because of the safety and

security management practices that we have, and part of the
license and enduring the facility, we provide the correct
level of security for our site for conditions that the
intervenor mentioned potentially like a dirty bomb.
This facility is designed over the first
100 years or so to decay of 00.1 percent of its initial
inventory.

The design of the facility and the

institutional controls and the management systems that we
have in place today that is an implausible scenario.
THE PRESIDENT:

Thank you.

Thank you,

Mr. Unger, for your intervention and i enjoyed your analogy
that you started your presentation with as you were mowing
the lawn and destroying the styrofoam cup.
With that, we'll take a short break and
resume at 3:30 p.m.

Thank you.

--- Upon recessing at 3:16 p.m. /
Suspension à 15 h 16
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--- Upon resuming at 3:32 p.m./
Reprise à 15 h 32

CMD 22-H7.50
Oral Presentation by Ottawa Raging Grannies

THE PRESIDENT:

Welcome back.

presentation is by the Ottawa Raging Grannies.

Our next
As outlined

in CMD 22-H7.50, and I understand that we have got Ms. Wood
and Ms. Whitmore presenting remotely.

So over to you,

please.
MS. WOOD:

Okay.

Thank you very much.

We

are here representing the Ottawa Raging Grannies, this is
Bessa and myself, and we're older women dedicating to make
the world a better place for our grandchildren and we often
make songs to make our points and we'll give you a taste of
that today.

In 2017, we began to collaborate with other

groups who oppose the proposed dump, and the first video
that you're going to see was made in July of 2018 in
Ottawa, and it's about an atomic tea party.
There should be sound.
THE PRESIDENT:
MS. WOOD:
happening?

Okay.

Not yet.
Sorry.

I thought there was sound.

--- Video presentation / Présentation vidéo

What's
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MS. WHITMORE:

This is a letter from my

grandson, to me and you, the Canadian Nuclear Safety
Commission:
"Dear Grandmother:"
The date is April 2nd, 2042, in 20 years
from now, when he was 26.

Right now he is 6 years old.

"Dear Grandma:

I want to thank you,

Grandma, for your efforts to prevent the Chalk River
nuclear waste dump from being built.
CNSC who refuse to panic.

Thank you Members of

You resist the nuclear industry

push to do something now in an effort to try to solve a
problem that, back then, no one really knew what to do.
Your caution has paid off.

You showed wisdom in thinking

beyond the immediate to the longer term about me and my
generation.

It's only now that I have grown up that I

appreciate the work you have done.

When I was 14, I used

to think you knew nothing.

Now that I'm 26, I'm amazed at

how much you have learned.

I'm so glad the Members of the

CNSC implemented the alternative policy put out by Nuclear
Waste Watch because we now have clear evidence of leaks
from other places that built similar nuclear waste dumps.
I'm so glad that Members of the -- you gave us time to
figure out what to do and invest in alternative waste to
store nuclear waste.
Since then, we have found other safer ways
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to deal with the problem of nuclear waste that you could
not have foreseen at the time.

My generation has clean

drinking water thanks to you.
I love you, Grandma.

Your work has made a

ginormous difference in the quality of life here in Ottawa
now.

Please express my most sincere gratitude also to

Members of CNSC for their decision to reject the proposal
for a nuclear waste dump at Chalk River.
Your loving grandson, Oscar."
Can you play the next one, please?
--- Video presentation / Présentation vidéo
MS. WOOD:
listening.

Okay.

Thank you very much for

The second video was made, of course, during

our epidemic, so we had to sing solos which we don't much
like.

However, the lyrics of our songs convey a serious

message, and we hope that you hear it and we hope that you
stop the nuclear waste dump near the Ottawa River.
away from water.

Move it

Thank you.
THE PRESIDENT:

Thank you very much for

your submission, and I'll open the floor for questions
starting with Dr. Lacroix.
MEMBER LACROIX:

Well, thank you very

much, ladies, for this very unusual presentation.
no questions.
THE PRESIDENT:

Ms. Maharaj?

I have
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MEMBER MAHARAJ:

Thank you, Madame Velshi.

Thank you, ladies, for your presentation.
In your submission you refer specifically
to recommendations about documentation and long-term logs
of what's stored in the facility.
understand better from you:

I just wanted to

Are you asking about what the

scope of the documentation of the inventory will be, or are
you asking about how will that information be stored for
the long term?
MS. WOOD:

We are very concerned about the

information being stored for the long term and for it being
sufficient so that continuing care for the site can be
taken.

I mean, it is going to be a long, long-term thing,

and people in the future are going to have to know where it
is and what needs to be done to protect the citizens.
MEMBER MAHARAJ:

Thank you.

So maybe then

I can turn to CNL and ask how it is that you do plan to
document and preserve the record of the inventory?

Just as

a point of reference, I was thinking, you know, I have a
lot of documents myself stored on soft floppy disks that
are about this big which I can't retrieve anymore.

So how

do you propose to preserve documentation for that period of
time?
MR. BOYLE:

Phil Boyle for the record.

I think the first statement is that
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records are required for a whole lot of activities, not
just the NSDF.

So, for example, radiation exposure

records, other records associated with the site.

And so we

do maintain a records process system, our management system
requires us to do that.

It specifies how we have backups,

how we make copies, how we maintain this into the future.
And I believe there are some specific rules that are
related to records for radioactive waste storage, and so
Ms. Vickerd can comment on those directly.
MS. VICKERD:

Meggan Vickerd for the

record.
As previously stated, we have a management
system which ensures that records are managed in accordance
with N286 as a Class 1 facility.

As a waste disposal

facility, we're subject to the requirements of what
specifies waste records and what information those waste
records entails, and that's in CSA N292 and we're currently
doing that.
And for evidence as to how do we manage
evolution of the method you use for records management, in
the '40s and '50s, CNL managed waste and we used paper
records.

Nowadays we use electronic and computer database

systems.

So that's an example of how records management

have already evolved and how we ensure that we still have
the methods and maintain compliance.

And retrievability is
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an important part of the record management system as well.
If you don't mind, I just want to comment
on the language used by this Intervenor's mother -Intervenor in calling the facility a dump.

I just want to

clarify that the NSDF is proposed to be a Class 1B
facility.

In the waste management system, "dump" typically

refers to a depression where waste is in place without any
serious consideration of hydrology, waste restriction or
barrier system.

So that does not accurately reflect what

our proposed facility is.
NSDF has a multiple layer engineered
barrier system that incorporates the latest available
technology.

It is carefully designed to contain and

isolate the waste and treat the leachate, and so it is
consistent with what certainly the public and our
regulators would expect us to engineer and propose as a
Class 1B facility.
MEMBER MAHARAJ:
that, Ms. Vickerd.

Just as a follow-up to

We have spoken throughout the morning

in particular about some of the legacy waste that is in
trenches and is in non-engineered storage at the Chalk
River site.

Would any of that type of waste qualify as

being currently in the structure of being a dump per your
definition?
MS. VICKERD:

Meggan Vickerd for the
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record.
I would say although the standards and
practices at the time that the waste was in place, there
was at least consideration of hydrology taken into
consideration.

Certainly if you want expansion, Mr. George

Dolinar can give that because since we started in-placing
waste in the '40s and '50s, we started studying how it
interacted with the environment, and we controlled it and
oversaw it as part of our licence for the Chalk River site
since that time.

So it would not -- though it is not

reflective of modern standards, I would not even call those
facilities -- those licensed previous in-placements in the
'40s and '50s necessarily a dump.
MEMBER MAHARAJ:

Would it be CNL's

position that that particular legacy waste, being below
current standards of disposal or storage -- whichever -would be in a better state in the future if it was
in-placed into the NSDF, is that correct?
MS. VICKERD:

Meggan Vickerd for the

record.
Yes, that's correct.

Because the proposed

facility as engineered containment and isolation for the
lifetime that the inventory would remain hazardous.
MEMBER MAHARAJ:
THE PRESIDENT:

Thank you.
I have a couple of
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questions and I'll start off with the Intervenors first.
In your written submission, in your last
paragraph you say:
"Most of the excellent recommendations of
the pre-report hearings have been ignored."
Can you just direct me to what that
pre-report hearings is that you're making reference to,
please?
MS. WOOD:

As I understand it, there was a

whole set of hearings that led to the report.

We didn't

participate in that one, but we heard from others that what
was being recommended, there was very little change from
the pre-report to the report.
THE PRESIDENT:

Thank you.

The second one

is to CNL.
In the letter from Ms. Whitmore's grandson
thanking her for her efforts in cancelling the project 40
years from now, has this area of waste disposal -- just
tell me, how quickly is it evolving and innovating, and are
there new ideas and new ways of managing the long-term
disposal of waste?

Has that changed a lot in the last

little while?
MR. McBREARTY:

President Velshi -- for

the record, Mr. McBrearty.
So we are using state-of-the-art
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technology.
standards.

The technology we're using meets international
The technology has evolved over the last

several decades, but when we look at the technology being
used in other countries, in particular in the U.S. for near
surface disposal for low level waste, this is at the height
of that technology.
THE PRESIDENT:

Fair enough.

But if you

were to look, say, at five years ago, has the technology
changed a whole lot?
MR. McBREARTY:

It has not changed, no.

THE PRESIDENT:

Thank you.

Thank you very

much for your intervention and again for your innovative
ways to intervene today.

Greatly appreciated that.

Thank

you.
We will then move to our next
intervention.

CMD 22-H7.41 and CMD 22-H7.41A
Oral Presentation by the Sierra Club Canada Foundation

THE PRESIDENT:

It's a presentation by the

Sierra Club Canada Foundation as outlined in CMD 22-H7.41
and .41A, and I understand Ms. Fitzgerald will be
presenting, but I see we have got Dr. Hendrickson here too.
Ah.

Okay, Ms. Fitzgerald, over to you, please.
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MS. FITZGERALD:

Hi.

And I hope you can

hear me.
THE PRESIDENT:
MS. FITZGERALD:

Yes, we can.
Great.

Thank you.

My name is

Gretchen Fitzgerald, I'm National Programs Director with
Sierra Club Canada Foundation, a national environmental
charity in Canada, and I am very fortunate in the room to
have with you Dr. Ole Hendrickson who is our President of
Sierra Club and also the Chair of our Conservation
Committee.
I'll, without further ado, get underway.
The CNSC's Environmental Assessment Report
cites the International Atomic Energy Agency, the IAEA
Safety Guide SSG29 in claiming that the NSDF site selection
process used structured criteria and methodology and is in
alignment with the applicable standards.
How is this possible when Appendix 1 of
the SSG29 says that the first two stages in siting a
disposal facility are a conceptual and planning stage and
an area survey stage.

Is it not true that the CNL skipped

both of these stages?
The NSDF safety case appears to be based
on a made-up inventory that has no apparent relation to the
actual quantities of federal nuclear waste.

SSG29 says

that waste types, quantities, and radioactivity must be
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specified for any nuclear waste facility.
require similar information.

CNSC regulations

Can the CNL or the CNSC

provide this information for the NSDF?
Canadian Nuclear Laboratories lacks data
to determine what disposal option for federal waste would
cost least in the long run .for the first 40 years at Chalk
River Laboratories, low level and intermediate level waste
were not characterized, labelled, or tracked.

Waste was

put in unmarked packages or simply dumped in the ground.
Can the CNL provide credible information on the origins of
waste that would go into the NSDF?

Is CNL willing to put

uncharacterized waste into the NSDF with only crude
estimates of its long-lived radionuclides?

Would the CNSC

have the capacity to monitor the radionuclides that the CNL
would put into the NSDF?
CNL has reclassified 95 percent of what
was formerly reported as intermediate level waste to the
IAEA as low level waste, and the much reduced ILW volume
was included in Canada's seventh national report.

Can the

CNL provide information to demonstrate that this was done
in a rigorous manner?
The IAEA says national governments should
ensure that waste with long-lived radionuclides is disposed
of in facilities designed to accept such waste.

Should

Canada have such a policy and apply it to a facility that
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would house the government's own nuclear waste?
There's a figure in the slide show you've
been provided which was taken from a report done for the
Nuclear Waste Management Organization which shows the
average cost of waste disposal for an engineered
containment mound as $2500 per cubic metre of waste.

A

million cubic metres would thus cost $2.5 billion, five
times CNL's cost estimate for the NSDF.

Is CNL

understating the cost of the NSDF and overstating its waste
capacity?

Has the CNL's cost estimate been independently

reviewed?
Average disposal costs, in contrast, for a
concrete vault or shallow rock cavern is around $5,000 per
metre cubed of waste.

Would these facilities provide

better long-term waste containment and a greater capacity
for long-lived waste than the NSDF?
A former Minister of Natural Resources
asked the Nuclear Waste Management Organization to develop
a long-term management strategy for Canada's low and
intermediate level radioactive waste.

The government

should develop this national strategy, not the NWMO.

The

NWMO assumes all federal low-level waste will go to the
NSDF.

What fraction of the 75-year accumulation of federal

radioactive waste would the NSDF safely contain if CNL were
to accurately measure different radionuclides prior to
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in-placement and adhere to licensed inventory limits for
them?
The CNSC is assessing the NSDF under CEAA
2012.

This requires consideration of technical and

economic feasibility and environment effects of alternative
means.

The

3:56:31 A reports that the CNL only fully

assessed a mound and a deep underground repository, .cost
of alternatives was not factored into the CNSC staff's
review.

Why did the CNSC staff not consider economic

feasibility of alternative facility types?

How is the

Chalk River Laboratories' property, with its proximity to
the Ottawa River, high groundwater table, uneven terrain
and fractured bedrock a suitable place for permanent
radioactive waste disposal?

Flat, sandy portions of the

30,000-hectare Department of National Defence Garrison
Petawawa property, adjacent to Chalk River Laboratories,
could accommodate a larger, less expensive and safer
in-ground concrete vault facility.

Why weren't potential

sites on that property investigated?

Why hasn't a regional

investigation of public land with geological formation
suitable for a shallow rock cavern facility been conducted?
The IAEA classifies waste based on how
radioactive it is and how long-lived it is.

Each class is

associated with a specific disposal type, landfill, near
surface, intermediate depth and deep geological.

The IAEA
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says landfill disposal is only for waste with very limited
concentrations of longer lived radionuclides.

But 25 of

the 31 radionuclides in the proposed NSDF inventory have
half-lives of more than 1500 years.

Landfills are

generally not used for packaged waste.

But waste packages

ranging in size up to an intermodal shipping container
would make up 13 percent of the NSDF waste volume.
The NSDF would also include shielded waste
packages.

The CNSC says waste that requires shielding is

intermediate level.

Why does the IAEA report state that

only low level waste would go into the NSDF when the CNL
plans to put shielded waste in it?
The CNL says an engineered containment
mound would be similar to a municipal landfill.

The IAEA

says some Member States allow no radioactive waste at all
to go into landfills.

The CNL is stacking these containers

of radioactive waste at Area H with plans to drive them to
the NSDF and abandon them.

Can the CNL provide evidence

that their contents have been properly characterized?
Activation products are made intentionally
and sold commercially.

Cobalt-59 targets are put in

reactors, bombarded with neutrons, and turned into
radioactive Cobalt-60.

Canadian manufacturers Best

Theratronics and Nordion put Cobalt-60 in devices used to
irradiate cancer tumours or sterlize food and medical
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equipment.

Canada exports 95 percent of the world's high

radioactive cobalt devices.
Cobalt-60 has a 5.3 year half-life.

It

decays to radiation levels that are still intense but not
strong enough to quickly kill cancer cells or bacteria in
food.

Expired Cobalt-60 devices or disused sources are

sent back to manufacturers who ship them to Chalk River.
They then become government property.

Disused Cobalt-60

sources are dangerous and require lead shielding.

CNL

seems intent on putting large quantities in the NSDF even
though the IAEA considers them intermediate level because
of their intense radioactivity.

Hundreds of tonnes of lead

would also go into the NSDF and potentially contaminate
groundwater.
Tritium is another major source of
activation product in CANDU heavy water reactors.
Deuterium is a rare form of hydrogen with both a proton and
a neutron in the nucleus.

Candu reactors make lots of

tritium because deuterium atoms in heavy water become
radioactive by absorbing a second neutron.

Tritium builds

up in Candu reactors and is radioactive, a radioactive
hazard to workers, the public and environment.

Candu

reactor heavy water is shipped to Darlington Reactor
Complex where the tritium is removed and converted to a
gas, and some is sold to SRB Technologies, a Pembroke
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company that fills phosphor-coated tubes with tritium gas,
seals the tubes, and put them in glow-in-the-dark exit
signs.

Tritium has a 12.3-year halflife.

Exit signs get

dimmer as the tritium decays and they become waste with
large quantities of tritium in them.

Truckloads of expired

exit signs are then shipped back to Pembroke, mostly from
the United States.

SRB takes out the tritium filled tubes,

puts them in barrels and sends them to Chalk River.
CNL provides very little information about
what would go into the NSDF, but explicitly mentions disuse
sources.

It appears that nearly all of the initial

radioactivity in the NSDF would be from commercial waste
devices containing Cobalt-60 and tritium, many imported
from other countries.

What proportion of the initial

radioactivity in the NSDF would be composed of Cobalt-60
and tritium from disused sources?

Can the CNL or the CNSC

provide information on the origins of disused sources that
are sent to Chalk River?

Can the CNL or the CNSC verify

that all of these disused sources were originally
manufactured in Canada?
At Chalk River in the 1940s and '50s,
plutonium and uranium 233 were extracted from irradiated
fuel and targets for the U.S. nuclear weapons program.
Soils and buildings were contaminated by plutonium and
fission products from accidents at fuel reprocessing
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facilities.

The NSDF would be Canada's first permanent

disposal facility for nuclear reactor waste including
post-fission waste, neutron activation waste, disuse
sources, shielded waste packages, mixed radioactive and
hazardous waste with heavy metals and persistent organic
pollutants and waste resulting from historic fuel
reprocessing activities.

Would the NSDF set a precedent

for other mound-type facilities that would contain these
waste types?

Are there safer options for these waste types

that would conform with international standards?
The IAEA says that intermediate level
waste is not suitable for any form of near surface disposal
and certainly not for a landfill disposal.

Yet in

June 2019, CNL, Bruce Power, Ontario Power Generation, New!
Brunswick Power and the NWMO all told CNSC plans of putting
ILW, intermediate level waste, in above-ground mounds.

Why

did the CNL submit that comment to the CNSC nearly two
years after announcing that no ILW would be put in the
NSDF?

Why are these companies supporting CNL's plans for

the NSDF?
In conclusion, putting long-lived
radioactive waste in a mound would violate international
standards and create significant adverse environmental
effects.
estimate.

There's huge uncertainty about the NSDF cost
Proper waste characterization is essential for
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choosing the type and site of a disposal facility.

A

thorough study of alternative sites and technologies is
needed before decisions are made on permanent disposal of
federal and commercial radioactive waste.
Thank you very much.
THE PRESIDENT:
for your presentation.

Thank you, Ms. Fitzgerald,

I just wanted to check with you.

Have you been watching or following the hearing today?
Many of the issues you've raised we've kind of touched on
earlier, and I just wanted to see if -- you're nodding.

So

you've been following -MS. FITZGERALD:

Yes.

As you can imagine

by Zoom it's difficult to follow a whole day, but I've
watched a bit of it.

So I know it has been touched on but

we did want to ask these questions and in particular get it
on the record that we have deep concerns.
THE PRESIDENT:
MS. FITZGERALD:

Yes.
I would also ask Ole to

add any comments, if he has any, from the room.
THE PRESIDENT:

Thank you.

Well, we'll open it up to the Commission
Members first for questions and start with Ms. Maharaj,
please.
MEMBER MAHARAJ:
Thank you for your presentation.

Thank you, Madam Velshi.
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I wanted to explore a bit about the
concept of concrete vault versus the design that has been
proposed.

You've mentioned in your submission, your

written submission, that you were concerned that the
concrete vault concept hadn't been thoroughly explored and
that there may have been some possibility for a concrete
vault installation on the neighbouring Petawawa land.
Perhaps CNSC can elaborate a little bit on
the thinking of the concrete vault versus the proposed
design.
MS. VICKERD:
record.

Meggan Vickerd for the

So you directed it at CNL; correct?
MEMBER MAHARAJ:

Yes.

Sorry.

What did I

say?
MS. VICKERD:

I'll have Ms. Faught expand

on alternative means assessment, but with an alternative
means assessment documented in Environmental Impact
Statement in section 2.5, we did look at a variety of
different types of designs for a near surface facility.
So over to Ms. Faught.
MS. FAUGHT:
the record.

Thank you.

Sandra Faught for

So as Ms. Vickerd mentioned, we did look at

above-ground concrete vaults in our alternative means
investment, so within the assessment we looked at first the
technical feasibility and the economic feasibility, and
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from CNL's perspective, both above-ground concrete vaults
and ECMs were technically and economically feasible.

So we

did move that forward into the assessment.
So then we went to look at potential
environmental effects from these two different facility
types, and above ground concrete vaults did have some, I'll
call them disadvantages compared to ECMs when it comes to
environmental effects.

So one thing is that the protection

of concrete does increase emissions of greenhouse gases, so
that is a factor that we are taking into consideration.
Also, the footprint of an above ground concrete vault would
be about one to two times the size of what we need for an
ECM.

So we would actually need two sites for above-ground

concrete vaults.
As well, with these vaults, typically the
waste goes in in packages, so that's either in drums or
in -- some countries use large concrete packages within the
concrete vault.

So that also adds to worker safety because

we would be having to package that waste.
And the last thing from an environmental
perspective was that the concrete vaults are more
susceptible to seismic activity.

So we have indicated and

our colleagues -- or NRCAN did indicate in Part 1 of the
hearing that the Chalk River site does have some seismic
activity, so an engineering containment mound and our
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design in particular is very robust and can respond to a
large earthquake or smaller earthquakes.
So I will leave it there, but overall, we
did do the assessment of the concrete vaults and the
engineered containment mound for the waste that we have at
the Chalk River as the appropriate solution.
MEMBER MAHARAJ:
THE PRESIDENT:

Thank you.
Thank you.

MEMBER LACROIX:

Dr. Lacroix?

Well, thank you very much

for the presentation.
This is a question for CNL.

The

construction of the NSDF, will involve blasting activities,
and I was wondering could rock blasting trigger fractures
in the rock bed that could eventually become conduits to
transport contaminated leachate?
MR. BOYLE:

Phil Boyle for the record.

I'm going to ask George Dolinar to comment on that,
Dr. Lacroix?
MR. DOLINAR:

George Dolinar for the

record.
I'll bring in a couple of different facets
to provide a complete answer to the extent that I can here.
What we're proposing here at d is a fully
encapsulated waste system.

So it's to some degree

independent of the underlying geology.

Obviously it sits
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on the ground but that's the extent of its reliance.

The

bedrock at the Chalk River site, the upper -- several tens
of metres is characterized as highly fractured and that's
the same for the NSDF proposed site.
In this particular instance, north of in
the long-term aspects where we expect some contaminant
migration to take place, a highly fractured bedrock is
advantageous from the point of view that it's predictable.
So it behaves as an effective porous medium, which is the
technical terminology, so it behaves like a sand or gravel
matrix.

So the concern around intact bedrock is if you do

get a fracture that could be a conducting fracture moving
contaminants to a location where you did not expect them to
arise.

And so that's not the case at the Chalk River site.

Our bedrock is highly fractured.

And to some degree when,

you know, blasting and removal of that upper bedrock takes
place to make room for the facility, that will also
increase the fracturing of that underlying rock as well.
So that's a benefit from a long-term modelling point of
view, and I'll stop there and see if there's any follow-up.
THE PRESIDENT:

So a question for CNL, and

it's back to inventory, and when do you expect to have
something more definitive available?

When do you expect to

have done your waste characterization, assessment, against
the Waste Acceptance Criteria, et cetera?

What kind of

235

time schedule are you looking at for that, because in the
absence of that, there are all kinds of assumptions being
made?
MS. VICKERD:

Meggan Vickerd for the

record.
I guess for clarity, the waste that we're
generating now in our ongoing operations or
decommissioning, they are consistent with modern waste
characterization practices and we're able to collect the
data required to demonstrate whether or not the waste meets
the Waste Acceptance Criteria.

Legacy waste, so all waste

including legacy waste, will be characterized according to
modern standards and segregated compared to NSDF Waste
Acceptance Criteria before we accept it into the facility.
We cannot start recovering legacy waste in the extensive
cleanup program we need to do until we do have a facility
that enables that cleanup mission.
So we have -- we have a bounding
inventory, we have the processes, including waste
characterization, and a document which is our operational
control limit.

So we're established with the facility, the

processes, and the resources to ensure that as we recover
legacy waste, we can ensure that it meets the Waste
Acceptance Criteria and place it into NSDF and also record
and report on that.
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THE PRESIDENT:
those chicken and egg things.

Okay.

Right.

So it's one of
Got it.

To the Intervenor's comment around
long-lived waste, you know, 25 -- I forget -- 30 or so
radionuclides have long half-lives and really not
consistent with the combination of low-level waste, how do
you respond to that?
MS. VICKERD:

Meggan Vickerd for the

record.
So that assertion is incorrect.

Low-level

waste by definition is by definition short lived but it can
contain some amounts of long lived.

The amounts of long

live we have proposed for threshold for cutoff is
consistent with the CNSC's reg doc, the Canadian standards,
and the IAEA guidance.

So just because there's long lived

does not mean it's not low level.
THE PRESIDENT:

Or the fact that most of

the radionuclides are long lived is not of concern then?
MS. VICKERD:

Meggan Vickerd for the

record.
That is correct, and we've done those
calculations in accordance with long-term safety
requirements to demonstrate that there would be no
consequence to the public or the environment.
THE PRESIDENT:

I know we'll talk about
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that tomorrow or the day after when we do the safety case.
Maybe I will take this opportunity to
invite some of our other government department folks who
are on the call to get their thoughts on what they have
heard not only from this intervention but some of the
earlier ones today, and if we can start with Environment
and Climate Change Canada, please.
MS. ALI:

Yes.

THE PRESIDENT:
MS. ALI:

Is Ms. Ali on the line?

Okay.

Good afternoon.

Nardia Ali,

Environment and Climate Change Canada for the record.
I think you wanted a comment generally on
how we've been involved with this project -THE PRESIDENT:

More importantly, of the

concerns that Intervenors have voiced today and the
responses made by CNSC and CNL staff.

Any comments from

you on that, whether it is around Waste Acceptance
Criteria, whether it is around site selection and
alternative assessments, et cetera?
MS. ALI:

I'll probably just comment on

the alternative selection because we're not that involved
with the Waste Acceptance Criteria.
Just as background, in the case of the
NSDFs, Environment Canada has reviewed sections of the EIS
and the technical appendices related to climate change,
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meteorology, air quality, water quality and radiological
contamination of surface water, biodiversity, environmental
preparedness and emergencies, because we have a very broad
mandate.

And in addition to reviewing the documentation,

we participated in many technical meetings with CNSC and
the proponent leading up to this hearing and to the EIS.
So with regard to the alternative site
assessment, we listed to what was presented today, we
looked at the results of the alternative site assessment,
and we support the conclusions to the current siting of the
Engineered Containment Mound.

The currently proposed site

for the NSDF project would minimize risks from
transportation.

The fact that the majority of the waste is

already on site is a big consideration.
River site also is well-known.

The current Chalk

It's already been

anthropogenically influenced, it's well-characterized and
studied with years of data and monitoring already on site
to support the project.
Environment Canada acknowledges the
concerns related to the proximity to the Ottawa River and
the wetlands; but because the legacy waste is already on
site and the project will aid in remediating some of these
contamination issues through proper management and the
removal and remediation of some of the existing buildings
on site and waste storage, we, you know, support the

239

conclusions of the project and decision cited there.
In addition, there will be no risk of
taking the waste to a new ecologically pristine site.
That's all I want to say about the alternative site.
And also I wanted to remind the Commission
that in addition to what happens today, there will be
ongoing oversight by CNSC in consultation with our
department, other regulatory agencies, and CNL to ensure
that the site is well-managed for the future, because that
was the other concern we heard today about, you know,
what's being put in place for the future.

There's also

going to be a follow-up monitoring program that Environment
Canada will be reviewing in consultation with CNSC for this
project.

Thank you.
THE PRESIDENT:

Thank you very much,

Ms. Ali.
I'll ask our colleagues from the Province
of Ontario Ministry of Environment and Conservation
Protection if they have any comments they'd like to make?
Is Mr. Castro with us?
MR. CASTRO:

Yes, Victor Castro for the

record.
I would state upfront that the Province of
Ontario has no regulatory oversight or jurisdiction over
this undertaking.

However, we were asked by CNSC to
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provide input on the hydrogeological aspects of the
undertaking and the site selection as well as the potential
for surface water impacts.

Those comments were -- those

reviews were undertaken by our specialists and the overall
conclusion is that, you know, albeit the site has, you
know, hydrogeological sensitivities which, you know, it has
been spoken to throughout the day today, with the
monitoring program, with the engineering controls that have
been proposed, the contingencies that are in place, that if
anything was to, you know, come out of the engineered
structure, you would likely be able to capture that within
the property boundary and then deal with that.
So overall, our conclusion is that, you
know, we are supportive of kind of the undertaking and
what's been proposed.
THE PRESIDENT:

Thank you.

Can you just

elaborate on these hydrogeological sensitivities from your
perspective for this site?
MR. CASTRO:

Victor Castro for the record.

If I could pass this question along to
Shawn Trimper who is the Ministry hydrogeologist to speak
to the issue of hydrogeological sensitivity and fractured
bedrock?
MR. TRIMPER:

Thanks, Victor.

Shawn

Trimper, Ontario Ministry of the Environment, Conservation
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Parks for the record.
As Victor mentioned and has come up during
the day a bit, earlier today as well, shallow fractured
bedrock is sort of inherently thought to have sort of
sensitivity in terms of allowing contaminants to enter the
subsurface.

However, stating this and the site-specific

scenario where we've actually -- it's been demonstrated to
my satisfaction, I think to most if not all of the
technical reviewers, that any releases from this system
would be contained within the Perch Lake watershed where
there already are impacts existing.

So from a purely

hydrogeological perspective, it's a very well-protected
system that does not pose any offsite risks or risks to
groundwater resources or users.

So from that perspective,

I think it's actually an ideally situated site from a
purely groundwater-related scenario.
THE PRESIDENT:

Thank you for that.

And then from the Province of Québec, the
Ministry of Environment and Climate Change?

Mr. Gelinas is

with us?
M. GÉLINAS : Merci, Madame la Présidente.
Michel Gélinas, ministère de
l'Environnement et des Changements climatiques du Québec,
pour les besoins de la transcription.
Donc, pour le Gouvernement du Québec,
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c'est sûr que, un peu comme nos collègues de l'Ontario,
nous n'avons aucun pouvoir au niveau de l'autorisation qui
est livrée dans ce dossier-là.

Nous avons quand même été

consultés par la CCSN pour donner notre opinion sur
certains aspects du projet.
La limite de notre analyse se situe au
niveau des impacts que pourrait avoir le projet sur le
territoire québécois et particulièrement la Rivière des
Outaouais.

Donc, on a entendu beaucoup d'intervenants

aujourd'hui qui étaient inquiets pour les impacts
potentiels du projet sur la Rivière des Outaouais.

Ces

choses-là ont été étudiées et analysées par l'équipe
d'experts du Gouvernement du Québec, composé de gens de la
Santé et des Services Sociaux et des gens d'Environnement.
Nous sommes satisfaits des méthodes de
traitement que l'initiateur prévoit mettre en place, car
l'initiateur a démontré qu'elles permettront de respecter
les sites de traitement déterminés par les LNC en fonction
de réglementation en vigueur, ce qui permettrait donc de
réduire les impacts potentiels sur la Rivière des
Outaouais, qui était une des préoccupations du Gouvernement
du Québec.
Les objectifs de rejet des effluents
utilisés dans l'étude d'impact ont été jugés appropriés
selon l'analyse de l'impact du projet sur la qualité des
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eaux de surface de la Rivière des Outaouais.

On note qu'il

n'y aura aucun effet potentiel sur la qualité des eaux de
surface de la Rivière des Outaouais, nous de notre côté,
selon les modalisations qui ont été présentées par les LNC
et les analyses qui ont été effectuées par nos experts en
environnement au ministère de l'Environnement.

Je vous

remercie.
LA PRÉSIDENTE :
Gélinas.

Merci beaucoup, M.

Thank you for that.

Maybe I'll turn it to

you, Ms. Fitzgerald or Dr. Hendrickson, if you would like
to comment on what you've heard from others, please?
DR. HENDRICKSON:

I'll see if

Ms. Fitzgerald wants to go first and then I'll go.
MS. FITZGERALD:

Thanks, Dr. Hendrikson.

Yes, I just wanted to follow up and say
that it appears that it's a bit of a "build it and the
radioactive waste will come" situation we're in and this is
far from the Field of Dreams.

To me, I'm not very

satisfied that there has been a characterization of what
waste would go into this landfill.
Also secondarily, just overarching
disappointing that Environment and Climate Change Canada
would not be giving more direction in terms of policy and I
would say that is a piece of why we're not -- you
mentioned, Madame Chair, chicken and egg.

I would say cart
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before horse in this situation where we seem to be building
something for which we don't know what the criteria should
be.
So that would be my follow-up, and I know
Ole has some very good information to share.
THE PRESIDENT:
DR. HENDRICKSON:
record.

Just to follow up.

Thank you.
Ole Hendrickson for the

One of our key questions is

whether the conceptual and planning stages in the aerial
survey stage which are clearly outlined in International
Atomic Energy Agency specific safety guide SSG29 on Near
Surface Disposal Facilities whether those two stages were
simply skipped and whether the decision was simply made to
proceed with a landfill type above-ground facility as close
as possible to where the buildings or demolition are
located.
One of the -- I'm glad that Dr. Lacroix
raised the question of blasting and the effects on
groundwater, but there is also the question of the really
high groundwater table throughout the Chalk River
Laboratory site which necessitates this horizontal drilling
and depressurization of the rock, and that high water
groundwater table also makes it impossible to use what the
IAEA considers to be a true Near Surface Disposal Facility
would be not an above-ground concrete vault, which
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Ms. Faught mentioned and described as not feasible but an
in-ground vault which would be much more protective of the
wastes or, better still, probably a shallow rock cavern.
Neither of those can be constructed on a site with high
groundwater level and fractured rock, such as Chalk River.
And that's why we are asking and many other Intervenors are
asking for a proper examination of alternate sites that
could accommodate a proper in-ground Near Surface Disposal
Facility.
In terms of the inventory, just to say
that I think one of the really important questions that's
being dodged in this hearing so far is what fraction of the
current accumulated federal radioactive waste could this
facility safely accommodate if a licensed inventory were
truly adhered to?

And we just haven't had that question.

This is not -- we don't have -- we have a bounding
inventory, but we don't have an inventory of what the
legacy federal waste is.

So this could potentially only

accommodate a very small proportion, and that brings us to
the whole question of economic and technical feasibility.
What if we were to build a white elephant facility that can
only accommodate a very tiny proportion of the federal
waste?

We're spending a lot of money on something that

will not benefit the taxpayers of Canada.

So that's a

really large concern I think that should be a concern for
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everybody in this country and not just residents in the
Ottawa Valley.
And then there is I'll call it the
question of the shielded waste and why the CNSC would
define intermediate level waste as waste that would require
shielding and then we see waste that will clearly require
shielding to be in-placed in the NSDF and we haven't
discussed that topic either but shielded wastes are clearly
intermediate level according to the CNSC's own glossary and
yet those shielded wastes and the shielding that could be
depleted uranium or it could be lead are clearly intended
to go into the NSDF, and there is indication in the
Environmental Assessment Report that that would cause some
serious lead contamination and perhaps uranium
contamination of groundwater in excess of levels considered
acceptable by the Canadian Council of Ministers of
Environment.
So there are a number of unanswered issues
I think arising from this presentation that I just wanted
the opportunity to flag, and I appreciate that opportunity.
Thank you.
THE PRESIDENT:
that.

Thank you for raising

Let's take this opportunity to get CNL site and CNSC

staff and others to respond to that.
Why don't we start with that first one
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around the conceptual and planning stage and whether that
was indeed performed as recommended by the IAEA?
MS. VICKERD:

Meggan Vickerd for the

record.
So before I go to Ms. Sandra Faught to
describe more about the site selection, I do want to
comment that the site selection process, alternative means,
first and foremost followed SEAA, an operational policy
statement on how to perform an alternative means
assessment.

We did do those phases and it is in alignment

with IAEA.

We've demonstrated that actually in our safety

case document.
But over to Ms. Faught for the details of
the site selection process.
MS. FAUGHT:

Sandra Faught for the record.

So as Ms. Vickerd mentioned, we have met
the requirements of both SEAA 2012 and the operational
policy statement as well as SSG29, which is Near Surface
Disposal Facilities for radioactive waste and more
specifically Appendix I of that document.
So SSG29 is a guidance document and it
does provide recommendations on how a site selection
process could work.

So specifically with regards to the

steps that were followed, and it was indicated by this
Intervenor that we skipped steps.

So Step 1 is the
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conceptual and planning stage and CNL began this in 2015
when the decision was made to clean up and revitalize the
Chalk River Labs and a process would be required for the
disposal of the low-level waste.

At that point we did

start planning for the siting which is described in a site
selection report that was published in 2016 and that is
indicated in our project description for the NSDF.
Step 2 is to the area survey stage.
this led to the selection of one or more sites.

So

So as I

mentioned in our Opening Presentation, we did look at 14
different -- 15 different sites on the Chalk River Lab site
and then there were two sites preferred, so we did meet
those first two steps of what's indicated in the guidance
of SSG29 in CNL's assessment.
THE PRESIDENT:

Thank you.

And then the

other question raised by the Intervenor is around what
fraction of the current inventory could be accommodated in
the proposed NSDF?

Ms. Vickerd?

MS. VICKERD:

Meggan Vickerd for the

record.
So a couple of clarifications I guess we
should certainly make is that AECL-owned waste, we do
forecast the volumes that will be generated and that's part
of our integrated waste strategy we've already mentioned.
So we do forecast and ensure that have the infrastructure
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required to manage that.
A lot of AECL-owned low level waste, about
1.7 million cubic metres, is managed at Port Hope and Port
Granby.

So there is another about 1 million cubic metres

that's anticipated to be generated from the cleanup
operations at Chalk River, White Shell, eventual
decommissioning from

4:31:34 G1 Douglas Point, and ongoing

operations of the Chalk River site.

So we do anticipate

that NSDF will be managed to accommodate further the
remainder of that 1 million cubic metres that we
forecasted.

And the reason we're confident in doing so, I

guess just wanted to clarify, is that when we talk about
how we've created our reference of inventory, we have
utilized waste inventory going back to 1995 because we do
have good certainty that that's when we started the
segregation processes.

So our reference inventory did pull

from waste data records from 1995 onwards.

And then

certainly we've done a number of scoping activities and
1:32:14 characterization activities for some of our legacy
waste managed areas to identify the volumes of waste that
might be generated from the cleanup of that, and that's
often captured in our comprehensive decommission plans for
the Chalk River site, and that's part of that forecasted
waste inventory.
So we do anticipate NSDF to be able to
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accommodate all the remainder of AECL low level waste with
the exception of Port Hope and Port Granby, and we have
been conservative with those waste forecasts.

And what I

wanted to reflect on is, disposal is a last resort.

Within

our waste program and part of environment stewardship as a
corporate company -- company, we do adhere to the waste
minimization principles.

So we're always looking for ways

to reduce, recycle, and reuse material and use disposal as
a last resort.

We haven't optimized our forecast volumes

to reflect that waste optimization will occur, but that
said, we're pretty confident in the range of the volumes of
low level is upwards of

1 million cubic metres.

THE PRESIDENT:

Thank you.

ask -- you might want to comment on those.

Staff, I'll
I don't think

it's a concern of staff, is there adequate capacity or
whether you had looked at it to verify and what confidence
you have.
But it was really on the last question
asked around shielded waste and is that low level waste or
intermediate level waste, and then what about the issue
with any lead or depleted uranium

or anything associated

with that?
MS. MURTHY:

Kavita Murthy for the record.

The CNL have set out the general scheme for classifying
radioactive waste based on the regulations of long term
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safety.
There is a concordance between what we
have at the CNSC and what is recommended by the IAEA.
Shona Thompson is joining us remotely to
speak to the waste classification and then we'll pass to
Dr. Matthew Herod to speak about shielded waste.

Shona

Thompson, if you are not available I will ask Nancy
Greencorn to step up.
MS. GREENCORN:
record.

Nancy Greencorn for the

division.

I'm the director of the waste commissioning
I will first start by saying that the regulatory

document 211(1) volume 1 as well as the IAEA safety
standard GSG(1) on the classification of waste provide that
there is a generic linkage between the different classes of
waste and the disposal options. However both of these say
that the suitability for waste for disposal site is to be
based on that site specific safety case.
So there is generic language that is
provided for that that indicates what low level waste is
and applicable disposal options, but it's on a site
specific case.
The next questions was on the long lived.
IAEA provides that in the definition of
low level waste there can be higher concentrations of short
lived waste but There also can be lower concentrations of
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long lived.
So as we've heard throughout this given to
the broad range of waste in the category of low level waste
to be given a generic definition is more challenging and
really what we need to be looking at is the site specific
safety case.
And the applicability of the inventory and
the waste acceptance criteria is determinative on what kind
of waste can be disposed in that specific facility.
MR. HEROD: Dr. Matt Herod for the record.
I will speak to the differentiation between intermediate
waste and low level waste.

And as Nancy said the key point

and the perspective that the CNSC and the international
community takes with respect to determining the line
between intermediate and low level waste is primarily
related to long term safety perspective on how to safely
dispose of the waste and that long term safety case.
And so by itself shielding does not
determine necessarily whether something is intermediate or
low level.
Because that is primarily an operational
concern.

The international community and the Canadian

perspective is one that requires the long term perspective
to be taken to look at using the long term safety
assessment to determine how the waste should be classified.
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THE PRESIDENT: Thank you.

Thank you very

much..
MR. HENDRICKSON:

May I respond please,

Madam Velshi to that to a couple of those points.
As the people in this room know I am on
the environmental stewardship council.

And in October of

2015 we met and we were told about the NSDF project.

We

were told about where two possible location were, but the
preferred location was one.
So the notion that there was a conceptual
planning and an aerial survey stage that started in 2015.
No, that's simply false.

What happened actually was that

AECL was already looking at a site for a very low level
waste facility.
You can recall that the IAEA general
safety guide on the classification of radioactive waste
actually has a very low level as well as a low,
intermediate, high level.

So there was already that site

selection process for a low level site and they picked one
that was conveniently located.

So this is not a site

selection process for a near surface disposal facility.
This was a site selection process for a very low level
waste facility.
And it's simply not a site that's suitable
for anything than low level waste.
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And the Canadian system of waste
classification does not recognize formally the distinction
between really low level and low level waste, but certainly
the IAEA makes a fairly significant distinction between
those two types.
So there was no aerial survey, there was
no conceptual planning stage, and I'm sorry to disagree on
that.
And to accommodate, we heard about waste
volumes.
Waste volumes are not enough.
You need to know about radioactivity
before you decide what kind of facility and where it should
be located.
We keep hearing about a million cubic
meters, but we do not hear about the specific radionuclides
and the level of radioactivity in those radionuclides.
And without that information you cannot
properly design a facility that will accommodate a
particular volume.

And radioactivity and specific

radionuclides, that's the problem.
In terms of the notion that highly
fractured rocks are really good for radioactive waste
disposal because they make it easier to model on how much
leeching there will be.
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I guess we'll have to disagree with CNL on
that point.

From a public perspective, we do not want a

facility that's designed to leech predictably into surface
water resources like Perch Lake and the Ottawa River.
That's not containment.
isolation from the biosphere.

That's not

That's not what the IAEA

recommends as a proper disposal facility.
That's the first thing that you should try
to do is to isolate and contain the waste and protect the
biosphere and this facility is not designed to do it.
It's designed to leak after closure when
the mound deteriorates, but more concerningly it could very
well leak during the 50 years of waste in placement.
If there are problems in installing the
bottom liner and you put 17 meters of waste on top of that,
and then it turns out that there are leaks into the ground
water, you are not going to move that waste that is on top
of, you know, the bottom liner and look for the place where
the tears and the rips in the bottom liner are.
This is a possibility that hasn't been
looked at properly in the environmental assessment that's a
real risk that there could be a failure in containment
during the waste and placement process.
And before you get that top cover on,
which would help by providing a little protection, but for
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50 years there is a real possibility of contamination of
ground water and surface water or both, because of possible
improper installation of the bottom liner.
And then there is the question of the
collapsing of the top cover and whether the waste is going
to be properly compacted and not have voids.
One thing we also talked about is moving
those intermodal shipping containers into the NSDF and
simply abandoning them there.

And those

the metal on

those containers is not going to last that long.

Unless

you have quite a high density of the material end there,
like an equivalent to soil 1.5 grams per cubic centimetre
there's a real risk that the mound will collapse and the
top cover would rupture, and again, there could be water
entering an above ground facility like this.

And fairly

promptly, and that is another risk that has not been
addressed in the environmental assessment.
Thank you for allowing me a little extra
time.
THE PRESIDENT: Thank you. Ms. Murthy.
MS. MURTHY:
Kavita Murthy for the record.

Thank you, President Velshi,
I just want to make a

correction on the record.
The intervenor said we do not have a
classification of very low level radioactive waste with our
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regulatory framework.
From doc 2.11. section 7.1 has a
definition of very low level of radioactive waste and this
aligns with those given in GSG-1.

Thank you.

THE PRESIDENT: Thank you.
MS. VICKERD:
record.
too.

CNL?

Meggan Vickerd for the

One aspect we just want to clarify on the record

The Seacans are currently used for storage of low

level waste.

But there is not a Sealands plan to put the

Seacans directly to the facility, the Seacans do have waste
bags within them to ensure that we are preventing
contaminating the containers and we can use them for reuse.
MR. HENDRICKSON:

I'm glad to hear that.

Ole Hendricksson for the record.
The packages that are described in the
environmental impact statement include Seacans containers.
If that decision has been made to not put
them in and put plastic bags in, that should have been
released and made available before this hearing.
THE PRESIDENT: Thank you for your
intervention and your presentation.
MR. HENDRICKSON:
THE PRESIDENT:

Thank you very much.
We'll go to the next

intervention.
La prochaine présentation est par M.
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Christian Renault, tel qu’indiqué aux documents CMD
22-H7.147 et 22-H7.147A.
Monsieur Renault, vous avez la parole, en
anglais ou en français, à votre choix.

CMD 22-H7.147/22-H7.147A
Présentation orale par Christian Renault

M. RENAULT : Bonjour.

Je suis Christian

Renault, un enseignant de sciences à la retraite.
Mon sujet c'est la préoccupation envers
l’environnement, en particulier avec les espèces à risque,
et la biodiversité (en particulier les oiseaux, les
chauves-souris et les reptiles), et la protection des
espèces en péril, l’impact environnemental d’un tel
dépotoir, et quelques points qui devraient être soulignés
en public concernant le lixiviat.

En tant que citoyen

inquiet, j’aimerais que la Commission aie des réponses
fermes avant qu’elle ne laisse les LNC faire les
changements qu’ils désirent.
Prenant le document CMD 22-H7, il y a des
inquiétudes qui proviennent de ce rapport.
Le site NSDF, ou IGCF, proposé est un
excellent habitat pour les tortues, en particulier la
tortue de Blanding, protégée par la CDSEPO et la COSEPAC,
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ainsi que la rare Tortue des Bois, une espèce menacée.
Qu’est-ce qui sera fait pour compenser la perte de
l’habitat?

Il en est de même pour la Couleuvre Tachetée,

qui devient plus rare, et est préoccupante.
Le site proposé est aussi l’habitat de
prédilection de quelques espèces de chauves-souris
protégées, et la résidence de maternité pour quatre espèces
menacées : la chauve-souris pygmée, la petite chauve-souris
brune, la pipistrelle de l’est, et la chauve-souris
nordique.

Que feront-ils pour les protéger? Il y a

probablement des abris pour chauve-souris, mais avec leur
habitat enlevé, la majorité de leur nourriture manquera
aussi.
Quelques espèces d’oiseaux des forêts
résident dans cette forêt mature qui sera détruite par le
NSDF.

Parmi celles-ci, il y a des espèces menacées en

Ontario : la paruline du Canada, l’engoulevent d’Amérique,
le gros-bec errant, le pioui de l’est, le moucherolle à
côtés Olive, et la paruline du Canada.

Aussi menacées :

l’engoulevent bois-pourri et la grive des bois.

Les grives

sont un excellent indicateur de santé d’une forêt, qui est
bonne aux LNC.

Les grives ont aussi besoin de forêt

ininterrompue pour s’y multiplier, pas des petites
parcelles de forêt ici et là.
Je cite un article sur l’amélioration de
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l’habitat des grives :
« Nous offrons d’abord une série de
lignes directrices générales de
gestion qui s’appliquent autant dans
l’ouest que dans l’est du pays.
Parmi celles-ci, éviter de fragmenter
les grandes forêts, minimiser la
création des habitats à l’orée,
établir des corridors de forêt
continue pour éviter des ilots
isolés, et garder l’intégrité et la
diversité des plantes forestières
existantes.

À l’opposé des pirangas,

les grives sont des oiseaux de
sous-bois qui nécessitent une couche
dense d’arbrisseaux et de buissons,
ainsi qu’une épaisse litière de
feuilles.

Ces conditions existent

dans des forêts matures et des forêts
anciennes, mais aussi souvent accrues
par les perturbations à petite
échelle dans les régions forestières.
»
Ce sont exactement ces conditions qu’il y
a maintenant au LNC, que certains veulent détruire pour en
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faire un dépotoir.
Concernant les EIS 234-242-243 du rapport
CNL232-513440-REPT-001 Revision R0, j’espère que les
gérants se rendent compte que les oiseaux commencent à
nicher en janvier (tels que le Hibou Grand-duc ou le
Mésangeai du Canada) et en février (le Grand Corbeau), et
que la période de nidification cesse presque complètement
en septembre.

Cela ne laisserait que quatre à six mois

pour éliminer la forêt, pour éviter d’interférer avec la
nidification.
La perte d’habitat sera permanente si vous
permettez le dépotoir.

L’IGDPS peut exister ailleurs où

l’habitat est moins précieux et où il y a moins de menaces
: de vieilles mines, par exemple, dans le Bouclier
Canadien.

Cette proposition de plan détruira un excellent

habitat, de haute qualité pour beaucoup d’espèces à risque,
et la belle forêt qui sert aussi de tampon à la
contamination radioactive du sol causée par des fuites du
passé.

Ce dépotoir devrait être fait ailleurs, où la

qualité de la forêt est moins bonne.
Que se passera-t-il avec les milliers
d’arbres matures qui seront abattus dans ces 30 hectares et
qui ont grandi malgré un sol radioactif? Seront-ils brûlés
et les fumées dispersées dans l’air ou laissés à pourrir en
grandes piles et contaminer le sol jusqu’à la Rivière des
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Outaouais ou vendu comme bois d’œuvre?
de contamination de ces arbres?
exposés à la radioactivité?

Quel est le niveau

Les bûcherons seront-ils

Les humains et leur machinerie

lourde seront-ils exposés à la radioactivité aussi?
Qu’adviendra-t-il des quelques endroits de ce site proposé
qui sont actuellement clôturés car le sol est contaminé de
radionucléides?
La roche-mère est fissurée en plusieurs
endroits.
Outaouais?

Où ira le lixiviat?

Vers la Rivière des

Quand il neigera ou pleuvra, ce dépotoir sera

trempé, l’eau s’accumulera au fond, dissoudra les minéraux
et les radionucléides.

Où vont-ils s’accumuler?

Il est

mention d’explosion de rocher pour faire des trous pour y
jeter les matériaux; cela va sûrement exacerber les
fissures de la roche-mère.

Ce n’est pas de bon augure si

vous laissez ce IGDPS sur la Faille de Eardley.
Tous le bois de construction des édifices
et du mobilier pourrira et disséminera des spores, des
spores de champignon, dont certaines sont toxiques.
Souhaitons-nous cela?

Où s’accumulera et se concentrera

cette moisissure?
Il y a de meilleurs endroits pour creuser
l’IGDPS, loin de cette bonne forêt, loin de la Kitchissippi
et la Rivière des Outaouais.
pas la forêt à Chalk River.

S’il-vous-plaît, ne ruinez
Laissez tous les animaux en
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péril qui y sont tranquilles.

Rendez-la attrayante aux

visiteurs et au personnel, pour économiser quelques
dollars.

Laissez les arbres retenir le sol contaminé.

faites pas davantage de dommage, s’il-vous-plaît.
écouter les citoyens.
démocratie.

Ne

Veuillez

Nous sommes encore dans une

Il y a de meilleurs endroits pour cette

déchetterie que Chalk River.
tampon de qualité.

Ne ruinez pas cette forêt

Il faut la garder telle quelle.

Laissez la faune menacée tranquille.
présents retenir le sol contaminé.
veuillez écouter les citoyens.

Laissez les arbres
Et s'il vous plaît,

Nous sommes dans une

démocratie.
LA PRÉSIDENTE : Merci pour votre
présentation.
Je donne la parole à Dr Lacroix.
Avez-vous des questions?
MEMBRE LACROIX : Oui.

Merci beaucoup,

Monsieur Renault, pour cette présentation.

D'ailleurs, un

de vos derniers transparents résumait très bien une
question que je trouve très pertinente et qui est unique
dans les soumissions, enfin, dans tous les rapports qu'on a
examinés jusqu'à présent.
I will ask this question directly to CNL
staff, so translators, you may take a break right now.
I wonder what will happen to the
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contaminated lumber and biomass that will be removed on the
site itself?
MR. BOYLE:

Phil Boyle, for the record.

I

would like to have Mr. Dolinar comment on that for you, Dr.
Lacroix.
MR. DOLINAR:
record.

George Dolinar, for the

The NSDF site, the 37 hectare site of the 16

hectares associated with the actual mound are located on
land that is not subject to any contamination.

So, you

know, the Chalk River site is very well characterized so we
know where contamination exists, we provide that in a great
amount of detail.

It actually is one of the benefits of

sighting at the Chalk River Laboratory.

All of that

baseline information has been developed over many decades.
So there is a lot of certainty and a lot of knowledge of
the Chalk River site.

So to be clear and maybe our

documentation is not clear enough on this point.
But the actual footprint of the NSDF site
is free from any ground water contamination, soil
contamination or contamination in the vegetation.
So the harvesting of trees won't be an
issue from a contamination point of view.
THE PRESIDENT:
MEMBER MAHARAJ:

Madam Maharaj?
Thank you Madam Velshi, I

do have a follow up on that, on that question from my
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colleagues.
If the trees currently on the location
where the NDSF is not contaminated, what percentage of that
16 hectares is forested and will be deforested, question
one.

Question 2, are there any plans in your closure to

reforest or as you close cells to reforest or how are you
going to revegetate?
MR. DOLINAR:

George Dolinar for the

record.
Almost the entire NSDF site, but I will
point out some of the variations.

Almost all of the NDSF

site is currently forested.
There is a road that sort of goes through
the middle of the site.

It's been there, you know, for

since the Chalk River site, it actually predates the Chalk
River site it was called the old Mattawa Road.
In addition there are two power lines that
go over the Chalk River site, they sort of intersect

on

the NSDF site they sort of intersect in an area just
adjacent to the mound.
The total footprint, this includes the
area for the leeching, treatment facility and the other
support facilities.
and the mound is 16.

And access to the site is 37 hectares
So the vast majority of that is

forested with the exceptions I noted.

Probably worthwhile
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pointing out that the Chalk River site as a whole is mostly
standing forest.

So in terms of loss of habitat for the

NSDF site you are looking you know something of the order
of 1% of the Chalk River site.
I have a lot more to say on this if there
are anymore questions.
MEMBER MAHARAJ: Can you respond to the
question around reforestation and revegetation?
MS. VICKERD:
record.

Meggan Vickerd for the

So with respect to the fall enclosure of the site,

actually we want to limit the tree growth.

And we'll have

an intrusion layer that makes it less than ideal for trees
to grow on it.

But to offset the deforestation we have

proposed a sustainable forest management plan.

So if you

want more details I'm sure Mr. Dolinar can provide that.
MEMBER MAHARAJ:

Actually I would.

In particular where the placement or the
conservation space will be, the trade space.
MR. DOLINAR:
record.

George Dolinar for the

I'm going to turn this question in a moment to my

colleague Annie Morin and she can provide more detail.
The answer that Annie is going to give you
is to tie into the concerns to other species at risk, may
it be turtles and bats and song birds.
This forest management plan I want to
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describe it a little bit and then I will hand it over to
Annie.
It's a very sophisticated tool.

So we

have used Lidar data over several different passes of the
Chalk River site where we can identify tree species and the
age of trees down to the specific tree.
forest very well characterized.

So we have the

A lot of the work that

Annie has been doing over the years predating NSDF has
looked at species at risk and the kinds of forest habitat
that they use and occupy.
And the forest management plan is informed
by this.

It's not a cutting plan, it's a plan to manage

the forest so that species at risk will have a habitat in
the future.
With that I just will turn it over to Ms.
Annie Morin and she can give you more detail on this.
MME MORIN : Merci, M. Dolinar.
Pour le verbatim, mon nom est Annie Morin.
Je suis la cheffe de section de l'Aménagement des
ressources naturelles pour les Laboratoires nucléaires
canadiens.
Pour adresser la déforestation qui devrait
être faite pour le site proposé pour construire
l'installation de gestion des déchets, comme discuté par ma
collègue madame Vickerd, nous proposons d'implanter un plan
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de gestion forestière.

Donc, présentement, puisque le site

est sous gouvernance d'Énergie atomique du Canada ltée, il
n'y a pas eu de gestion forestière qui a été faite sur le
site depuis les années 40.
Donc, présentement, nos analyses dérivées
d'imagerie, tel que mentionné par M. Dolinar, d'imagerie
Lidar, prise par la technologie Lidar, nous démontrent que
la forêt présentement est dans un statut qui n'est pas
aligné avec ce que la forêt devrait être si nous avions
toujours des perturbations naturelles comme, par exemple,
le cycle de feu qui était toujours présent sur le site.
Donc, si nous ne nous engageons pas à
faire de l'aménagement forestier, la forêt va continuer à
évoluer dans un cycle qui est peu naturel, puis, par
exemple, la distribution d'âge va devenir... la forêt va
devenir très, très, très âgée.

Donc, on va devenir avec

une forêt très peu uniforme... très uniforme, c'est-à-dire
ne prend pas une diversité d'habitats pour couvrir... pour
pouvoir donner de l'habitat à plusieurs espèces d'oiseaux.
Donc, même chose pour les espèces d'arbre
qu'on trouve.

Si on ne fait pas l'implantation du plan de

gestion forestière, les espèces d'arbre vont aussi devenir
très uniformes.

Nous allons perdre un peu de la variété.

Donc, le plan de gestion forestière est vraiment un point
important pour atténuer les effets du retrait de la
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végétation pour construire une installation de gestion des
déchets.
MEMBER MAHARAJ: I think the part that I'm
not understanding clearly is if the AECL has not actively
managed the forest on this site in general, that would say
to me that the species that utilize that forest, utilize it
in its natural state.
I'm confused and maybe you can help me
understand, why that is a negative thing, a negative state.
And how your forest management plan will create more bio
diversity both in the forest as well as in creating an
environment for bio diverse species.
MS. MORIN:
MR. DOLINAR:
MS. MORIN:

Annie Morin for the record.
Sorry, Annie, go ahead.
Thank you, Mr. DOLINAR.

is, so if we like what we see right now.
right now has been managed for 60, years.
absence of natural disturbances.

That

So the forest
But there is an

Without the forest fire

cycle the forest will continue to evolve into in its
natural state and we are losing bio diversity.

The forest

is only growing old because the main driver to create a
diversity of stands in the Great Lakes and St. Lawrence
forest is the forest cycle and we are suppressing fires.
For this reason we are losing diversity
because we're losing diversity in age classes and losing
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diversity in composition in our forest.
It's true that the Chalk River is a
habitat for species at risk and a diversity of birds, for
example, the Wood Thrush and the Evening Grosbeak and the
Canada Warbler.

And if we don't simulate the main natural

disturbance for the Great Lakes, St. Lawrence forest we
will in the long run lose diversity.
We have modeled the forest to evolve over
a 150 year period without implementing the forest
management plan.

And with the implementation of the

proposed forest management plan it's clear that the
graphics shows that we're losing some age classes and
therefore some species and therefor we're losing some
habitat.
We won't have a nice mosaic of a diverse
stand offering a large suite of habitat or a large suite of
species.
MEMBER MAHARAJ: So does your forest
management plan then propose to compensate by hectares an
equivalent or larger amount of forested space as you remove
in order to create the NSDF?
MR. DOLINAR:
record.

George Dolinar for the

Maybe I'll start off and Annie can jump in, Ms.

Morin can jump in when appropriate and I will hand off to
her.
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Let me give you a specific example, and
this may help illustrate with what we're intending to do
with the forest management plan.
We know that we see the presence of Little
Brown Myotis.

It's a threatened bat species subject to

white nose syndrome and soo it's been subject to deep
decline in the past decades.
There is one present on the NSDF site and
at the Chalk River site.
We've over the last six or seven years as
a part of a collaborative research program with several
colleges and universities and the Ministry's of Natural
Resources we have engaged in studies of Little Brown
Myotis.
And this included telemetry studies where
we would capture bats and see where they would roost
naturally.

Some interesting stuff out of those telemetry

studies looking at the habits and characteristics of these
bats.

So we

through them we have determined several

things. One is, we went and we put up bat boxes and
artificial residences, roosting places. We found that the
Little Brown Myotis
Will use these bat boxes and they will
also use natural roost sites, and this is where the forest
management comes in.

We are able to determine the species
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of tree and the age of degradation of the tree that the
Little Brown Myotis roosting sites.
We went off site and they show a strong
preference for a certain species of tree and certain age.
And so the forest management plan allows
us to put that in as an input in how we would manage the
forest going forward.
I don't know if that helps to illustrate
how the forest management should work.

I don't know if

that will help sort of illustrate how the forest management
plan is intended to work.

There is some loss of habitat to

the NSDF site and the Chalk River site.

If we are able to

manage the forest management plan at small fraction of the
Chalk River site, if we're able to implement the forest
management plan the quality of forest for the species at
risk will improve.
I don't know, Ms. Morin, if you would like
to add anything to that.
I will pause here and see if you want to
jump in and point out some of the things I may have missed.
MS. MORIN:

Thank you Mr. Dolinar.

Yes, I

would just like to add that with the forest management plan
managing the forest, so we have models of several species
in addition to the habitat of bats.
We have modeled under the current
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condition the habitat for deer browsing for example, or
cover habitat for moose or the habitat for bear and lynx.
And some we have very little at Chalk
River and by implementing a forest management plan we have
modeled how the habitat will increase through time, over a
100 year period, and all of those habitats are all
increasing in time as opposed to if we were adopting a
status quo where we would lose in some cases this habitat.
This is the gain, this is where we will be
gaining habitat for our wildlife species.
MEMBER MAHARAJ:

So if I can just clarify

your forest management plan is focused on improving the
quality of the forest, not increasing the size of the
habitat necessarily; is that correct?

And you are looking

at a time scale of 100 years.
MS. MORIN:

For the record you are

increasing and enhancing wildlife with this forest
management plan.
MEMBER MAHARAJ:

What happens when you

clear the land.
That happens at once, it doesn't happen
over 100 years.
Where do those species go while they wait
for the forest improve.
MR. DOLINAR:

George Dolinar for the
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record.
I want to point out the composition of the
NDSF site in terms of forest cover is 1% of the Chalk River
forest area.
When you get down to specific stand and
that it's less than that.

The impact of clearing the site

for species at risk it's not a significant impact for that
clearing activity.
Given the balance of the site that is
available.
MEMBER MAHARAJ:
question I will ask Mr. Renault.

Maybe for my final
Is the specific habitat

with regard to the species at risk is that specific habitat
also present on the rest of the Chalk River site?
Animals can move and they do move and they
can seek habitat, but they are also bound to the type of
habitat in which they thrive.
Maybe that will answer my final concern.
MR. RENAULT:
times through the years.

I have been there several

I have been in the valley for

over 30 years now
And I can tell you briefly when I first
got there was when the AECL had days for educators, and
that helped me a lot.
I wish it would continue.

It stopped
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because of the threats in 2021.
Thought it was a great thing.

They got it back somewhat.
So people could understand

what is being done and what nuclear energy and what it
actually is.

Now you have the museum.
The things that disappeared.

That was a

great time because I finally see where they go and I could
explain that to the kids.

And I didn't have much time to

explore the forest.
But I had the privilege with Annie Morin
back in 2018 to see what kind of habitat and what kind of
birds.

I didn't know what kind of birds because of the

recent reports.
That kind of forest is excellent because
this forest being in touch for 60 years or 80 years old it
has developed great old trees.
there we had to do some

And as I was walking in

we call point counts.

So every hundred metres we stopped and
listened for the bird.
And there were two spots I saw fences.
And what is going on with the fences?

There is some

contaminants in the soil and nobody goes there and animals
won't either.
That is all I know of the AECL.

What I

want to get to, if you look at this area it's on a hill.
Obviously when it rains and the snow melts it brings
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everything to the surface towards Birch Lake.
And my concern is if there is erosion it
will bring everything too quickly to Birch Lake.
And there are a lot of cracks, I have seen
them.
Because people
I saw those cracks.

I saw them.

I analyzed those cracks,
This is why I bring this

as a concern.
You try to clear the land and you get rid
of the roots and everything leeches quickly.

This is where

all of the spots where you had losses of radioactivity
because the waste was not properly managed.

You see the

little mounds along the road, it's not there any more.
did a good job, but not worsen it.

You

A lot of the soil had

been contaminated there.
If you remove the trees, everything is
going to leech out.
That is what I'm scared of.
Birch Lake is going to be a lot of erosion.
slow down the process.

Eventually
The roots will

And second, with bio diversity.

The animals that are there, they have radioactivity and
keep it there.
And you take one hectare at a time it's
becoming an old growth forest.

It's regenerating itself.

Not always to the point where we want to pick up the wood
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and lumber and all of this and make a profit, we haven't
done that in years since the AECL exists what will happen
if you clear cut, I have been teaching science for years.
This is what happens when you clear cut and within months
it erodes a lot of surface.
It changes the geology.

It's filling up Birch Lake.

More water goes into the cracks

and it brings all of the radio activity and we have no
control.

Right now we have control.

That is why I say

don't touch it.
You are protecting the environment and
Canada is protecting the environment and Ontario is
protecting the environment.
safe.

We want to keep the water

What I'm saying, is clearing out that land and those

spots are there.

And I can show you the spots, I remember.

You clear the land and you fill up Birch Lake.

And I know

it leeches very slowly.
I have seen the rates, but it's still a
threat on the water quality for hundreds of years coming
up.
Leave it alone and do it somewhere else
where it's not so dangerous.

What I'm saying about those

cracks too is oh we can control.

Sure, you can see the

model where people are going to be intoxicated, that is
what I'm saying.
People are going to be

we don't want
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that.

It can be controlled right now.

it's not going to be a problem.

Just leave it alone

Do that where it can be

controlled, better than where it is now because if you
clear cut it that it's not going to be controlled.

That's

what I'm saying.
MEMBER MAHARAJ: Thank you.
THE PRESIDENT: Thank you for your
intervention and presentation.

You have brought up some

very interesting discussion.
We'll move to the next presentation by Mr.
William Turner.
His outline in CMD 22 H 7.64 and 64(A).
Mr. Turner over to you.
MR. TURNER: commission members and CNL
staff and some of what I work with and all of the observers
and the various intervenors.

I will play around with this

thing.
The purpose of this particular
presentation actually comes from an attempt to try to get
two issues that I had identified in my written submission.
And to outline the relationship between characterization
and decision making and seeing how decisions are based on
adequate characterization.

So the outline is we are going

to define a couple of definitions, and we're going to look
at the link between the two of them.
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Their application to the two issues that I
mentioned site selection and non rad contaminants.
Two definitions.
Characterization the act of describing
distinctive characteristics or features and decision making
is acting on that information which is essential
characteristics in order to determine what is a course of
action.
The link?
What is the decision?
What are the central characteristics to
support that decision.
This is the decision statement that from
comes the executive summary from the latest version of
their EIS.
It's to provide a permanent disposal of
current and future of low level waste at the Chalk River
site in a manner that is protected.
you.

I won't read it to

The question becomes what does that statement mean?

What is permanent disposal?
From the glossary of CNSC it says
placement of radioactivity without intention of retrieval.
Permanent disposal means abandonment.
suitable location for abandonment.

Where the site is a

They state that east

Mattawa Road is not a suitable location.

What is meant by
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the low level waste with respect to non rad contaminants.
Everything at this hearing so far is talking about the
rads.

I'm going to change it and talk about the non rads.

So what are the essential characteristics?

So for instance

you need to know something about the inventory, and when is
this site going to be abandoned or can it ever be
abandoned.

Let's look at prescribed information from the

regs of CEAA 2012.
Notice what it says requires a description
of anticipated phases of the schedule including abandonment
I emphasize abandonment.

There are two

regulations that apply to this which is the class one
nuclear which states explicitly there are records of
radiation and there is general safety.

And it talks about

the same thing information including this.
this information will make it easier.

Although having

We can do this

assessment without the information notice.

These two

regulations specifically address the information required
to develop the waste inventory.

So, the two issues I have

in my submission are site selection and the non rad
inventory.
so let's look at site selection.

Starting

on the site selection is critical to determine long term
safety and all of the subsequent activities.

And notice

abandonment is one of those and a single EA, CEAA 2012
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covers all five of these five licenses.
CEAA decision that covers all of them.

There is only one
So what are the

three criteria that CNL used to evaluate the site
selection?

By the way there is an awful lot of information

in the written submission.
safety.

But it talks about economic and

My comment is, if the facility or the site wasn't

technically or economically feasible or safe then the
project couldn't receive.
So they are essentially irrelevant when
considering a site.
Several people referred to the IAEA citing
appendix from SSG 29.

Notice it says site selection

displace favorable natural containment and isolation
characteristics.
Does the CNL site display these two?

No.

There is nothing about an engineered mound or maintaining
isolation in their particular mound.
No.

One thing to comment on is the

landfills through to geological.

Each one of those goes

from virtually zero in terms of natural containment to
isolation to significantly maximum, which is a geological.
There is no evidence. CNL will apply this
creature or any of the alternative means.
Conclusion it is not.
The way you look at the mound I ask you to

282

find a favorable characteristic on that mound.
And let's look at the non rad
contaminants.
The same issue.
All activities are going to be determined
by what goes in.
Same thing.
A single IAEA decision conversation all of
them.
What are the criteria you need?

Firstly

you need a clearly defined instinct and clear definition of
what low level waste means including the non rad
contaminants.
Low waste inventory and characterization
of the process used.

And a systemic approach to addressing

the uncertainty from the characterization process.
the clearly defined state?

What is

We don't know because they

don't have one.
We can say that if there is no intention
for retrieval, the waste will be abandoned.

There is

nothing in either of the CNSC or CNL documentation that
talks about abandonment.

And, in fact, several people here

mentioned this, there is no plans for abandoning the site.
I would like to ask a question of some people later on with
respect to that particular issue.
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So this is what I would suggest.
a clear definition of low level waste.
different definitions.

There is

There are nine

Look at this is a list.

Notice

there are nine definitions and there are six of them

or

sorry, five of them that talk about shielding and the low
level waste explicitly exclude shielding and none of the
other definitions cover anything with respect to the non
rad contaminants.
Conclusion, if you exclude the shielding
there is no definition with respect to the contaminant.
And the waste inventory that is both
clearly defined, in the intervention there is no real
inventory.

And the concentration, as I point out in that

concentration letter there of copper and lead, it exceeds
the Canadian land use by several times.
Not only that, there is scrap value for
that inventory, which is unresistible attraction for
scavengers.
table.

For example, the numbers come out of the CNL

I forgot what the number is specifically with

quantities.

If you do the calculation the Canadian soil

criteria for copper has is exceeded by that inventory by 58
times and lead it's about 3 times.

If you look at the

value of scrap, the total value of scrap is in the order of
33 million dollars.
It changes up and down and I don't know
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what it is now, because it keeps changing from day to day.
So conclusion, inclusion of copper and non
rad will likely adverse environmental impacts.
I'm running out of time here, but I will
talk about characterization.

Characterization this

particular definition it just gives you details from the
first definition I gave you.

We look at the integrated

waste strategy.
And we look at the innovation of the
integrated waste management.

Were any of these

characteristics used in there?

There is no

characterization for any of these definitions.
great example.

There is a

You will notice that what you have got is

debris and there is nothing in that that is
characterization.
In fact if that is the only thing that is
going to end up in a dump.
If there is a systematic approach and I
notice I'm overtime I will allow the others to go through
the rest of it.
If you have any questions, feel free to
ask.
Now do you wish me to continue.
THE PRESIDENT:
MR. TURNER:

Why don't you.

Okay.
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Systemic approach to addressing
uncertainty for the characterization.
This is critical, one cannot know
everything.
And without absolute knowledge you can't
make it.
You need to have some way in which to make
a best decision which means you need to address the
uncertainties.
And there are certain ways in which you
can do it.
And one of which comes from, and I don't
know whether you are familiar with US EPA processes code
that identify the objectives, but these are the kind of
steps that come from the US EPA on systematic planning.
You have to know what information is going
to be used and how is the information going to be acquired
and what is the certainty in that information.

Develop an

approach and execute the plan, and depending on the results
you may have to go back and reiterate to go back and try to
minimize the uncertainty.

It's critical to recognize there

is an acceptable uncertainty.
safety assessment documents.

I produced a whole bunch of
There are a lot of issues

with respect to the model.
And there is no weight between CNL and.
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No discussion of the systemic approach and
the modelling cannot support the decision whether it's
protective or not.
Is it the right solution?
There is little evidence that is based on
the location, clearly defined instinct, and clearly defined
definition of the LLW of the waste inventory and
description of characterization process to verify the
inventory and systemic approach to address the system.
So I suggest strongly that CNL's decision
cannot be supported and their facility is not the right
solution.
Questions.

Thank you for the extra time.

I really do appreciate it.
THE PRESIDENT:

I thank you for that very

thorough presentation, Mr. Turner.

We'll start with Indra

Maharaj, please.
MEMBER MAHARAJ: Thank you, Madam Chair, I
was a little chatty last time.

So I will pass it over to

my colleague, Mr. Lacroix.
MEMBER LACROIX:

Thank you very much for

this presentation, it was very interesting.

You raised a

lot of issues and it will take hours and hours, but I will
focus on one point.
This is page 6 of 13 part one of your
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submission.
And this is figure or table 2 appendix c
and my question is, directed to CNL.

On the criteria you

have used a number of weighting factors.

Can you

distribute these weighting factors to health cost and
safety and environment and site functionality and
constructability.

And I was wondering how did you come up

with the distribution of the weighting factors.

Is it

based on 25 percent of the environment or is it based on
the previous calculations and reasoning?
MS. VICKERD:

Meggan Vickerd for the

record.
I just want to make sure that we're
pulling up the right document.

It's the CMD that CNL

submitted to Part 1 and specifically around the criteria
that's outlined in the alternative means assessment, is
that correct?
MEMBER LACROIX:

Yeah, this is the CMD7.64

and it's on page 10 of 41.
MS. VICKERD:

So Mr. Turner's submission.

MEMBER LACROIX:

Yeah, it is Mr. Turner's

submission.
MS. VICKERD:

All right.

So to answer

this question I'll go to Ms. Faught to see if she can
elaborate on the criteria and how the weighting was used.
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MS. FAUGHT:

Sandra Faught for the record.

So CNL does have a process internally that
we use at the Chalk River site when we're siting any
facility or building that we would build on the Chalk River
site, so this is a systematic approach that we use in that.
I can't speak directly to how the different weighting
factors had been assigned to that process, but there
probably are others that can do that.

However, I would

like to say that health and safety, even though it is
weighted 20 percent, health and safety falls into almost
every one of those categories naturally.
So when we look at the environment, that
includes health and safety to species.

When we look at

constructability, constructability has to do with the
health and safety of our workers.

So although this is a

weighting factor that we use internally, overall when we
did do the site selection process for the NSDF, again we
did follow a more detailed alternative means assessment as
required by SEAA 2012.
MEMBER LACROIX:

Also my question is that

if you slightly change these weighting factors, could it be
enough to tip over your final decision concerning the
construction of the NSDF or for using the specific
technology that you're proposing?
MS. VICKERD:

Meggan Vickerd for the
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record.
We'll have Mr. Dolinar answer that
question.
MR. DOLINAR:

George Dolinar for the

record.
So what we do with these weighting
factors, in fact we vary them at the end of the process to
assure ourselves that an adjustment of a few percent one
way or other, we're not on the cusp of a decision.

So we

do go through a level of uncertainty analysis where we
raise and lower the various weighting factors to ensure
that our decision, you know, isn't reflected or isn't
changed by a small change in, you know, the weighting
factor.

So we do do that as part of the process.
MEMBER LACROIX:
THE PRESIDENT:

Thank you.
I have a couple of issues

that the Intervenor has raised that I want to follow up
with CNL.

One is around the known radioactive

contamination and what are the acceptance criteria around
those and how are those determined, please?
MS. VICKERD:

Meggan Vickerd for the

record.
So there's two aspects of non-radiological
inventory that comes up I think in this intervention.

The

first is chemical contamination that might be present in
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the waste streams.

And as we've mentioned previously,

that's limited through the application of the

O-Reg 347,

which ensures that it limits hazardous waste that would go
into the facilities.

We're using a provincial guideline to

control the inventory that goes in to ensure that it's
suitable for a Near Surface Disposal Facility.
With respect to some of the masses of
different metals that this Intervenor utilizes, that does
come from -- what we've done is recognize that some of the
material we've put into the facility are of different metal
matrices, so they also have heavy metals, among them
copper, iron.

So we've come up with some assumption based

off of our experience of packaging or also it's not just
our waste packages but as we decommission a facility, a
facility may have ventilation or pipes or systems that are
contaminated and will need to be disposed of within the
facility.

So those heavy metals identified in this

intervention are not discrete items, they are part of the
metal matrix of an item that is contaminated or a waste
package.

So we've included some assumptions for modelling

purposes to ensure, although we limit the amount of
chemical

5:34:44 conditions by application of O-Reg 347,

we wanted to make sure we accounted for heavy metals in
waste packages or components that are contaminated and so
that's what -- they're identified as assumptions.

We keep
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track of it.

It's identified in our Waste Acceptance

Criteria document.

We need to track the total inventory to

compare that to our assumptions as we're placing waste in
the facility.
THE PRESIDENT:

And how have you assessed

any scavenging risk, please?
MS. VICKERD:

Meggan Vickerd for the

record.
Again, those components are part of metal
matrices, not specifically a chunk of lead or copper.
However, we have done a number of scenarios in our
long-term safety assessment that are inadvertent human
intrusion, so not specifically scavenging but we have done
significant intrusion scenarios, such as drilling
operations in the area or a mass excavation to demonstrate
that, you know, after the institutional control period,
there would be no inventory that would pose a consequence
to a member of the public.
THE PRESIDENT:

Thank you.

Ms. Maharaj, your last chance?
MEMBER MAHARAJ:
copper, and it's been answered.
THE PRESIDENT:
very much, Mr. Turner.

My question was about
Thank you.
Good.

Well, thank you

Do you wish to add something?

MR. TURNER:

Yes.

Ms. Vickerd mentioned
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Reg 347, Ontario Reg 347, and she asserts that whatever
they're doing with the hazardous waste in their mound meets
the requirements of that particular regulation.

Have they

actually verified with the Ontario Ministry that what they
are planning to do meets the requirement of Reg 347?
Because I'm not aware of that.

I've not seen it anywhere.

And that includes things like the toxicity leachate
contamination process because they also state in the Waste
Acceptance Criteria that they will be using that to
determine whether this substance is a hazardous waste such
that it would be eliminated from inclusion in their
particular facility.

Have they had somebody from the

Ministry come in, verify that that particular processes
meets the requirement of that particular regulation?
THE PRESIDENT:

Why don't I first ask the

Ontario Ministry of Environment and Conservation Protection
to have their perspective on that.
MR. TURNER:

Thank you.

THE PRESIDENT:

So Mr. Castro, your

assessment of this question, please?
MR. CASTRO:

Thank you.

Victor Castro for

the record.
So Reg 347 is a regulation for classifying
the quality of waste and whether it is a solid
non-hazardous waste or is classified as a hazardous waste,
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and there are testing protocols set out in the regulation,
which the Intervenor correctly referred to, such as the
leachate toxicity evaluation testing.
So to my knowledge, we have not looked -we have not been called in and been asked to look at this
aspect of it.

However, having said that, this is not

something normally that we get brought in per se.

These

are regulations with standard tests that the waste industry
uses to classify wastes.

So these are standard tests that

are out there on the market that can be used if CNL wishes
to use these thresholds for classifying their waste.
THE PRESIDENT:
MR. BOYLE:

CNL?

Phil Boyle for the record.

I

would acknowledge that we have a number of standards that
are in that kind of structure, that is they have been
published by others or the Province.
audit ourselves to them.
to audit us against those.

We follow them.

We

We often bring in third parties
So it does flow just like was

described.
THE PRESIDENT:
MR. TURNER:

Mr. Turner?

I appreciate the comment from

your MoE expert, from the Reg 347 also talks about
management of hazardous waste, also talks about what kinds
of facilities are appropriate for that, and from what I
understand -- I've heard this -- I think, I may be
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mistaken, but I thought I heard something to the effect
that the -- they were following Reg 347 with respect to the
management of hazardous waste.
testing procedure.

So it's more than just the

There's also guidance in a sense as to

how to manage hazardous waste in landfills, in municipal
landfills, et cetera, because the regulation is a general
waste management reg.

It's not just the characterization.

That's one aspect of it.

There's more to it than that.

THE PRESIDENT:

Did you wish to add

anything to it?
MS. VICKERD:

Meggan Vickerd for the

record.
So I certainly just want to clarify that
we understand 347 has a lot more to it.

But I want to

clarify that CNL is applying it as a guideline because we
are a federal site, so our regulator is CNSC and there are
often opportunities for other provincial agencies to be
involved in the review of our operations.
THE PRESIDENT:

Okay.

And maybe I'll just

turn to CNSC to see what their thoughts are on this.
MS. MURTHY:

Kavita Murthy for the record.

So the fact that CNL is regulated under
the Nuclear Safety and Control Act does not exempt CNL from
having to abide by any other regulations that are
appropriate.

So to that end, Ontario regulations that

295

apply to hazardous waste would be considered part of the
regulatory criteria for them.
And as we have often worked with
colleagues in the province as well as with Environment
Canada and Fisheries & Oceans, so we would continue to
engage them and bring them in as and when required.

Thank

you.
THE PRESIDENT:
MR. BOYLE:

Thank you.

Yes, CNL?

I can add one other thing.

I

can note that we are an ISO 1401 environmental standard
certified organization, if you will, and so we're audited
by an external agency every year.
those, done them quite well.

We have passed all of

But that kind of review is

something that would pull the string on how we're handling
hazardous waste, for example, and our compliance with the
standard.
MS. MURTHY:

Ms. Velshi, if I may?

Just an added certainty is the fact that
the Waste Acceptance Criteria document does refer to the
Ontario Regulation 347, so as a licensing based document,
that then becomes a requirement.
THE PRESIDENT:

Thank you.

Mr. Turner, any last thoughts?
MR. TURNER:

One question, and this came

up in a couple of the previous presentations.

I think
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Mr. McBrearty made the comment that there was no intention
for abandonment of the waste or the facility or something
like that.

My comment, and this comes from one of the

early things in my presentation that specifically says
"permanent disposal is equated to abandonment."
So if there is no abandonment, that
implies to me it's not a disposal facility, it's a storage
facility.

This comes to another comment with respect to, I

think it was the CELA comment about recovery or potential
retrieval, and what concerns me is if there is no
abandonment, that suggests to me at some point in the
future there will be some type of retrieval.

That suggests

to me that one should be making sure that you have a way in
which to retrieve the waste, and it occurs to me when
listening to the various interventions, if there happens to
be an accident, such as a leak to the base liner, that
would suggest to me that if you were going to try and
repair that base liner, after, given that it may be under,
let's say, 10, maybe 18 metres of waste over the top, you
probably would like to make sure that you could retrieve
that waste over the top in order to repair the leak
underneath.
So it seems to me that, you know, the
accidents and malfunctions.
think of lots of other ones.

That's one of them.

I can

That would require some way
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in which you would be able to retrieve the waste in a safe
manner such that you could repair something like a leak in
the base liner, and I can tell you, because I don't see
anything in the documentation, CNL's documentation, that
talks about things like those kinds of accidents and
malfunctions.
So what are your contingency plans?
are they documented?

Where

How are you going to implement a

repair like that to the base liner?

I don't see it.

I may

be missing something, but then after you read something
like 10,000 pages of stuff trying to find this, it's almost
impossible to find it.

I find this kind of either -- well,

I won't go into a personal comment.
THE PRESIDENT:

But anyway...

Okay.

think those are very good questions.

So thank you.

I

We've made a note of

those, and we'll make sure during the week we get around to
seeking answers on those.
So with that, Mr. Turner, thank you very
much for your intervention and your appearance today.
MR. TURNER:

Thank you very much.

appreciate the opportunity, I really do.

I

Thank you.

Bye-bye.
THE PRESIDENT:

Thank you.

And we'll now

break for dinner and we will resume at 6:45 p.m.
you.

Thank
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--- Upon recessing at 5:47 p.m. /
Suspension à 17 h 47
--- Upon resuming at 6:47 p.m. /
Reprise à 18 h 47

THE PRESIDENT:

Are we ready to move to

our next presentation by Mr. Shaughn McArthur, as outlined
in CMD 22-H7.76.

Mr. McArthur, please proceed.

CMD 22-H7.76
Oral Presentation by Shaughn McArthur

MR. McARTHUR:

Thank you for the

opportunity to intervene in this hearing.
heard, my name is Shaughn McArthur.

As you've just

I am a resident of

Wakefield, Québec, in the riding of Pontiac, and I am a
proud member of our region's whitewater paddling community.
The Ottawa River is my playground.

I hold a Masters of

Public Policy and am an environmental and human rights
policy analyst and advocate by profession.

I am here in my

personal capacity today.
During last summer's federal election, I
had the honour of running as a candidate for Pontiac.
gave me occasion to speak with hundreds of people from

This
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across my vast riding.

Chalk River continues to be one of

the leading issues concerning Pontiac people.

It was a

topic at every debate in which I participated and in every
questionnaire to candidates by local media.

It was one of

the few issues on which the candidates representing the
four main political parties were unanimous.

There is no

social licence among Pontiac people to go ahead with the
construction of the NSDF at Chalk River.
This unanimity is reflected in the
submissions to CNSC by our federal MP, the mayors of the
MRC Pontiac, civil society groups who have been studying
this issue for years, and concerned citizens from across
the Pontiac region.
This position is also aligned with the
Algonquin and Anishinaabeg First Peoples who have called
this land home since time immemorial and who have never
ceded the land where Chalk River sits today nor the
surrounding areas.

The United Nations' Declaration on the

Rights of Indigenous Peoples Act was adopted into Canadian
law in June 2021, a year ago as we speak.

It requires that

the Government of Canada take all measures necessary to
ensure that federal laws are consistent with the
declaration and to do so in consultation and cooperation
with Indigenous peoples.

In their submissions to this

hearing, Indigenous Nations are unequivocal.

The longest
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standing stewards of these lands and waters do not feel
that they have been adequately consulted and have not given
their free prior and informed consent.
One of the reasons that Indigenous peoples
have always been superior stewards of the natural world is
rooted in the philosophy of Seven Generation thinking.
Today we are talking about the management of nuclear waste
that will remain dangerous for at least 22 generations, by
my calculation, and probably many, many more.
Earlier this spring, I toured the Chalk
River site with a delegation of political leaders from my
riding.

I spent a full day in discussions with the

executive leadership and scientific teams of CNL and AECL.
We saw the site where the NSDF is slated to be built.

We

learned how any runoff would wind up in Perch Lake, which
then flows into the Ottawa River.

We see the decomposing

radioactive buildings on site, waiting to be decommissioned
just footsteps from the Ottawa River.

Devastating flooding

events in 2017 and 2019, not to mention the derecho that
blew through this region just last week, remind us that
more frequent and extreme weather events must be expected.
We saw the shipping containers, ostensibly
filled with low intensity waste, waiting for disposal in
the proposed NSDF.

We saw a highly toxic component of an

old reactor sitting out in a field exposed to the elements
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behind a chainlink fence.

We saw concrete silos containing

high intensity nuclear waste, a reminder that Canada still
does not have an adequate solution for the really dangerous
stuff.
With a failing state just south of us,
growing domestic terrorism and international geopolitics
more tense than they have been for decades, one can only
see this site as a disaster waiting to happen.

It goes

without saying that this waste and all of it needs to be
dealt with as soon as possible.
Now, I know very well that today's
hearings are focused on the NSDF proposal and low intensity
waste -- not everybody is convinced of that -- most of
which is already on site, but I'm here to say that the
individual components of this site cannot be treated in
isolation.

We need to be thinking about this whole process

and the whole Chalk River site in the context of Canada's
overall inadequate nuclear waste management policy and
governance context.

Canadians deserve cold, hard critical

oversight when it comes to the management of our nuclear
waste.

This is simply not the case as we speak.
In hours of meetings with their respective

leaders, one could not but get a sense that AECL had become
CNL's cheerleader.

Nor does it seem rational or acceptable

that the sole Canadian member of the CNL consortium
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SNC-Lavalin is so notorious for its international
corruption and corner-cutting that it is barred from
bidding on World Bank contracts.
How are Canadians to have confidence in
our nuclear industry when the very agencies responsible for
nuclear waste management are also charged with promoting
nuclear energy?

How are Canadians to interpret the logic

behind approval CNL's licensing amendment request right now
before we see the results of several policy and reporting
processes currently underway.

As you are very much aware,

these include an ongoing study of nuclear waste governance
in Canada by the House of Commons Standing Committee on the
Environment and Sustainable Development, a report on
nuclear waste management by the auditor general of Canada
planned for this very year, and Natural Resource Canada's
ongoing consultation towards the modernization of Canada's
radioactive waste policy.
Allow me to end with a story because this
is a very human issue that we're dealing with today.

My

wife grew up in a small town in Lower Saxony Germany.
town and its industry were built on the salt mine.
decades workers took salt out of the ground.

The

For

When that

industry folded, it was proposed that the hole be filled
back up with nuclear waste.

Scientists, politicians and

other experts were trotted out -- much as they're being
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trotted out to make the case for Chalk River.
they said.

"Trust us,"

What they were proposing was a world class

approach for dealing with nuclear waste.

The salt would

crystallize around the waste, an entombment forever beneath
the earth.
The project went ahead, and for years the
townspeople earned a new type of living, putting nuclear
waste into the hole.
shortcuts.

Being human, the workers took

Canisters were bulldozed a little too

carelessly into the hole.

Some of them ruptured.

after all, are only human.

Humans,

As it would later turn out,

scientists are also fallible, particularly if they're
selected and paid by the interests who want to see the
project go ahead.

It was later discovered that the salt

had not crystallized to the degree that had been predicted.
Nuclear waste oozed into the water table.
is subject to a serious remediation effort.

Today, the site
All of this on

the public's dime and at risk to human health for hundreds
if not thousands of years.
Canadians deserve world class governance
and oversight of the management of our nuclear waste.
Chalk River, and the process and parties involved, simply
do not pass the smell test.

Too many of us in Pontiac and

beyond can't shake the conviction that the plan to build a
NSDF at Chalk River is motivated by convenience more so
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than by rigorous application of the precautionary
principle, a poor standard for the selection of the current
site.
On behalf of our kids, our friends, our
neighbours, on behalf of the badass paddling community of
our National Capital Region, and on behalf of future
generations, 22 and many, many more, I implore that CNSC
immediately halt the hearing of CNL's application to amend
its site licence to authorize the construction of an NSDF
and that no further action be taken to advance this project
until its social licence has been fully earned, until all
First Nations in the region give their free, prior, and
informed consent and say that they have been properly
consulted, and until governance shortcomings related to
this project and Canada's overall nuclear waste management
framework have been fully resolved.
I thank you for your time and your
attention.

I thank you for your conscience and for your

humanity and for your deep sense of responsibility with
regards to this manner.

The decisions you take over the

course of the coming days will be looked back on for
hundreds of years.
THE PRESIDENT:

Thank you very much,

Mr. McArthur.
We'll start with Dr. Lacroix for
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questions, please.
MEMBER LACROIX:

Thank you, Mr. McArthur,

for your presentation as well as for your submission.
In your submission you make ten comments
,and I will specifically address one comment.
No. 3.

It's Comment

You presume or you pretend that Canada's ability to

properly manage nuclear waste disposal does not stand up to
science, public scrutiny, or international standards.
Now, I would like Staff to tell us how
does Canada compare internationally on the management of
low level waste and how will Canada compare should the NSDF
construction proceed?
MS. MURTHY:

Kavita Murthy for the record.

For giving you a high level point of view
on how Canada manages nuclear waste, I draw your attention
to the Joint Convention on the Management of Radioactive
Waste and Nuclear Fuel that Canada is a signatory to.
Under this we produce a report, a national report.

,Canada

produces a national report, and at the last Joint
Convention meeting which was about three years plus ago,
Canada had a number of good practices.

So Canada is in

good standing with respect to how we manage nuclear waste.
With respect to the specific question of
NSDF and if the construction of the NSDF is approved, how
will that stand up to the scrutiny of our international
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counterparts, I will start by saying that the rigour we
have applied to our technical assessment and environmental
assessment has been based on the best international
standards, the most rigorous standards have been applied in
the review of this project.
The fact that the application was received
in 2016 and it is 2022 now is testament to how hard the
CNSC has worked in order to make sure that all of the
requirements internationally were satisfied.

But if you

want more specific information on the NSDF itself and
comparison to other Near Surface Disposal Facilities
internationally, I will ask Mohamed Gacem to speak to that,
please.
MR. GACEM:

Mohamed Gacem for the record.

As mentioned by Ms. Murthy, the proposed
NSDF at Chalk River has been benchmarked with several
similar facilities worldwide, and one of the, I would say,
main facilities is the Centre de l'Aube in France where the
design itself is a bit different from the initial disposal
facility at Chalk River based that it will also receive LW.
That's why they have concrete vaults and use concrete
packages.
Other similar facilities are in the United
States of America.

CNSC staff visited one of these

facilities which is the Oak Ridge facility in Tennessee and
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other similar facilities are Rokkasho in Japan and
El Cabril in Spain and other facilities in France and in
China as well.
MEMBER LACROIX:

My question was more on

the perception of the international community to the
ability of Canada of managing nuclear waste specifically on
the installation itself, the perception that the
international community has.
MS. MURTHY:

Yes.

Thank you.

And a very

important aspect of how the Canadian regulatory framework
is with respect to all of our regulations and in particular
with focus on waste was subject to review by the IAEA under
the International Regulatory Review Service, that this is a
review service that is composed obviously of regulators
from across the world, it is something that is managed
under this IAEA umbrella ,but we do get scrutinized by
regulators against all of the IAEA framework documents and
the last one that CNSC had was in 2019 and so Canada fared
quite well in that.

There were some good practices

identified and in that particular mission there was a
particular focus on waste management.
And to speak to that and perhaps to give
you a little bit more insight into the Joint Convention, I
would like to ask Ms. Nancy Greencorn to step up and speak,
please.
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MS. GREENCORN:

Nancy Greencorn for the

record.
So as Ms. Murthy just provided, in 2019 we
had an international peer review, .it was an international
regulatory review, IRS mission.

In doing so, the team

looked through the framework that we had set out and they
reviewed the framework against the IAEA safety standards.
Following the review of the mission, the
team of experts, and it's a group of international experts,
provided that the CNSC had a comprehensive and robust
framework.

Specific to the waste management regulatory

documents, it was found that they were in alignment with
the international safety standards.

We were also given

during this some good practices.
To add to that, every three years we
participate in the Joint Convention on the Safety of Waste
Management and Radioactive Wastes.

We will be

participating at the end of June in this.

Each year CNSC

is recognized for meeting all the articles at Joint
Convention and also being provided a number of good
practices each year.

And so we do a thorough international

review, and each time we are found to meet that
expectation.
So with respect to the NSDF, the
expectations that we sent out are in line with the
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international safety standards.
MEMBER LACROIX:

I don't know if it's a

fair question, but where would you rank Canada among the
145 members of the IAEA?

Would we be in the top 10?

MR. JAMMAL:

Ramzi Jammal for the record.

My colleagues mentioned the fact of the
Joint Convention and good practices.

Let me start with

defining good practice under the Conventions or the
Treaties under the U.N. or the IEA.
Good practice means other contracting
parties or Member States will take it as an example so that
they can implement on their national level.
So there are no rankings as such.
reports are being published.

Our

For example, in the IRS

mission, we can do our own math.

Canada and the CNSC

received the highest number of good practices following an
IRS mission.

So are we number one from 2019 until today?

Unequivocally, the answer is yes.
international standards?

Are we at par on the

The answer is yes.

So we have so many regulatory frameworks
and our regulatory documents have been updated, and my
colleagues mentioned about IRS mission itself that
mentioned the fact it was focused on waste, and we went
through an extensive self-assessment.
was not done by one person.

And the peer review

It was international experts
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who were experts in waste management and looked at the
regulatory framework from a Canadian perspective.
MEMBER LACROIX:
these answers.

Thank you very much for

Thank you.
THE PRESIDENT:
MEMBER MAHARAJ:

Ms. Maharaj?
Thank you, Madame Velshi

and thank you, Mr. McArthur, for your presentation.
I do actually have a question for you, Mr.
McArthur.

You mentioned you took a tour of the Chalk River

site and that you saw sea cans or intermodal containers,
whatever they're called, with lower level waste in them,
you saw decomposing buildings, and you saw exposed
equipment that was irradiated and presumably exposed to the
air.
If, as you propose, we delay or deny this
application, what is your solution to the problems that you
saw?
MR. McARTHUR:

Well, it's fairly clear

that we've got to get the stuff away from the Ottawa River.
I'm not partisan in that.

And we've got to do so with

utmost care.
It's clear to me that we need to get the
overall governance framework right.

Right now, seeing this

stuff lying around, it's been lying around for 70 years.
don't understand why we're now rushing to put it into a

I
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hole that has such mixed reviews -- you know, I go
through -- I spent the entire day -- yesterday, Sunday,
reading all the submissions and it seems to me that the
only folks that are in favour of this project going ahead
as it stands are those with a profit motive in it.
We need to figure out how to store all of
it appropriately.

I'm not the guy who is going to design

the site for you, but I'm saying to start to let this
process go ahead feels like inching a door open that's
going to be kicked open.

I would love -- you know, if you

have to approve this Near Surface Disposal Facility, it
seems to me that it would make a whole lot of sense to do
so with conditions that this site can never become the site
for the small modular reactor that's now being built right
next to the river and any other -- you know, the stuff
that's going to contaminate stuff.
How are we proposing to put more plutonium
onto the site before we have a solution for that?
get it all right.

Let's

Let's wait for the House of Commons to

weigh in, for NRCAN to weigh in, for the Auditor General to
weigh in, and figure out the conditions under our new
policy and governance framework under which we are willing
to deal with the waste on site.
years.

It's been there for 70

It needs to get out of there before the next

flooding and extreme weather event.

But I want to see it
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dealt with altogether in a holistic manner.
I don't know if I get right of reply to
the experts that just weighed in, but I do want to come
back and say that in terms of international standards, my
understanding is that the IAE -- sorry, the International
Energy Agency does not approve the storage of intermediate
waste, such as cobalt, which I understand is slated to go
into the Near Surface Disposal site in a surface disposal.
In terms of science, we have heard and you
will be hearing from many independent scientists,
engineers, people with incredible credentials that are not
associated to a profit motive.

I've read many of their

submissions and worked with many of them over the course of
many months who see all sorts of flaws with this.

I don't

have the brain to be able to analyze that stuff.

They do.

Please listen to them.
And in terms of public scrutiny, again,
just to reinforce, the only folks that are cool with this
are those that stand to profit from it.
MEMBER MAHARAJ:

So if I can just follow

up with that, Mr. McArthur, two things:

One, you

mentioned, and, you know, I don't want to belabour the
point, but you say "If you have to approve this."
all, the Commission doesn't have to do anything.
make our own choice.

First of
We'll

We're not obliged to do anything.
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MR. McARTHUR:
MEMBER MAHARAJ:

Thank goodness for that.
But, secondly, with

respect to your comment about SMRs and plutonium, my
understand is that's not low level waste, and I think what
I hear you saying is that you would like to see a strategy
that deals with all level of waste before executing with
any level of waste disposal; is that correct?
MR. McARTHUR:
process feels like a

Absolutely.

This whole

7:08.57 dictate of technocracy.

mean, just look at what's going on.

I

First Nations, others

have said we don't have the means to investigate the reams
of paper that have been thrown at us.

If this project is

so darn secure, how is it that AECL and CNL have done such
piss-poor job of communicating it that no one seems to
trust it?

Like, I'm sorry, it just does not -- as I say,

it does not stand up to the smell test.

I am a politician

and a civil society social justice advocate, and I'm
telling you that something is just not right here.

And,

you know, I understand that we have historical legacy waste
that we need to deal with.

I understand that there are

cheerleaders for doing more nuclear as a solution to
climate change and whatnot.

If this industry wants to have

a future, we need to get it right on the grand scheme of
things.

For this project to go ahead before we've heard

from elected officials, from the Auditor General, and from
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public officials from NRCAN on the overall waste management
policy framework, it seems absolutely ludicrous to be
approving anything with respect to Chalk River.
MEMBER MAHARAJ:
understand your point now.

Thank you.

Clarity.

I think I

I like clarity.

But I do then have a question for CNL.

If

Mr. McArthur's position is accepted, what would be the
impact on CNL of delay of a year, for example?
MR. BOYLE:

Phil Boyle for the record.

So besides the continued existence of
material in storage as it is right now, plus the generation
of more material that will go into storage, plus the
double-handling if not triple-handling of material as it
moves from storage to storage to ultimately hopefully a
disposal site and the radiation exposure that results in
for personnel.

It will require more storage area spaces,

so probably some licence modification to some of our
facilities will have to be submitted in order to grow those
facilities.

That will mean clearing some amount of land in

order for that.
For anyone who has been at the site
recently, there are a lot of sea cans with this material in
it and there is more being generated routinely as we clean
up as best we can the buildings and hopefully when we have
an opportunity to dispose of the material, we can start
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digging up some of the ground that's been contaminated.
So its impact is, you know, not sudden in
the sense that we would stop working, but the cumulative
impact which would grow I think very quickly will be
substantial and our ability to clean up the site and reduce
the risk to the environment.
MEMBER MAHARAJ:

So when you're talking

about cleaning up the site, you're talking about
demolishing the buildings that are intended to be
demolished.

You would theoretically, in this example,

demolish them anyway and put them into storage if there
were to be a delay.

Is that what I heard?

MR. BOYLE:

Yes, pretty much.

Now, I

think we may end up having to slow down depending on how
much room we've got for storage, whether we could demolish
the buildings at the rate that we're capable of doing and
which we think is the best for the environment.

Also, some

of the ground contamination that's been described, there's
no real sense digging that up right now if we can't put it
somewhere.
MEMBER MAHARAJ:
MR. BOYLE:

Okay.

So these would all be things

that relate to getting the site clean in the sense of
reducing the risk of spreading contamination.
MEMBER MAHARAJ:

And when you speak about
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the increasing volume of newly produced waste, is that
different from what we just talked about in terms of
buildings and soil that's already there?
MR. BOYLE:

No, no.

MEMBER MAHARAJ:

Or are you talking about

new operational ways?
MR. BOYLE:

No, I'm talking about waste

that already exists, we know where it is, we have it
estimated in terms of volume.

It's been in the figures

that Ms. Vickerd has provided.

But it's sitting in

structures, it's sitting in the ground.

So when we talk

about waste that's exposed to the elements, that's the kind
of waste we're talking about.
MEMBER MAHARAJ:
THE PRESIDENT:

Okay.

Thank you.

I want to follow up on the

story shared by the Intervenor with CNL and with CNSC on
whether you're aware of this salt mine that was converted
into a nuclear waste facility and the challenges that
they've run into and what could be the learnings for the
NSDF project especially around things not actually working
out the way the models may have predicted.
And then, Staff, later you can respond to
the same question, please.
MR. BOYLE:

So Phil Boyle for the record.

I think Mr. Dolinar has some information he can provide on
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that.
Before I ask him to speak, though, I would
like to say that it's true for any operation that is a
nuclear facility, and that is, in order to do things right,
you need oversight, you need good procedures, you need to
be audited, you need to have a good regulator.

There is no

configuration that automatically works well and there is no
configuration that automatically fails.
effort.

It's a constant

And so I am sure there are instances that haven't

gone well.

We have learned from those.

of those ourselves over the years.

We have had some

All of us here that

have been in the business for 20, 30, 40 years have
experiences in which we have learned.

If we do it right,

we learn from other mistakes before they happen to us.
So I am sure there is something to be
gained from that experience, but I would say the way we
would avoid that is the proper application of procedures
and oversight and monitoring and checks and balances and
that whole package that makes a nuclear operation
successful.

And that's where the management system comes

in with all its requirements for human performance,
et cetera.
THE PRESIDENT:

Let me be a bit more

specific before Mr. Dolinar answers.
In here it was, there was an expectation
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that the salt would crystallize around the waste and that
didn't happen.

Nothing in your management system -- I

mean, it's more around the modelling and any sensitivity
analysis and what if things don't quite work out, what kind
of contingencies do we have?

And I think I'm looking for

more insight into those aspects, please.
MR. DOLINAR:

George Dolinar for the

record.
I will tell you a little bit -- this is
sort of deep recall.

I've been involved in International

Atomic Energy Agency work for 30-plus years, chairing some
committees for them and so on, participating as a
consultant or expert on a number of other projects that
they've had.
The Asse mine is sort of a well-known case
study.

It was I think a potash/salt recovery mine during

its operational lifetime.

It shut down and it was found I

think in about the mid 1960s, I'll say like '67 or
something like that, some research wastes were placed down
in the mine and sort of this process was a convenient way
to get rid of wastes in that geographic area and they sort
of replicated that process and before you know it they had
put down a significant amount of waste and were beginning
to detect leakage and so on and so forth.

Because it was

in a mine, retrievability was difficult, so different from

319

a Near Surface Disposal Facility from that effect.
But it started off as a research -- like
research waste, not intending to research waste management
or anything like that, but it was just a convenient
location for the reasons that were mentioned.
mine.

It's a salt

There was some sort of understanding or perhaps

misunderstanding about how that would self-seal over time.
But it's a reasonably well-known case study.

The IAEA has

several reports on the performance and what took place
there in the early days.
I'll turn it over to Ms. Vickerd -- sorry.
MR. McBREARTY:
McBrearty for the record.

Commissioner Velshi, Joe

There are a couple of things I'd

just like to point out here.
The technology that we are planning to use
here is an established technology.
many nations for many decades.

It's established across

One of the things that we

look at from when you talk about contingencies is to look
at what are the lessons learned from previous projects:
What went right; what went wrong.
For instance, the one at Oak Ridge, the
waste treatment plant was not sized correctly so they had
an issue with the water.

We've taken that into account

when we designed this waste treatment plant to ensure that
we would have enough volume, you know, water treatment
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capacity, to go forward.
We believe -- and we have had external
experts come in and review this project to look at what are
all the plausible things that could go awry and what are
some of the implausible things that could go wrong?

And

does the mound, does the construction of the site, actually
support the protection of the Ottawa River?
You've had many claims and assertions by
Intervenors today that this mound does not protect the
Ottawa River.

Well, that's not true.

When we look at the

engineering, the design, the seismic characteristics, the
barrier layers, the monitoring, the wastewater treatment
plant and the effluent, the discharge characteristics, this
design does protect the Ottawa River.
And as I would point out, and Commissioner
Maharaj noted this a little earlier, this waste today is
open.

As the Intervenor pointed out, you know,

disintegrating buildings -- and they are.

I believe -- you

know, there's a question here of what is the urgency?

When

I look at that as the CEO, I think there is urgency, and I
believe if you wait too long, you're negligent.

And I do

not believe we can afford to be negligent in this
situation.
We have the technology.
design.

We have done the

We have looked at this for 6 years.

We have
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engaged the public for 6 years.
public's questions.

We have answered the

And I believe that we have a design

that is time tested to safely, passively isolate this
waste, reduce the risks to the environment, and to protect
the Ottawa River and reduce the risk to the public, the
environment, and Indigenous communities.
I'm pretty hard over on this.
it's important.

I think

And I'd also like to address one more

thing because there's a bit of a larger picture here.
The Intervenor makes a statement about
cleanup of the entire site.
waste in Canada.

Cleanup of all the nuclear

And we agree.

An integrated waste

strategy, which is being developed and has already been put
out in draft and comments are out there for NRCAN's draft
policy, is important for the future of this country.

And

it's important for us, from a very practical sense, to get
to the point where we want to be in the year 2070 where
this site is cleaned up.

That means high level waste has

been dispositioned to the DGR, DGR is approved;
intermediate waste is dispositioned to some future site.
would expect it would be a DGR.

I

And the low level waste

that is exposed to the environment today is actually safely
isolated.
When I look at the future of the site,
when looking at it today, there are contaminated areas.

We
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have a significant amount of high level, intermediate, and
low level waste on this site.

We know it.

Our

responsibility is to clean that up.
And let me clear a couple of other things
up here while I have the floor.
There's a discussion on the motivations of
AECL or CNL.

Let me be really clear.

We follow the government mandate.

The government mandate

is to clean up the nuclear legacy.
entity.

CNL works for AECL.

CNL is an enduring

CNL answers, gets a program of work provided to us

by the federal government through that mandate, and CNL is
evaluated by AECL.

We are not evaluated by the parent

companies.
The biggest advantage that our parent
companies have is the ability to bring international
expertise to this project.

That's where the advantage is.

So in general I agree with the Intervenor
when he says we need to clean up the environment.
to clean up Chalk River.

We need

That is our mission, that is our

primary mission when we look at what we're going to do.
And the cleanup of low level waste, the stuff that is most
vulnerable today -- and I use that word on purpose -- when
I look at the decaying buildings on site, which are not
isolated from the environment, that is something that we
have the capability today to remedy.

We don't have the
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capability to put high level waste in the DGR today yet
because one is not yet designed or approved.

But we do

have the capability to put low level waste in a repository
that is time tested throughout the world.
So I'll just close on that.
THE PRESIDENT:

Thank you.

Staff?
MS. MURTHY:

Kavita Murthy for the record.

So, Ms. Velshi, you asked the question
whether CNSC Staff were aware of the case that the
Intervenor has brought of the salt mine and whether we had
noted any lessons learned.
So this is dating back to the late '60s
and early '70s that radioactive intermediate and low level
waste was placed in the Asse II mine and, yes indeed, I
would hope that our regulatory knowledge and maturity as
regulators, both nationally and internationally, has
matured in order to allow us to make decisions, have
compliance oversight, have regulatory frameworks, and have
licensees who understand and make an application based on
geology and an understanding of all of the impacts of any
project and bring them forward to the regulator for
approval.
Those things I think are things that have
resulted from things that were not done right at the dawn
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of -- maybe not quite the dawn but early days of the
nuclear era.
But to give you more information on the
Asse II, I would like to call upon Dr. Julie Brown who is
joining us remotely from Ottawa.

Please go ahead,

Dr. Brown.
DR. BROWN:
for the record.

So this is Dr. Julie Brown,

I'm a Senior Project Officer in the Waste

and Decommissioning Division.
We do discuss the Asse II mine in
international fora, and most of the time what I have
learned about this has been from forums that are focused on
the long-term safety of geological disposal.

So it

includes learning from other projects and historical
practices that we wouldn't necessarily think of as good
practices.
But with respect to the Asse II mine, it
operated as a potash mine until 1925 and a salt mine in
Germany.

It was mined for halite between 1916 and around

1966 and salt as well as being historically extracted is
also the

7:26:15 type for the Asse II facility, and so it

was converted from a mine into a repository in the late
'60s and about 47,000 cubic metres of low and intermediate
level waste were disposed within that converted mine which
operated until 1978.
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And then in 1988, the potential for brine
intrusion was identified which could dissolve and weaken
the salt and this created concerns around flooding and
collapse of existing structures.

And so the potential for

long-term groundwater contamination was also identified.
So this required treatment, and it was brought into public
domain in 2008.
Retrieval has been mandated since 2013.
It's currently the responsibility of Germany's federal
company for radioactive waste disposal.

And waste

retrieval is technically complex, and as of 2020, they're
still developing retrieval plans which include mine
stabilization and taking flooding precautions and locating
a new shaft.
So just to highlight that it has been
subject now to Germany's nuclear legislative requirement
since 2009.

If you would like more detail, that's what I

have available right now.
THE PRESIDENT:

Thank you.

very gloomy picture that you painted there.

No, it's a
Thank you for

that.
Any further questions?

No.

Over to you for any reaction, anything
else you want to leave us with, please.
MR. McARTHUR:

I want to thank you for
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taking the time.

I know that you have three long days.

Joe and team, I don't think that your heart's in the wrong
place.

It really comes down to governance and temporary

versus permanent.

We've been in a temporary holding

pattern for a long, long time.

Why are we proposing

something permanent that has so many question marks around
it?

Let's get the stuff away from the Ottawa River.

Let's

figure out a proper permanent solution once we across the
board at the highest levels have figured out what a modern
first class way of dealing with this stuff is, but more
importantly from where I sit as a governance guy, we've got
the governance and policy framework in place.
I've been studying this situation again
from the governance perspective for, you know, well over a
year now, and I can't help but look at the power imbalance
in terms of the actors involved and that is a red flag, and
I hope that -- I hope that you and the Commission consider
that.

There's a lot of technical experts here.

Let's not

bury our Seven Generation thinking in technocracy.
When I hopped in my electric car to drive
here from Wakefield, I thought it was apropos that
Jamiroquai's Virtual Insanity came onto the radio, and it
really feels like we're walking into a bit of virtual
insanity here.

So let's get it right.
THE PRESIDENT:

Thank you very much.

We
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will move to our next presentation which is by Ms. Janet
Graham, as outlined in CMD 22-H7.133.

CMD 22-H7.133
Oral Presentation by Janet Graham

THE PRESIDENT:
yours.

You don't need to move.

Ms. Graham, the floor is
You can do it from there,

please.
MS. GRAHAM:

Commission Members,

attendees, thank you for being here and thank you for
giving us the opportunity to speak.
There are many concerned citizens in
Canada who want to have their knowledge, their expertise,
and their concerns heard.

Heard is good.

Acted upon is

better.

Way better.

Just hearing us is not going to be

enough.

There are so many experts in Canada, and I hope

you take advantage of their knowledge, because actually
we're not adversaries.

We want the same things.

I hear employees speak of doing the right
thing, getting it right for perpetuity.
I've heard just today are inspiring.
I hope they're not just words.
these words.

Some of the quotes

They're encouraging.

I hope acts follow up with

It's going to be probably the most important

decisions any of us have made in our lifetimes.

It's going
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to be longer than any of us can even imagine.

And some of

my concerns I want to express to you today, if you wouldn't
mind.
So my comments are focused on radioactive
waste and water and how important it is to keep the two
separate.

This point is emphasized in the excellent

March 2018 episode of a popular Radio-Canada program called
Découverte.

The episode is called L’héritage radioactif de

Chalk River.

If you haven't seen it already, I strongly

urge you to watch it.
The production uses excellent animated
graphics to illustrate that the proposed site of the NSDF
is basically surrounded by water.

The Chalk River

Laboratories' property is situated in what would have been
an island in the middle of the Ottawa River 5,000 years
ago.

The proposed site for the NSDF is surrounded on three

sides by wetlands.

If this wasn't bad enough, the water

table is very close to the surface at the proposed site for
the NSDF.

Given the critical importance of keeping water

away from radioactive wastes, the choice to the site of the
facility for more than 1 million tonnes of radioactive
waste on the Chalk River Laboratories' property seems like
a very poor one.
The Découverte production crew travelled
to France to learn about the history of radioactive waste
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facilities there.

I was encouraged to hear that some of

our members had seen these sites.

They visited the first

French disposal facility called the Centre de la Manche.
They learned how that project failed and leaked, resulting
in high levels of tritium discharged to nearby water
bodies.

I've heard it said many times that tritium is not

dangerous.

In fact, it is dangerous.

If ingested, which

is the most dangerous way to be in contact with radioactive
materials, if ingested, particularly by pregnant women and
young children, tritium can be deadly, and especially if
it's on a daily basis; for example, in the drinking water,
in the bathing water, in the water we have showers.
things over time can be deadly.

These

So tritium is not

harmless.
They also learned about a much improved
project called Centre de l'Aube, which was mentioned today.
Thank you for very much for attending that.

It employs

sophisticated movable covers to keep waste dry during
disposal operations, which could be approximately 50 years.
If we take five years for each section, that will be 50
years.

The narrator of the program laments the fact that

the French have learned from their mistakes and have
acquired valuable experience.

But their knowledge doesn't

seem to have gone across the ocean to benefit us here in
Canada.
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The International Atomic Energy Agency,
the IAEA, stresses the importance of keeping radioactive
waste and water apart from each other.

IAEA Specific

Safety Guide SSG/29, Near Surface Disposal Facilities for
radioactive waste says that ingress -- this is a quote:
"Ingress of water into the facility
towards the waste and the migration of radionuclides from
the waste to the biosphere should be prevented." [as read]
As a Member State of the IAEA, Canada
should follow its safety guidance.
The City of Ottawa agrees that keeping
radioactive waste away from water is important.

In

April 2021, for example, Ottawa City Council passed a
Resolution of Concern about the NSDF, calling for, among
other things:
"... the Canadian Nuclear Laboratories and
its regulator, the Canadian Nuclear Safety Commission, to
prevent precipitation from entering the NSDF."

[as read]

Given the lessons learned in France,
public concern -- huge public concern -- the specific
request of the City of Ottawa and the IAEA, the
international safety recommendation to prevent ingress of
water into a nuclear waste facility, one can only hope that
measures would be taken to address this issue.
So how is this issue dealt with in the
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proposed licence?
Something called a weather-cover structure
does appear on the List of Consolidated Commitments.

These

are things that the Proponent has promised to do that are
supposed to mitigate the adverse environmental effects of
the NSDF.

The list contains 856 consolidated commitments

in a 105-page-long document that is posted on the impact
assessment registry.

One might wonder if a project that

needs a 105-page document with 856 commitments to mitigate
its adverse effects is a sound project.
But let's look at what it says about the
weather cover structure.

This was a late add-on to the

project referred to as a weather cover structure.

It's

CMD 22-H7, page 126, and it does remain in the design
stage.

Submission of design requirements and design

description documents for the structure is listed in the
draft licensing regulatory actions licensing phase
construction document under licence condition G.7.1.
Under licence condition G.8, the
Consolidated Commitments List says, and I quote:
"Designs are being evaluated for
compatibility with the NSDF project
configuration and if feasible --"
I'm going to emphasize that again.
"-- if feasible could be implemented
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as a mitigation measure."

[as read]

And I have the sources for these if
anybody would like to have the sources at a later time.
CMD 22-H7 merely says, and I quote:
"CNL will further develop and assess
the weather cover structure concept
and finalize the design."

[as read]

That's page 126 of 590.
So the weather cover structure commitment
are just merely designs that are being evaluated for
compatibility with the NSDF project and will only be taken
up if feasible.

This doesn't leave citizens with much

confidence about the weather cover structure.

So there is

nothing concrete in all of this proposed license to keep
precipitation out of the NSDF.

That is cause for pause.

The proposed licence amendment approving
construction of the NSDF does not address Ottawa's direct
request to prevent precipitation from entering the NSDF and
it would not comply with international safety standard, the
SSG-29, to prevent ingress of water into the radioactive
waste disposal facility.
In a movie that was done by Radio-Canada,
Kurt Caylor, who was Vice-President and

7:40:07

Laboratoires Nucléaires Canadiens said it would be too
difficult to identify and log each barrel of nuclear waste.
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He also said the membrane type weather cover would be
appropriate because of the large size, the large size -I'm going to say that again -- the large size of the
proposed NSDF.
Now, today we were told that perhaps if
there was to be a slowdown the NSDF would possibly be
smaller.

You would start with smaller increments of

disposal.

And that would mean that a different kind of

weather cover would be more possible, more likely.
After studying several options I found
that the proposed size of the NSDF is the source of many of
its unresolved problems.

We humans have not yet discovered

how to deal with nuclear waste.

We keep creating it.

don't know how to deal with it.

We need to devote more

resources to researching better solutions.

We

In the

meantime, we absolutely need to store nuclear waste away
from water until better solutions are discovered.
Labelling is also important, and I think
it's important that we have an internationally accepted way
of labelling.
Is it flexible?

What is low level waste?

Is it changeable?

Can intermediary level waste occasionally

be grouped with lower level waste?

Will the ten sections

of the proposed NSDF ever include the sort of wishy-washy
description of more intermediary waste?
labels?

Can we trust the

These are questions that citizens ask - legitimate
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questions.

We want to have stable labelling processes.

We

want only low level to go into the proposed mound.
It must be done in a manner that can be
understood for future generations.

This is a sizable task

as we have difficulty understanding Egyptian hieroglyphics
used only 5,000 years ago, until the 4th Century AD.
are not well understood.

They

We will need to find a labelling

method that is understandable by future generations.

This

has not yet been done.
We humans have learned from those species
that those species most likely survive are the most
adaptable.

Not always the most intelligent, but the most

adaptable.

Capable of even substantial change.

Of course

intelligence and the ability to learn can be helpful.
Together, adaptability, capacity for change, ability to
learn and to make intelligent choices may be essential to
humans' future survival on this planet.
During the past century we have learned
how interconnected our water systems are.

There are

aquifers that we haven't yet discovered below ground
aquifers that would be affected by this proposed NSDF.
We're beginning to learn about the seismic fissures that
cause earthquakes.

Chalk River is in the Bonnechere

earthquake zone where there are three fissures that
interconnect.

We are also learning that climate change
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will cause increasingly severe weather, including
precipitation, droughts, volatile weather patterns and
temperatures that had not previously been anticipated.
THE PRESIDENT:
you to wrap it up?

Ms. Graham, can I just ask

You're overtime and it's late in the

evening and we still have a few interventions to get
through, please.
MS. GRAHAM:

I will.

Thank you for

advising me.
Chalk River is also an area susceptible to
forest fires.

Building a nuclear waste dump in these

multiple uncertainties is difficult.

In addition, the

private consortium level members are not necessarily
experienced in all of these matters.

Canada is lucky to

have many experts and citizens who are knowledgeable and
concerned.

Some of the groups and individuals making

presentations to you have studied Chalk River for more than
40 years.

If you can be open to their suggestions, Canada

may become a leader in nuclear waste disposal.

We may be

able to share our knowledge to the benefit of other
countries and the reputation of the consortium members as
well as the Nuclear Safety Commission will be exalted.
Thank you.
THE PRESIDENT:

Thank you very much.

Ms. Graham, I don't know if you were here earlier today or
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whether you've been following the hearing, but you will be
glad to know that CNL actually confirmed earlier today that
they will indeed be installing a weather cover structure if
the project were to proceed.
MS. GRAHAM:

That is wonderful news.

THE PRESIDENT:

Right.

And maybe before I

open it up for questions from my colleagues.

You made a

comment about if the NSDF was delayed, if the project was
delayed, that it would be a smaller size -MS. GRAHAM:

It's possible.

I'm told that

it's possible that it would be.
THE PRESIDENT:

I hadn't heard that

from -- okay, they're shaking their heads.

I just wondered

if I had missed that.
With that, let me just open it up to my
colleagues and we'll start with Dr. Lacroix, please.
MS. GRAHAM:

Could I just ask one question

before questions begin to be asked of me?
weather cover was proposed?

What kind of

Was it a membrane or something

like Centre de l'Aube in France?
THE PRESIDENT:

So we'll take your

question and we'll ask CNL to respond.
Ms. Vickerd?
MS. VICKERD:
record.

Meggan Vickerd for the
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We already have temporary membranes
proposed to cover each cell as we fill them, so it would be
something more overhead, similar to what's in l'Aube.
MEMBER LACROIX:

Thank you very much,

Mrs. Graham, for your presentation as well as your
submission.
I don't have any questions concerning your
submission.

I just want to reassure you that we do take

advantage of the experts not only in Canada but elsewhere
in the world in making our fact-based decisions.
THE PRESIDENT:
MEMBER MAHARAJ:

Thank you.

Ms. Maharaj?

Thank you very much,

Mrs. Graham.
My only question was to confirm, other
than by head nodding, whether or not the assertion or the
question raised by Ms. Graham with respect to potential
resizing of the cells was in fact a submission that was
made by CNL?
MR. BOYLE:

Phil Boyle, for the record.

No, there has not been such a submission.
MEMBER MAHARAJ:
THE PRESIDENT:

Thank you.
One of the other issues

that Ms. Graham raised and it's a question for CNL, and
maybe staff will want to comment on it, was around
labelling for future generations.

Is there any innovative
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research happening around signage of waste that you can
share with us?
MR. McBREARTY:

Thank you for that

question, Madam Velshi.
Joe McBrearty for the record.
No, at this point in time there is not any
innovative research around different types of signage.
would address -- it's a very interesting concept.

I

I mean,

I think if we do look throughout the generations, people do
tag things differently.

I think the important thing is

that you have a record and a track record of material that
you have, you have it inventoried because we know things
will change over decades, generations, et cetera.
The important thing is that there's a
management system and oversight not only from our internal
things at CNL but also at AECL and CNSC to make sure that
if there are changes in tracking, that that's approved by
everyone, that there's a quality assurance program in place
to do that.
As Meggan -- sorry, as Ms. Vickerd said
earlier, we went from handwritten, pencil-written ledgers
back in the '40s and '50s to digital today.

I imagine in

20 years it will be something completely different.
we will have to adapt.

And so

I expect that's the way industry

does that and that will be put into our management system
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and we will address it that way.

Thank you.

THE PRESIDENT:

Thank you.

MS. MURTHY:

Staff?

Kavita Murthy for the record.

So we are talking in general about
knowledge management and it's important to note that
knowledge management of the inventory as well as the
decisions that went into the construction of the
containment, the Engineered Containment Mound, these are
all aspects that are recognized internationally as very
important given the very long time periods associated with
these types of facilities.
So I will ask Mohamed Gacem to speak a
little bit about knowledge management and signage
requirements in particular for NSDF.
MR. GACEM:

Mohamed Gacem for the record.

So before tackling that part, I just want
to clarify one thing to Mrs. Graham about her comment on
the Centre de stockage de la Manche.

So the release or

release of tritium from that facility, just being
considered that facility has been designed and operated
back in the early '40s, '50s, '60s.

So after that, when

they recognized that there is a leak of tritium so they put
the cover on it.

So now it's performing as per design of

the cover is very good and everything is under control from
leakage perspective.
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On the knowledge management, so it is
recognized internationally by the IAEA, particularly for
waste disposal facilities, which requires a framework to
support the planning, dissemination, preservation and
transfer of knowledge over the facility life cycle.

So one

of these aspects is to have concrete markers put on the
cover and these markers can last for several hundred years,
which in these markers you can find some information about
the disposal facility and will give an idea where the fence
or the limits of the disposal facility is at.

And we are

working with our international community to find out more
modern or innovative, state-of-the-art, I would say, ways
to put and use for the proposed waste disposal facility not
only here in Canada but internationally.
THE PRESIDENT:

Thank you very much.

Ms. Graham?

Please.

MS. GRAHAM:

It is encouraging that

efforts are being made to research better labelling, which
is essential.

I think it's going to be essential also to

define what low level waste means:

Something that is

secure that the public can put their teeth into and will
expect will last.

Something that will not be abrogated.

Something that the public can have confidence in.

I think

this is essential.
I would also go back to some of the
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comments made by earlier presenters, and that is, I do not
agree with the site that has been chosen for the NSDF.

I

do not agree with the proximity to Chalk River.
If you look at Perch Lake, for example, it
is an abomination.

No cover.

It's leaking, definitely,

because it's contaminated with tritium and it drains into a
wetland that drains into the Ottawa River.

I would say

majestic Ottawa River, magnificent Ottawa River, formerly a
sacred river for -- well, continuing to be a sacred river
for the Indigenous people.
world, really.
this river.

One of the great rivers of the

Over 90 different species of fish live in

It's not just us.

I won't get into the

wildlife because I will run out of time.
days about the wildlife.

I could go on for

And then there's the millions of

humans, the huge chunk of population that drinks from this
water.

And you will hear from many municipalities, about

140 municipalities mainly on the Québec side, including
Montréal, that have serious concerns about the location,
and I agree with them.

You've got lots of property.

You

can choose a site farther away from the Ottawa River.
THE PRESIDENT:

Thank you very much for

your intervention and for appearing today.
appreciated.

Thank you.
MS. GRAHAM:

listening.

Much

Pleasure.

Thank you for
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THE PRESIDENT:

Of course.

Okay.
MS. GRAHAM:

-- successful.

We want you

to do it right too.
THE PRESIDENT:

In the interests of time,

Mr. Thompson, I will introduce you as you get comfortable.

CMD 22-H7.49
Oral Presentation by David V. Thompson

THE PRESIDENT:

Our next presentation is

by Mr. David Thompson as outlined in CMD 22-H7.49.
Whenever you're ready, Mr. Thompson, the floor is yours.
MR. THOMPSON:

Good evening, Madam

President, and Members of the Commission.

Thank you very

much for the opportunity to come and speak with you this
evening.
By way of introduction, I am the former
Municipal Councillor for the town of Deep River.

I am the

former Reeve, a former Public School Board Trustee for the
County of Renfrew, and the former Mayor of the Town of Deep
River.

In addition, I also served as the Chair of the Deep

River Community Liaison Group which was tasked with finding
a volunteer host site for 750,000 cubic metres of low level
radioactive waste located in Port Hope, Ontario.

I
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currently have a summer residence on the shores of the
Ottawa River in the Municipality of Laurentian Hills.
I share my thoughts with you today as I
have a great affinity for the County of Renfrew and its
people.

I also care deeply about any project that has a

potential environmental impact on the Ottawa River.
This hearing is not about the pros and
cons of nuclear energy.

You have heard and will continue

to hear from people who are opposed to nuclear reactors.
Those opponents, especially those who live in Ontario, are
more than happy to enjoy the lifestyle afforded to them by
the abundant and relatively inexpensive supply of
electricity provided by nuclear power, without
acknowledging the hard work that goes into producing that
very same energy.
You have heard and will continue to hear
from people who call themselves environmentalists.

In the

continuing battle against climate change, nuclear energy
delivers a low carbon solution that fossil fuels cannot,
and it does so with a consistent load base and increasingly
improved costing, combined with wind and solar, nuclear
energy is an integral component in the fight against global
warming.
But the question before us this evening
is:

How do we best deal with the legacy waste generated by
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the research conducted at Chalk River over the past
70 years?

Whether we like it or not, the waste currently

exists.
But the question before us this evening
is, how do we deal with the legacy waste generated by the
research conducted at Chalk River over the past 70 years?
Whether we like it or not the waste
currently exists. Having lived adjacent to the Ottawa River
for virtually my entire life, I have a deep infinity for
it.

It has provided drinking water to four generations of

my family.

I swim in it, fish in it, kayak in it.

why the do-nothing option is not an option at all.

This is
We

simply cannot and should not sit idly by as radioactive
waste potentially contaminates the Ottawa River.
To do nothing is irresponsible.

Can we

package and ship this low-level waste to another location?
Technically, the answer is yes.

But ethically, should you

take your problem and force it on someone else?

I firmly

believe that those that created the waste bare 100 percent
responsibility for providing the solution to deal with that
waste.
As we learn from the Port Hope project,
the environmental impact and risk to human life of shipping
the waste to another community far exceeds the
environmental impact of dealing with it in situ.

Shipping
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by rail is no longer an option in Renfrew County.

The

environmental effect of adding thousands of trucks to our
already overburdened roads is quantifiable.
The increased risk and potential deaths as
a result of motor vehicle accidents on Highway 17 and
beyond is a risk we cannot afford to take.

So if we

conclude that doing nothing is not an option, and shipping
the legacy waste to another community is not a viable
option, the question becomes, what now?

I have read the

Environmental Impact Statement for the near surface
disposal facility from cover-to-cover twice.
And I'm not a scientist and I'm not a
geologist and I'm not a hydrologist.

I don't have a Ph.D.

in anything.
I am never the smartest guy in the room as
many here this evening would gladly attest.
a degree in real life.

But I do have

And if there is one thing I know

with absolute certainty is that no sane parent would ever
knowingly put their own family at risk.

This is why I have

always felt comfortable living and working and raising my
family in Deep River within 10 kilometres of a nuclear
facility because the 2800 employees also make Renfrew
County their home.
their families.

This is where they work, play and raise

Would you do that in the shadows of a
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nuclear facility if you felt that you were putting your own
family at risk.
Would you propose a waste storage facility
if it put you, your family and the environment at risk.
One of the godfathers of public engagement
in a nuclear industry, Mr. Frank Findlay, who just recently
passed away.
Frank was well-loved because he could make
a very complex subject better understood amongst the
general populous.
Despite his superior intelligence frank
would never speak down to his audience and there was never
a question that he would shy away from.

The current

community outreach staff at CNL have been equally
phenomenal.

Since this environmental review began the

staff has generated newsletters, created websites, hosted
webinars and open houses, attended countless meetings, and
made hundreds of presentations, both online and in person.
They have proactively reached out to all communities,
including indigenous and our neighbors in Quebec.
With the amount of written material
available, and the willingness of CNL staff to answer any
questions, no one can plausibly say that we have not been
well informed or that the process has gone too fast.

As I

conclude my remarks, the ultimate question is how do we
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mitigate risk?

Transportation risks, material handling

risks, risks to employees and the general public, risk to
the Ottawa River and the local environment, risks for the
next ten generations.

In my opinion the creation and

development of the near surface disposal facility as
described in the environmental impact statement meets the
key objectives of minimizing risks, and it has my full
support.
Thank you.
THE PRESIDENT:

thank you very much,

Mr. Thompson.
Let's start with Ms. Maharaj.

Your

questions, please.
MEMBER MAHARAJ:

Thank you, Madam Velshi.

And thank you, Mr. Thompson, for your very personal
perspective and I appreciate hearing that from you tonight.
I don't have any questions for you.
THE PRESIDENT:
MEMBER LACROIX:
Thompson, for your presentation.

Okay.

Dr. Lacroix?

Thank you very much, Mr.
Quite interesting.

You

end up your -- you finish your presentation with a -- by
talking about risk.

And this is a general comment.

Risk

calculation is scientific risk perception is cultural, and
this room is filled with experts who are talking about
science, but perception.

It is something that eludes most
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scientists and engineers.

So what shall we do to change

the perception or the negative perception on such a
projects such as NDSF in your experience.
MR. THOMPSON:

Quite frankly, sir, I don't

think that is possible.
And the thing issue that has plagued this
industry for last generation has been the inability to move
forward in waste management, whether it's low level or high
level.
We know how to do it.

If we continue to

try to convince the entire populous that this is the
correct way to go, that is an impossible task.
best research.

You do your

You make your best decision, and then you

proceed.
THE PRESIDENT:

Mr. Thompson I don't know

if you were here a couple of intervenors prior to yours,
but there was a comment made that most of the intervenors
who are supportive with of the NSDF project moving ahead
are those affiliated with the industry in some way or the
other and benefit from it.

As I looked at the

interventions you are the only one really who is not
directly affiliated by the sector.
The statement by that earlier intervenor
is accurate in my assessment.

The only own ones that have

shown support for the project for this hearing are those
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who have some connection with the industry and the sector.
So, and you have held many roles.

You have had held

positions of influence as well, you know, as mayor and
advisory committees and so on.

And maybe a follow-up to

dr. Lacroix's comment, why do you feel there isn't greater
support by members of the public for a project like this
when we have heard of all of the benefits that it will
result in.
MR. THOMPSON:

I believe it's a lack of

understanding.
It's a very complex project.

And despite

the very best efforts to communicate and to simplify, it's
not always going to be possible.

You know you mentioned

the word, "nuclear" and then people think of the movie
"China Syndrome" or they think about Three Mile Island or
they think about Fukishima.

What they don't think about is

what happens each and every single day with at a nuclear
facility to produce electricity that's not newsworthy but
it happens everyday.

So you are fighting an uphill battle

and you will never have consensus on this.

If Canada wants

to be a leader in the nuclear field it has to deal with how
we're going to manage these wastes.
project.

It's a science

If we make it a social project, then we will be

sitting here again two generations down the road.

And as
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my colleague to my right mentioned, the status quo we,
can't do that.
It's enough.

We have to, we have a moral

responsibility to clean up what we created, and I believe
this facility will do so.
THE PRESIDENT:

Thank you very much for

your intervention and for appearing in front of us today.
MR. THOMPSON:

It's my pleasure.

Thank

you.
THE PRESIDENT:

Okay.

I understand, CNSC

staff, you would like to make a statement on environmental
monitoring before we get into the next phase of our hearing
this evening. Over to you.
MS. MURTHY:

Thank you, Ms. Velshi.

A

very short statement just to clarify information that we
have gathered regarding the monitoring of the Ottawa River.
I will pass this to Haidy Tadros.
MS. TADROS:
Haidy Tadros.

For the record my name is

I'm Director General of the Directorate of

Environmental Radiation Protection and Assessment.

And as

Ms. Murthy said, for the record, what we wanted to do is
read in a statement just to ensure that the commission and
individuals listening in had some added information that we
weren't able to provide you previous to this point.
question around monitoring of the Ottawa River.

So the

We have
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found that there are a few levels of government in Canada
that do monitor for hazardous and radiological contaminants
of potential concern in and around the Ottawa River.
examples that I'd like to provide you provincially.
Ontario Ministry of the Environment, Conservation

Some
The

and

Parks conducts enhanced water radionuclides quality
monitoring at the drinking water intake from the Ottawa
River, this is the Allumette Lake.

Serving Pembroke, under

their drinking water surveillance program.

The results are

publicly available to the year 2020 and they are in Excel
format on your website.

Specifics around the province's

surveillance program shows that they monitor for gross
alpha and beta and for the years 2013 to 2019 all samples
were below the drinking water guidelines recommended for
gross alpha and gross beta.
lot about Tritium.
Tritium.

In addition you talked about

The surveillance program also looks at

And Tritium for all samples up to the year 2020

have shown that they are well below the drinking water
guidelines of 7000 Bq/L.

Most of the samples not even

being at the detection limit for what is being used for the
program.

In addition, Health Canada's Radiation Protection

Bureau, and Canadian Radiological Monitoring Network
regularly collects environmental data on radionuclides
within six stations located between Deep River and Arnprior
along the Ottawa River and that information is also found
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on their website.

And I know that they are part of the

Open Government platform, and they have that information
available in data sets and Excel spreadsheets.
And finally there is the municipal
wastewater plants routinely monitor drinking water for
contaminants.

Specifically, water quality reports for

Ottawa and Petawawa are available on their website.
Thank you.
THE PRESIDENT:
brings to --

Thank you for that.

This

us to the end of our oral presentations for

today.
And we'll now open the floor for any
outstanding questions from Commission members pertaining to
the environmental assessment and the environmental
protection aspects of the NSDF, including on the written
submissions for this topic as identified on page 13 in the
Revised Hearing Agenda.
please.

So we'll start with Dr. Lacroix,

Environmental Protection and Environmental

Assessment.

While you are looking for your questions,

then, Ms. Maharaj.
MEMBER MAHARAJ:

Thank you, Madam Velshi.

I would like to get a little more clarity, if I may, with
respect to the concept of how the facility could be
upgraded to improve its performance if, in 20 or 30 years,
technology advances to a place where there's new
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information and greater environmental protection could be
achieved.

Is that flexibility incorporated in the design

for this facility?

CNL?

MR. BOYLE:

Phil Boyle for the record.

There are a few things that come to my
mind right away.

One can always improve the cover.

example, at any time you could add more layers.

For

Whether or

not the design of other aspects have some modular
capability which one could improve at a late date I am not
particularly knowledgeable.

I will have Meggan Vickerd

comment on that.
MS. VICKERD:
record.

The answer is, yes.

Meggan Vickerd for the
We're always looking for ways

to improve our design basis and operating basis of all of
our facilities, in particular NSDF.

And I will provide you

a specific example to comment on.
We talked a lot about Tritium already.

So

earlier today you heard us talk about what are impacts on
the Ottawa River.
So the Ottawa River, currently there is no
risk of any drinking water in Ottawa River.

And our

environmental assessment and our modelling has -- support
has come to the conclusion that NSDF will also not have an
adverse effect on the Ottawa River, and in fact we don't
expect to see significant or marginal increases.

So

354

currently we measure about a couple of becquerels per litre
of Tritium in the Ottawa River.

And so when we look

at the -- the facility is -- the flow from the facility is
to Perch Lake through Perch Creek to the Ottawa River.

So

we're a couple of becquerels per litre in the Ottawa River;
that's well below 7000, Health Canada's drinking quality
guidelines.
In Perch Creek our target or design basis
or bounding limit we set ourselves.

This IEA's to ensure

the safety of the public is 7000 Bq/g -- sorry 7000 Bq/L.
And what that translates to is not to have a maximum
discharge -- effluent discharge of more than 360,000 Bq/L.
However, our modelling for what we expect to be is
140,000 Bq/L.

So we do have a safety margin there.

Because it's e are conservative that value is already
bounding, and you've heard us talk about the weather cover
structure.
The weather cover structure is an example
of where we are always looking to optimize the design and
to further to limit our impact on the environment and then
incorporate where it certainly makes sense to do so in the
interest of ALARA, as low as is reasonable and practically
achievable.
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That is an example where technologies may
exist and could further reduce our impact on the
environment.
MR. BOYLE:

So Phil Boyle for the record.

I could add something, it occurred to me, as you were
discussing that, Ms. Vickerd.
plant.

That is the water treatment

So the water treatment plant will function

throughout the 50-year life when the facility is open and
then for some number of years after it is finally capped.
That facility has space actually set aside in case we need
to add additional equipment.

If there's an approved

technology that comes along that allows it to be at a lower
level than we currently have now, that can go into the
water treatment plant.

And there is design flexibility

built into that.
MEMBER MAHARAJ:

Thank you.

I think where

I was headed, I can see it would be easily flexible to
improve the water treatment plant because it's a separate
above ground facility.

But in the design of the actual

engineer containment mound, once you start are you
committed to this design or, let's say, after three cells
have been filled and closed and you are working on Cell No.
4, technology has advanced and now there's a new concept
for geo membranes or a new concept for a liner that would
improve the performance of the facility those remaining
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cells.

Is there the ability in the design to do that or

are you really limited to improvements that are outside of
that base design.
MS. VICKERD:
record.

Meggan Vickerd for the

So certainly there's opportunities within the life

cycle of the facility to incorporate a new design element.
The facility as you remember from power one has a Phase 1
and a Phase 2. Although the project entails both phases, we
are only going to operate Phase 1 for the first 20 to 25
years.
And so there are opportunities to take
into consideration different technologies that might exist
in 20 to 25 years around geo membrane engineering.

And so,

you know, in reflection of that we have started developing
and committed to having a research and development plan for
the NDSF containment facility.

We're keeping abreast of

new technologies as they evolve to see if we can
incorporate elements into our facility.

Plus we recognize

the unique opportunity that our facility -- we have
benefited from the knowledge base from the landfill
industry already.

And we recognize the opportunity that

our facility represents, as we are a Canada's nuclear
research facility, so we recognize that there are
opportunities for our operation and things that we learn
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that could go back into the knowledge basis of the
planned -- as well.

It's a two way benefit I would say.

MEMBER MAHARAJ:

thank you.

THE PRESIDENT:

Dr. Lacroix?

MEMBER LACROIX:

Ma'am, this is a question

that is raised by one of the intervenors.

Who will enforce

the waste acceptance criteria on a day-to-day basis?
MR. BOYLE:

Phil Boyle for the record.

The direct answer to that is, we would.

Just like we

enforce all of the other regulations and all of the other
rules that we comply with.
We have overseers, the AECL oversees what
we do.

CNSC has an inspector present and they have

unencumbered access around the site so they can watch.

We

are often are bringing in outside third parties to monitor
us because they may be a little bit biased and you accept
something you shouldn't.

So those are the mechanisms that

we use to keep us straight on a day-to-day basis.

We feel

an obligation to do what our rules say we're supposed to
do.

And we have our own QA structure, we have our own

performance assurance structure.
We have some of that independence but then
there's these other independence sections.
THE PRESIDENT:
the CNSC staff.

A few quick questions for
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The first one, the alternative means assessments for the
EAS here, if this was done under the Impact Assessment Act
would it meet their requirements, and, if not, what would
be the difference?
DR. KWAMENA:

Dr. Nana Kwamena for the

record.
So the Impact Assessment Act has a broader
requirement looking at both the positive and negative
aspect of a particular project.

Whereas the Canadian

Environmental Assessment Act of 2012 has been focusing on
the adverse environmental impact of the proposed project.
I think for me to provide a perhaps more
detailed answer to your question, we would have to do a
little more research.
I think what's key is that, under this
particular requirement, CNSC staff are confident that the
alternative assessment that was conducted for this proposed
NSDF project does meet the requirements of the legislation.
As we have indicated a number of times, the project was
submitted in 2016 and so this was the legislation under
which it was assessed.
And from that perspective we're confident
that we have done a robust assessment of CNL.
THE PRESIDENT:

That part I know.

As you

very well know, many, many have raised concerns about the
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siting process and the technology that is being proposed,
and thus questioning the robustness of the alternative
means assessment and perhaps the project should have been
done under the Impact Assessment Act and I just want to
understand what the delta would have been.

Would they have

been required to do a broader search of possible sites and
would the selection of the options would have been
different.

So if you can maybe take that away and come

back.
DR. KWAMENA:

I think I can provide you

with a little bit of an answer to that.

Dr. Nana kwamena

for the record.
There is a planning phase that is now part
of the planning assessment.

And I believe I mentioned in a

previous response that would require the agency to sort of
understand the concerns that are being raised by the
members of the public.

And the outcome of that planning

phase is to understand the need to whether there is a need
for this particular project and whether it needs to be done
under the impact assessment act.

So I think that planning

phase would give additional information in terms of that
alternative assessment and understanding what the different
alternatives could be from the perspective of the members
of the public.
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But nonetheless, it would not be the CNSC
who would dictate the location of the proposed project it's
from the proponents perspective and we just analyze it to
ensure that the project is safe.
THE PRESIDENT:
one.

Thank you.

The second

You know we have spoken a lot about protecting the

Ottawa River, but we've not heard much about Perch Lake and
what the status -- what the current status of Perch Lake
is.

Can one go and drink water from there?

meet the drinking water requirements?

Like, does it

Tell us what the

status of Perch Lake is today.
MS. MURTHY:

Kavita Murthy for the record.

To speak to the status of Perch Lake I would like to
call Dr. Hemendra Mulye who is joining us from Ottawa.
DR. MULYE:

Can you hear me okay?

THE PRESIDENT:
DR. MULYE:

yes, we can, thank you.

Okay, thank you.

There is a

contamination that currently exists from the chalk river
site specifically in the perch lake plus the perch creek.
However, this contamination is managed under the current
protection program and potential impacts are assessed in
the CNL's site-wide environmental risk assessment and
monitoring programs.

So CNL will be required to take any

mitigation measures that will be needed to ensure that the
environment will be protected now and the future.

So with
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respect to the NSDF, pending it's approval by the
commission, the contribution from the facility to the
environment especially. Perch lake is expected to be
negligible.

Looking also Perch Lake is not a publicly

accessible lake and so therefore people, members of the
public cannot obtain water to drink.

So there is no

exposure to them for the public for health inspectors and
so there is no risk to the members of the public.
Thank you.
THE PRESIDENT:

Thank you very much.

Ms. Maharaj?
MEMBER MAHARAJ:

I have a follow-up

question for Perch Lake.
I can appreciate that it's not a publicly
accessible lake so people can't drink water from there, but
what about animals to hunt or to eat from country foods.
Are those particular animals a risk to the public because
they would have access to Perch Lake?
DR. MULYE:

Again, it's Hemendra Mulye,

Environmental Risk Assessment Specialist.

With respect to

the animals that reside in the vicinity of Perch Lake, the
same argument would apply, which is the members of the
public are not able to access to fish and hunt the Chalk
River site because it's an entirely fenced-in and secured
site.
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And therefore the risk to people from
hunting and fishing activities is negligible.
Thank you.
MEMBER MAHARAJ:
fence may control geese or deer.
could be animal activity.

I am not quite sure how a
And I think there still

And I would like to get a

clearer understanding.
THE PRESIDENT:
MR. BOYLE:

Mr. Boyle?

Phil Boyle for the record.

I'd like to have Mr. Dolinar who has spent many years at
the site and is quite knowledgeable in this area to comment
on this.
Mr. Dolinar.
MR. DOLINAR:

George Dolinar for the

record.
So at the Chalk River Labs, you know,
we're required to determine derived release limits.

It's

one of our site licence conditions done according to CSA
standard N288.1.

And one of the unique features of our DRL

model and therefore our environmental monitoring that
ratifies our DRL model, is we include game animals.
So this is done on sort of a volunteer
basis.

We request local hunters, if they are interested,

to donate a piece of meat.

We have specifications for if

it's a bear or a deer or a moose, you know, what size and

363

if they could also include a section of bone.

And we

include that in our DRL reporting.
There's no significant dose associated
with any of the game animal monitoring that we have done as
part of the DRL program.
We also have from time-to-time opportunistically taken
samples from game animals.

This is more retrospective, so

I need to put this detail in.

We have recently lowered the

speed limit on our plant road to 60 Km/h, and since we have
done that we haven't seen many vehicle or large mammal
interactions.
happen.

But prior to that, occasionally this would

So we would also take the opportunity to take

samples of flesh and bone of those animals that were killed
on our plant road.

And again we would see monitorable

levels or detectable levels but nothing that would cause
any kind of significant concern with those animals.
Fish are a little bit of a different
topic, but they are more or less confined to Perch Lake.
We have studied fish in Perch Lake for different campaigns
over the years.

We have a wealth of data on that as well.

I will leave it there to see if there are any other
questions.
MEMBER MAHARAJ:
question.

I do have one follow up
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I understand what you've said, but if the discharge once
NDSF is in place could potentially be as high as,140,000
becquerels of Tritium into perch lake would that change
your point of view?
MR. DOLINAR:
record.

George Dolinar for the

I wonder how to best describe this if you were to

look at Perch Lake on a map -- and perhaps tomorrow it
would be better to do it than live right now.
have one ready for tomorrow.

We could

We could show you what

fraction of the perch lake basin and it's the small section
of the NSDF.

We're talking about in terms of total water

flow to Perch Lake from the entire drainage basin.

That

cell or two cells will that now have a weather shield
building and you heard of the measures we will have in
place, represents a small fraction of the flow into Perch
Lake and into the Perch Creek.
Although those concentrations at end of
pipe, as mentioned, are 140,000 Bq/L, when this makes its
way into Perch Creek we're keeping things below 7,000 Bq/L
and nobody drinks that water.

And when this further gets

assimilated into the Ottawa River it will be imperceptible
to the current levels of Tritium in the Ottawa River, which
again, are next to background; they are in sort of the
2-3 Bq range.
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That is where the drinking water for
humans is consumed. The other thing I should add is the
baseline conditions we have at the Chalk River site from
legacy contamination, this constrains or narrows the
operating window for NSDF.
This is part of what we have taken into
account this is part of the cumulative effect associated
for the legacy that exists there.

So it doesn't increase

the latitude for NSDF, in fact, it tightens down the
conditions for NDSF and we meet all the applicable
criteria.

I will leave it there for now.
THE PRESIDENT:

Ms. Maharaj, I have

someone who is standing by who will be able to give more
information about Perch Lake.

And I will pass it on to

Dr. Adrienne Ethier who is joining us from Ottawa.
DR. ETHIER:

Dr. Adrienne Ethier,

environmental risk assessment specialist with the
Environmental Risk Assessment Division.
As someone familiar with the Perch Lake,
the contamination from the historical activities is very
localized.
The addition from NSDF, very small, and
the dilution is large.
mentioned, 2-3 Bq/L.

Like George Dolinar from CNL
The drinking water guideline of

7,000 Bq/L is also far below the level of protection that
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would be at a level where you would potentially see risks
to biota, which I believe was 17.4 MBq/L for Tritium.

So

in indication the human health protection guidelines are
far more stringent than those for biota.

So if you are

protecting humans at that level you are well beyond the
level used to protect biota and those are the fish that are
residing in the lake.

That doesn't factor in wild game

which have a large home range and so they're only exposed
at minimal very small short periods of time to any elevated
activity associated with perch lake basin.
MEMBER MAHARAJ:

can somebody explain

whether or not Tritium is bio-cumulative in human tissue?
Anybody?
MR. BOYLE:

Phil Boyle for the record.

I'm sorry.
I have a vision in my head about this, but
not being a biologist I don't think I should venture to
answer here.

But I think Mr. Dolinar can comment on this.
MR. DOLINAR:

record.

George Dolinar for the

Tritium, we typically think of Tritium in the form

of H2O Tritium replaces an atom on a water molecule.
that does not bio-cumulate.
time of approximately 4 days.

So

It has a very short residence
I forget the parameters of

the biokinetic model but that is approximately what that
is.

There is sort of another issue regarding OBT or
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organically bound Tritium.

And I don't want to get into

sort of a dissertation level, but that does increase the
residence time, it's about a factor of ten, 40-day
residence time for the bio-kinetic model for OBT.

Not a

significant, you know, effect given the very low levels of
Tritium for human exposures.
MEMBER MAHARAJ:

and would that be the

same for any game animal that consumed Tritium enhanced
water?
MR. DOLINAR:

correct.

MEMBER MAHARAJ:

okay. Thank you.

That's

helpful.
THE PRESIDENT:
altogether.

Now shifting gears

There was a written submission from Mr. David

Snyder and it was around the suitability of the proposed
site and the proneness to earthquakes.

And there was a

statement in the CMD 22-H-7.134.
He says Natural Resources Canada states
that an earthquake occurs every five days on average in
this zone.

This seems just so frequent.

So can any one

comment on that or is this something we should save for
tomorrow or the day after?
MS. VICKERD:
record.

Meggan Vickerd for the

Certainly we can address it in the next couple of

days and also Dr. Adams from NRCan would be able to --
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THE PRESIDENT:

Thank you.

We'll save it

for then.
Any additional -- Ms. Maharaj?
MEMBER MAHARAJ:

We've talked a lot about

the legacy waste and are there any additional environmental
impacts that we would have to be concerned about when that
waste is moved?
MS. VICKERD:
record.

Meggan Vickerd for the

I will go to Mr. Dolinar in a moment because the

decommissioning and remediation of the building and the
land at Chalk River would be evaluated as part of our
environmental protection program.
So I will go to Mr. Dolinar to see how
that would be done.

It's not specific to NDSF.

It would

be conducted within our existing license and than subject
to environmental assessment legislation.
MR. DOLINAR:
record.

George Dolinar for the

So we do have an environmental review process that

we use for project activities that, you know, recovering of
waste from an existing waste storage would be considered as
such.

So in that environmental review process we identify

mitigation measures that would be appropriate for that
particular circumstance.

I will try to not make this too

generic but there is sort of a wide variety of things where
we could be recovering waste from.
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Typically factors like limiting dust so
using dust suppression methods without creating too much
excess water is, you know, a significant concern for waste
recovery.

There is all of the radiation protection

requirements when you have people working in the vicinity
of waste.
Again, low level waste is not so much of a
concern from direct radiation fields, but inhalation you
know can be a concern so you have to have a proper RP
program controlling access to the waste and how the wastes
are recovered.
Some of our wastes will or could contain
things like non-radioactive contaminants that have been
mentioned including asbestos in some of our waste fields.
And so there are cautions in addition to the radiological
concerns that are present.
I don't want to sound diminished, but we
have a standard sort of set of mitigation measures that are
appropriate to be applied in those instances.

I would be a

little bit remiss if I didn't mention species at risk, for
example, can be affected by the remediation efforts as
well.

So we need to be careful about that.

remediation is taking down trees and soil.

If the
So there is a

host of potential impacts that all have and I'm using the
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phrase standard mitigation measures that we would use
depending on the situation.
MEMBER MAHARAJ:

thank you, that's

helpful.
THE PRESIDENT:

Any other questions?

can save them for another day otherwise.
getting late in the day.
of the hearing for today.
morning at 9:00 a.m.

We

It's kind of

And so, this brings us to close
The hearing will resume tomorrow

I thank you all for your

participation and attendance today.
Have a nice evening, whatever is left of
it.

Thank you.

--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 8:40, to resume
on Tuesday, May 31, 2022 at 9:00 a.m. /
L'audience est ajournée à 20 h 40 pour
reprendre le mardi 31 mai 2022 à 9 h 00

